The Role of Ovarian Hormones and Testosterone on Type 2 and IL-17A-Mediated Airway Inflammation

By

Hubaida Fuseini

Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of the

Graduate School of Vanderbilt University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Microbiology and Immunology

May 31, 2019

Nashville, Tennessee

Approved: Jeffrey C. Rathmell, Ph.D. Amy S. Major, Ph.D. Robert J. Matusik, Ph.D. R. Stokes Peebles, M.D. Dawn C. Newcomb, Ph.D. Copyright © 2019 by Hubaida Fuseini All Rights Reserved To my incredibly supportive "Fathers",

Abukari, Seidu and Osman

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There have been many individuals who have played significantly different, but important roles, in my scientific and professional development.

First, I would like to thank my dissertation advisor, Dr. Dawn C. Newcomb. Since joining the laboratory in April 2015, her scientific expertise, creativity and knowledge has fueled my own enthusiasm and passion for science. Dawn has provided tremendous scientific support on my dissertation projects, career guidance, and professional development. These efforts have helped me develop into a confident and inquisitive scientist. I am forever thankful to Dawn for her support and contributions to my scientific development.

My Ph.D. committee has also been an invaluable source of knowledge and guidance during my graduate training. I am thankful to Dr. Jeffrey Rathmell (Chair), Dr. R. Stokes Peebles, Jr., Dr. Amy Major, Dr. Robert Matusik and a notable mention to Dr. Earl Ruley for their critical analysis of my work and mentorship. Their insight and recommendations have helped me to stay motivated and prevented pitfalls during my graduate training.

I want to further acknowledge my funding sources from the NIH NHLBI: R01 HL 122554-01A1/Supplement, R01 HL 122554-01A1, and R21 AI12420. Thank you.

A big thank you to my colleagues in the Newcomb and Peebles laboratories. Jacky, Jeff and Brooke – I am forever grateful for your technical, intellectual support and above all, your support of my ideas and random troubleshooting talks. I am also thankful for the support of the Peebles Lab – Dr. R. Stokes Peebles, who has played an integral part in my intellectual development and has consistently supported me in my dissertation work. Shinji, Weisong, Matt, Melissa, Jian, Kasia and Mark – I am forever grateful to all of you for your support and critical analysis of my work and for sharing your wisdom and knowledge with me regarding my professional development as a scientist.

I am so thankful for my IMSD family here at Vanderbilt, a big thank you to Linda Sealy, Roger Chalkley and Christina Keeton for their support, wisdom, and encouragement. I thank you for consistent involvement in my intellectual and professional development.

Finally, I am grateful to all my family and friends who have consistently supported me over the years. I am grateful to my Dad and my uncles for always supporting me in my educational pursuits and being a voice of wisdom through my graduate training. Thank you to my Mom and my grandmother for always keeping me focused and helping me strive for the best in all that I do. To my siblings and my dear friends – Nayi, Mariam, Keon, Uduak, Carrie and Clara -- thank you for being constant and loving individuals in my life who consistently supported me in all that I do and for being my cheerleaders. I am forever grateful to have you all as friends. Thank you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
ABBREVIATIONS	xiv

CHAPTER

1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Overview	1
	1.2	Significance and Rationale	2
	1.3	Epidemiology of Asthma	5
	1.4	Phenotypes and Endotypes of Asthma	6
	1.5	Immunopathogenesis of Asthma	9
	1.6	Type 2 Eosinophilic-Mediated Airway Inflammation	.11
	1.7	Non-Type 2 Neutrophilic-Mediated Airway Inflammation	.15
	1.8	Role of Helper T cell Subsets in the Immunopathogenesis of Asthma	.19
	1.9	Th2 cells in Asthma	.22
	1.10) Th1 and Th17 cells in Asthma	.24
	1.11	T-regulatory cells in Asthma	.28
	1.12	2 T-cell Plasticity	.31
	1.13	3 Dual Type 2 and Non-Type 2-Mediated Airway Inflammation	.32

2 The Role of Sex Hormones in Asthma Prevalence and Pathogenesis	33
2.1 Sex Hormones and Asthma	33
2.2 Asthma Prevalence Changes during Puberty	34

2.3 Pre or Per-Menstrual Worsening of Asthma	35
2.4 Pregnancy and Asthma	37
2.5 Menopause and Asthma	37
2.6 Androgen, Estrogen and Progesterone Synthesis and Action	38
2.7 The Role of Sex Hormones in Type 2 and Non-Type 2 Mediated Airway Inflammation	43
2.8 The Role of Sex Hormones on Type 2 Immune cells	43
2.9 The Role of Sex Hormones on IL-17A Secreting cells	47
2.10 The Role of Sex Hormones in Airway Hyperresponsiveness and Mucus Production	49
2.11 Summary of Background	53
3 Testosterone decreases and Ovarian Hormones increase HDM-induced Type 2 and IL-17A-Mediated Airway Inflammation	54
3.1 Introduction	54
3.2 Methods	55
3.2.1 Mice	55
3.2.2 House dust mite (HDM) Challenge Protocol	56
3.2.3 BAL and Analysis of Inflammatory cell Infiltration in the Airway	56
3.2.4 Cytokine and IgE Measurements	57
3.2.5 AHR Measurements	57
3.2.6 Flow Cytometric Analysis of Lung IL-13 and IL-17A Production	57
3.2.7 Statistical Analysis	57
3.3 Results	57
3.3.1 HDM-induced BAL Eosinophils and Neutrophils were decreased in Male compared to Female mice	57
3.3.2 Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Eosinophilic and Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation, IgF Production and AHR	E 60
3.3.3 Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-13+Th2 and IL-17A+ Th17 cells	
3.4 Discussion	

4	Ano Air	drogen Receptor Signaling attenuates CD4 Th2 and Th17 Cell-Mediated way Inflammation and Cytokine Expression	75
	4.1	Introduction	75
	4.2	Methods	76
		4.2.1 Mice	76
		4.2.2 BAL and Analysis of Inflammatory cell Infiltration into the Airways	77
		4.2.3 Cytokine Measurements	77
		4.2.4 Flow Cytometric Analysis of Lung II-4, IL13 and IL-17A Production	78
		4.2.5 Bone Marrow Chimeras.	79
		4.2.6 CD4 Th2 and Th1 cell Differentiation	79
		4.2.7 RNA Isolation and Quantitative Real Time PCR Analysis	80
		4.2.8 Statistical Analysis	80
	4.3	Results	80
		4.3.1 AR Signaling attenuates HDM-induced Eosinophilic and Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation	80
		4.3.2 AR Signaling intrinsically decreased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 cells and indirectly decreased Total Numbers of IL-13+ Th2 cells	83
		4.3.3 AR Signaling attenuated Th17 but not Th2 Cytokine Expression .	85
		4.3.4 AR Signaling decreased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-4 Producing cells	87
	4.4	Discussion	91
5	Esti Pro	rogen Signaling through ERα increased IL-23R Surface Expression and IL-1 duction in Th17 cells	7A 93
	5.1	Introduction	93

5.1	Introduction	.93
5.2	Methods	.95
	5.2.1 Mice	.95
	5.2.2 Flow Cytometric Sorting of Naïve CD4 T cells	.95
	5.2.3 CD4 Th1, Th2 and Th17 Cell Differentiation	.95
	5.2.4 Cytokine Measurements	.96
	5.2.5 Flow Cytometric Analysis of IL-17A Production in Th17 cells	.96
	5.2.6 RNA Isolation and Real-Time Quantitative PCR Analysis	.97

	5.2.7 Statistical Analysis	97
5.3	Results	98
	5.3.1 ERα Signaling increased IL-17A Protein Expression in Th17	⁷ cells98
	5.3.2 ERα Signaling increased the Frequency and Total Numbers of IL-17A producing CD4 T cells	100
	5.3.3 ERα Signaling increases IL-23R Surface Expression on Th1 Leading to increased IL-17A Production	7 cells, 102
	5.3.4 ERα Signaling deficiency increases <i>Let-7f</i> miRNA expression in Th17 cells	106
5.4	Discussion	107
6 Sui	nmary and Conclusions	110
6.1	Synapsis of Findings	110
6.2	Future Directions and Implications	112
	6.2.1 Sex Hormone Receptor Transcriptional Regulation of T Cell	s112
	6.2.2 Sex Hormone Receptor Regulation of T cell Metabolic Reprogramming	114
	6.2.3 Sex Hormone-Mediated Epigenetic Regulation of T Cells	118
	6.2.4 Sex Hormone Regulation of IFNγ in Asthma	121
	6.2.5 Role of Sex Hormone Signaling on Non-T Cell Subsets in Asthma	122
	6.2.6 Implications for Women with Asthma at Various Reproductive Phases	126
	6.2.7 Implications for Patients with Obesity-Linked Asthma	
	6.2.8 Use of Asthma Biologics in Men and Women with Asthma	130
	6.2.9 Implications for Patients Steroid Resistant Asthma	132
	6.2.10 Implications for use of Androgens in Asthma	133
6.3	Closing	134
7 Ref	ferences	135

LIST OF TABLES

Table

2-1 The Role of Sex Hormones in Animal Models of Airway Inflammation			
Associated with Asthma 5	2-1	The Role of Sex Hormones in Animal Models of Airway Inflammation Associated with Asthma	51

Page

LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	re Page
1-1	Type 2 and Non-Type 2-Mediated Airway Inflammation Pathways in Asthma7
1-2	Type 2 Eosinophilic-Mediated Airway Inflammation13
1-3	CD4 T cell Subsets Linked to Asthma Pathogenesis21
2-1	Sex Hormones Synthesis Pathways in the Gonads and Adrenal Glands44
2-2	Gender Differences and the Role of Sex Hormone Signaling on Airway Inflammatory Pathways Associated with Asthma
3-1	HDM-induced BAL Eosinophils and Neutrophils were decreased in Male compared to Female Mice
3-2	Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Eosinophilic and Neutrophilic-Mediated Airway Inflammation, IgE Production and AHR
3-3	The Role of Testosterone and Ovarian Hormones on Mucus Production following HDM-induced Type 2 and IL-17A-Mediated Airway Inflammation63
3-4	Gating Strategy for Th2, Th17 γδ T cells and ILC265
3-5	Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-13+ and IL-17A+ CD45+ cells
3-6	Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-13+ Th2 and IL-17A+ Th17 cell: Gating Strategy68
3-7	Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-13+ Th2 and IL-17A+ Th17 cells71
4-1	AR Signaling attenuated HDM-induced BAL Eosinophilic and Neutrophilic Mediated-Airway Inflammation81
4-2	AR Signaling intrinsically decreased Total Numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 cells and indirectly decreased Total Numbers of IL-13+ Th2 cells
4-3	AR Signaling attenuated Th17 but not Th2 Cytokine Expression in vitro
4-4	HDM-induced Cytokines and Chemokines in Whole Lung Homogenates
4-5	Gating Strategies for IL-4 Producing Th2 cells, Mast cells, and Basophils

4-6	AR Signaling decreased Total Numbers of IL-4 Producing cells
5-1	ERα Signaling increased IL-17A Protein Expression in Differentiated Th17 cells99
5-2	ERα Signaling increased the Frequency and Total Numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 cells10
5-3	ERα Signaling increased IL-23R Surface Expression in Th17 cells, Leading to increased IL-17A Production104
5-4	ERα Signaling increased IL-17A Protein Expression in Th17 cells via IL-23/IL-23 Signaling103
5-5	ER α Signaling deficiency increases <i>Let-7f</i> miRNA expression in Th17 cells10 ²
6-1	Graphical Abstract of Dissertation Results11

ABBREVIATIONS

$AM\varphi$	Alveolar macrophages
AHR	Airway hyperresponsiveness
AR	Androgen receptor
ATAC-Se	Assay for Transposase-Accessible Chromatin using Sequencing
AR^{tfm}	Androgen receptor testicular femininized
AMPK	AMP-sensitive signaling kinase
BAL	Broncheoalveolar lavage
CAMP	Childhood Asthma Management Program
c-d-GMP	P cyclic di-GMP
ChIP-Seq	<i>q</i> Chromatin-Immunoprecipitation using DNA Sequencing
DCs	Dendritic cells
DEREG	Deletion of Regulatory T cells
DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone
DHEA-S	Dehydroepiandrosterone-sulfate
DHT	Dihydrotestosterone
$ER\alpha$	Estrogen receptor alpha
$ER\beta$	Estrogen receptor beta
ERRα	Estrogen-related receptor alpha
ECRHS	European Community Respiratory Health Survey
FeNO	Forced nitric oxide
FEV_1	Forced expiratory volume in 1 second
FVC	Forced vital capacity
GINA	Global Initiative for Asthma
GnRH	Gonadotropin-releasing hormone
GR	Glucocorticoid
GPER1	G-protein coupled estrogen receptor 1
GWAS	Genome wide association study
HDM	House dust mite
HPG	Hypothalamus-pituitary-gonadal axis
HRT	Hormone replacement therapy
HRV	Human rhinovirus
IgE	Immunoglobulin E
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
KO	Knockout
LH	Luteinizing hormone
МНС	Major Histocompatibility complex
mTOR	Mechanistic target of rapamycin
OVA	Ovalbumin
PRα	Progesterone receptor α
PRβ	Progesterone receptor β
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis

RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus
SARP	Severe Asthma Research Program
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
STING	Stimulator of Interferon Genes
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus
TLR	Toll-like Receptors
TSLP	Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin
DAMPS	Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns
PAMPS	Pattern-Associated Molecular Patterns
WT	Wildtype

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1 Overview

The prevalence of asthma has increased significantly in the United States over the last 30 years (1). While patients with mild-to-moderate asthma are generally responsive to current asthma therapies, patients with severe asthma have poorer responses to these therapeutics. Patients with severe asthma represent less than 10% of the total asthma population, however account for over 50% of the annual asthma-associated healthcare expenditures, estimated to be over 6 billion dollars yearly (1-3). In order to alleviate this economic burden, therapies best suited for patients with severe asthma are urgently needed. However, the underlying immunological mechanisms driving airway inflammation associated with severe asthma remain unclear.

Among patients with asthma, including severe asthma, there is a gender bias in asthma that changes throughout life. As children, boys are more likely to have asthma girls. However, after puberty, women become twice more likely than men to have asthma. After women reach menopause, the prevalence of asthma equalizes with respect to gender (4). The change in asthma prevalence in and around the time of puberty coincides with increasing levels of sex hormones in males and females, suggesting a potential role for sex hormones in asthma pathogenesis (5). The contents enclosed within this dissertation work focuses on understanding the foundational mechanisms by which ovarian hormones (estrogen and progesterone)

and androgens (testosterone and dihydrotestosterone (DHT)) influence asthma pathogenesis. Understanding how sex hormones regulate immunological mechanisms in asthma pathogenesis and severity will support the development of personalized asthma therapies for women and men with asthma at various life stages (pre-pubescent, child-bearing years, menopause, men with low testosterone). This dissertation begins with an outline of the significance and rationale for this work, followed by a chapter describing the literature upon which the studies in this dissertation were built on. Next, the data for three specific research aims are presented followed by an overall summation of the major findings and contributions of this dissertation work to this scientific field.

1.2 Significance and Rationale

Asthma is a chronic heterogenous disease that is characterized by different phenotypes and endotypes. While current asthma therapeutics are effective in some patients, others remain unresponsive to these therapies (6). Recently, non-biased cluster analyses performed in the United States, identified six unique clinical clusters of patients with asthma, based on varying asthma associated clinical outputs, including onset of asthma, atopy, lung function and medication dosage required to manage asthma symptoms (7). Patients with asthma grouped into clusters 1-3 accounted for asthmatics who required low to moderate medication to manage their asthma and were classified as patients with mild to moderate asthma. In contrast, patients grouped into clusters 4-6 required either high medication usage or were unresponsive to those therapies and were characterized as patients with moderate to severe asthma (7). While patients with severe asthma represent 5-10% of the total asthma population,

they account for over 50% of the total annual asthma healthcare expenditure (8). To improve asthma control and reduce morbidity and the healthcare economic burden, it is important to develop novel, personalized therapies for patients with severe asthma.

The unsupervised cluster analyses grouped asthma patients based on phenotypes associated with asthma severity, but also identified endotypes associated with varying pathophysiologies. Phenotypes of asthma are defined as observational clinical, physiological, morphological and biochemical characteristics as well as responses to different treatments. However, endotypes are defined by distinct pathophysiological mechanisms (9). Increased blood and/or sputum interleukin 4 (IL-4), 5 (IL-5) and 13 (IL-13) and eosinophils were usually evidence of a type 2-mediated inflammation. Alternatively, increased blood and/or sputum secretion of non-type 2 markers, including interleukin 17A (IL-17A) and/or interferon- γ (IFN γ) and increased neutrophils were evidence of non-type 2 mediated airway inflammation (10, 3). Patients with mild to moderate asthma often displayed more type 2 mediated inflammatory signatures while those with severe asthma displayed both type 2 and/or non-type 2 mediated inflammatory signatures (6, 7).

Across all six clusters identified, a female predominance was observed where women had increased levels of biomarkers associated with both type 2 and/or non-type 2 mediated airway inflammation. Moreover, the female predominance was statistically strongest among patients with more severe asthma (p < 0.002) (7). This finding supported previous studies that demonstrated that women of reproductive age have a higher prevalence of asthma compared to men of a similar age (4, 11-13). Mouse models that mimic asthma showed female sex hormones increased and male sex hormones decreased type 2 and non-type inflammatory responses

in the airway (14-19). These studies determined the role of sex hormones on type 2 <u>OR</u> non-type 2 inflammatory responses in isolation and it remained unclear the mechanisms by which sex hormones mediated both by type 2 and non-type 2 inflammation.

Severe asthma is also associated with dual type 2 and IL-17A mediated airway inflammation (3, 20). Thus, deciphering the role of sex hormones on dual type 2 and IL-17A mediated inflammatory responses is imperative for understanding the foundational mechanisms underlying the gender differences in asthma prevalence. Based on these previous findings, we hypothesize that during dual type 2 and IL-17A mediated airway inflammation, ovarian hormones promote inflammation by increasing cytokine expression of type 2 cytokines and IL-17A while testosterone attenuates inflammation by decreasing cell numbers of type 2 and IL-17A secreting cells. To test these hypotheses, we propose the following specific aims:

<u>Aim 1:</u> Delineate the effect of ovarian hormones and testosterone on house dust miteinduced type 2 and IL-17A-mediated airway inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness and mucus production

<u>Aim 2:</u> Determine the mechanisms by which androgen receptor signaling attenuates Th2 and Th17 cell-mediated airway inflammation and cytokine expression

<u>Aim 3:</u> Determine the mechanisms by estrogen receptor α signaling enhances IL-17A production in Th17 cells.

1.3 Epidemiology of Asthma

Asthma is a chronic disease of the lower respiratory tract, associated with increased airway inflammation, mucus production and airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR). Airway exacerbations induced by these hallmarks of asthma can lead to episodic or persistent cough, wheezing and dyspnea (21). Over 25 million individuals in the United States are affected by asthma and this number has steadily increased by 3% each annually since the 1970s (1). Globally, over 300 million individuals suffer from asthma and the Global Initiative for Asthma further estimates that there will be an additional 100 million people with asthma by 2025 (1).

While asthma symptoms are controlled with current medications for most patients with asthma, there are some patients with severe asthma phenotypes that require high systemic corticosteroid usage or are refractory to current asthma therapeutics (22). According to the European Respiratory Society and the American Thoracic Society guidelines, asthma is characterized as intermittent to persistent, severe asthma based on two criteria: (i) whether the patient is on high-dose inhaled corticosteroids and one additional controller medication (including long-acting β 2 agonists) or (ii) is currently on oral corticosteroids medications with the past 6-12 months. In additional to one of these criteria, a patient must also present one of the following clinical symptoms or responses in response to reduced treatment: (iii) low asthma control scores, including an asthma control questionnaire (ACQ) > 1.5 or (iv) an Asthma Control Test (ACT) < 20, (2) at least 2 exacerbations in the last 12 months, at least exacerbation treated in hospital or (v) requiring mechanical ventilation in the last 12 months or (Forced expiratory volume in 1 second) FEV₁ less than 80% (23). Patients with more severe asthma symptoms account for only 5-10% of the total US asthma population but represent over 50% of annual

asthma associated healthcare expenditure (6). Annually, this amounts to an estimated six billion dollars, with the largest costs associated with emergency visits and hospitalizations (3, 24). This disproportionally high health care burden is due to increased mortality and morbidity among this subgroup of asthmatics due in part poorer responses to current asthma therapeutics. To lower this high economic burden on the state, new therapies better suited for patients with asthma who are nonresponsive to current asthma therapies are urgently needed. However, efforts to develop these therapeutics are compounded by the heterogeneity that exits in the clinical and pathological manifestations of asthma. Below is a review of the different classification systems that been utilized to identify asthma patients into subgroups, based on individual or multivariate variables.

1.4 Phenotypes and Endotypes of Asthma

Asthma is heterogenous disease and studies report that patients with asthma can be further separated into subgroups based on clinical (phenotype) or pathophysiological (endotype) characteristics (25) Asthma phenotype influences the types of diagnostic tests performed and how responsive a patient will be to different to pharmacotherapies. Many asthma phenotypes have been discovered, where patients with asthma are divided into broad subgroups based on an individual variable. Utilizing this phenotyping strategy patients with asthma have been divided in to the following subgroups,

Non-type 2

Type 2



Figure 1-1: Type 2 and Non-Type 2-Mediated Inflammation Pathways in Asthma.

Different immunological mechanisms drive asthma pathogenesis. In Non-Type 2 mediated airway inflammation, increased neutrophils numbers or paucigranuloytic-mediated inflammation is predominant and patients with these phenotypes are less likely to respond to corticosteroids. In neutrophilic-predominant disease, patients might respond to antibodies that block TNF- α , IL-17, IL-23. Innate lymphoid cells group 1 and group 3 are more predominant in non-type 2 mediated asthma. These cells produce IFN γ , IL-17, and IL-22. Type 2 mediated airway inflammation is associated with eosinophilic phenotypes and increased responsiveness to corticosteroids. Many cytokines contribute to type 2 immunity but targeting specific type 2 cytokines have been effective in the development of biologics for patients with persistent eosinophilic mediated asthma, including antagonists against including antagonists of IgE, IL-5, IL-13, and CRTH2. IFN γ , interferon gamma; ILC1, type 1 innate lymphoid cells; ILC2, group 2 innate lymphoid cells; NKT, natural killer cells; PGD ₂, prostaglandin D ₂; ROS, reactive oxygen species. *Adapted* from Tabatabaian et al. 2017. "Biologic and New Therapies of Asthma". *Immunology and Allergy Clinics of North America*. 37 (2): Pages 329-34.

including (1) Allergy phenotypes (allergic or non-allergic (intrinsic)), (2) Treatmentresponsiveness phenotype (steroid responsive and resistant), and (3) Pathology-defined phenotypes (25). This strategy of phenotyping has been successful in identifying patients with asthma who respond well to current asthma therapies, including allergen immunotherapy (26) and anti-IgE antibody therapy as well as individuals with more severe asthma who have varying responses to these therapies (27, 28).

While these asthma phenotypes and endotypes give a general idea about the heterogeneity in asthma, these broad classifications disregard overlaps that may exist between different phenotypes and endotypes of asthma. To better classify patients with asthma based on clinical characteristics and pathobiology, unsupervised statistical cluster analyses were performed in three cohorts of patients with asthma in the Europe and the United States. Clusters were identified based on different factors, including the age of onset of asthma, gender, allergic status, asthma symptoms, and lung function (29). Despite differences in patient populations, these three cluster analysis studies identified clusters that were disproportionality women, in particular a cluster with late onset, nonatopic asthma and with higher levels of neutrophils in the sputum (30, 31) (32). Combined, these cluster analysis studies showed that a predominance of women was seen in the more severe asthma phenotypes.

Patients with asthma can also be divided into subgroups based on their asthma endotype, or the specific pathological mechanisms driving their asthma (29). Prior studies characterized two distinct inflammatory endotypes of asthma, based on the presence of type 2 cytokines, including interleukin 4 (IL-4), 5 (IL-5), 13 (IL-13) and eosinophils or the presence of non -type 2 cytokines, including interleukin IL-17A (IL-17A), interferon-γ, (IFNγ) and neutrophils in the sputum and lavage. From these studies, patients with asthma, including those with severe asthma, are often categorized into two endotypes; Type 2 or Non-type 2 mediated airway inflammation (33). Type 2 or non-type 2 cytokines are produced by various cell types in the lung, including T cells, innate lymphoid cells and other immune cells (34, 35, 3). These immunological pathways are implicated in the pathogenesis of asthma and cause the immunological hallmarks of asthma, including increased airway inflammation, airway remodeling, airway reactivity and mucus production, leading to the clinical symptoms associated with asthma (36, 37, 20). These immunological mechanisms are reviewed below the next section and depicted in Figure 1-1.

1.5 Immunopathogenesis of Asthma

The lung mucosa is continuously exposed to inhaled foreign particles, where normal functioning respiratory systems are able to distinguish innocuous particles from pathogenic ones (38). However, in asthma, underlying host susceptibility to allergic disease coupled with an immune response is mounted to inhaled allergens (39). Aeroallergens that cause allergic asthma, including house dust mite and pollen, have pattern recognition receptors , including Toll-like receptors (TLR), Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPS) and (Pattern-associated molecular patterns (PAMPS) by innate immune cells, including airway epithelial cells, leading to increased secretion of TSLP, IL-25 and IL-33 (40).

The release of these cytokines can stimulation the activation and proliferation of innate cells, including innate lymphoid group 2 (ILC2) cells, mast cells and basophils, leading to production of type 2 cytokines, including IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 and other pro-inflammatory proteins (41). IL-4 secretion is important for promoting of CD4 T helper (Th2) cells) and B cell

isotype switching for the immunoglobulin (IgE) production (42). IL-5 secretion results in the maturation and recruitment of eosinophils from the peripheral blood into the airways. Eosinophils contain multiple granules proteins that proinflammatory and cytotoxic properties, including major basic protein (MBP), and peroxidase (43). Finally, IL-13 secretion promotes the differentiation of airway epithelial cells into goblet cells, leading to mucus production. Furthermore, IL-13 secretion promotes contraction of the airway smooth muscle cells, leading to increased airway hyperresponsiveness (44, 45).

Airway epithelial cells also produce cytokines that promote non-type 2 mediated allergen airway responses, including IL-23 and IL-1 β , leading to the activation and proliferation of innate, including $\gamma\delta$ T cells, to produce IL-17A and IFN γ (46). Production of IL-17A and INF- γ recruit neutrophils into the airway, leading to increased secretion of neutrophil granule proteins, including elastase, myeloperoxidase, cathepsins and defensins (47). Similar to IL-13, IL-17A production has also been shown to promote mucus production but it remains unclear whether IL-17A promotes airway hyperresponsiveness (48, 49).

The release of epithelial derived cytokines results in a "leaky" airway epithelium, permitting the entry of allergens into the lamina propria of the airways (50), where they are further recognized and taken up by antigen presenting cells, including dendritic cells (DCs) (51). Furthermore, DCs may protrude through the airway lumen to further survey for foreign particles. The update of allergens induces DC activation and maturation, as well as the proteolytic processing and presentation of allergen derived peptide on the DC cell surface. DCs then migrate to the lung draining lymph nodes where they present antigen to naïve T cells (51). The naïve T helper cells subsequently differentiate into various T helper subsets, under the influence of inflammatory cytokines in the microenvironment, including T helper Th1, Th2, Th17 and

regulatory T cells (Tregs) (52). Following differentiation, these cells migrate back to the lung, where upon further antigen exposure, they produce proinflammatory cytokines that modulate adaptive immune responses, including further promotion of type 2 and non-type 2 mediated inflammatory responses, leading to increased eosinophils and/or neutrophil mediated airway inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness and mucus production (52).

In parallel, antigen is presented to naïve B cells in the draining lymph nodes where the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-4, induce isotype class switching in activated B cells from IgE molecules, to IgE molecules in an allergic environment (53). These antibodies are released into the peripheral blood and lung tissue in preparation for future allergen exposures. Allergen sanitization results from the initial allergen exposure and subsequent exposures results in an allergic reaction. These allergic reactions are characterized by the recognition of allergen derived peptides by IgE which bind to the FccR1 receptor on mast cells and induce degranulation and release of various lipid mediators, including histamines, leukotrienes and prostaglandins (54). Combined, the immunological mechanisms driving asthma pathogenesis are complex and varied mediated by type 2 and non-type 2 cytokines. The following section discusses the effects of type 2 and non-type 2 inflammatory pathways in the pathogenesis of asthma.

1.6 Type 2 Eosinophilic-Mediated Airway Inflammation

Type 2 eosinophilic mediated airway inflammation is an immunological pathway involving cells that secret primarily IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 to stimulate type 2 immunity, leading to increased serum IgE levels, and increased eosinophil recruitment into the airways (35). Secretion of type 2 cytokines from various cellular sources, including Th2 cells, ILC2, eosinophils, mast cells, basophils and IgE producing B cells (55), drives a cascade of downstream effects that subsequently lead to increased airway inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness, mucus production and remodeling of the epithelium (Figure 1-2). These inflammatory and pathological changes in the lung can predispose subjects to increased allergic reactions to inhaled agents (35).

Type 2-mediated airway inflammation is associated with an increased risk for exacerbations (55). Genetic studies show that mutations in the IL-4 receptor gene, IL4R α , is associated with a severe asthma exacerbation, and decreased lung function. Furthermore, these mutations were associated with increased tissue resident mast cells numbers and increased IgE bound to mast cells (56). Clinical studies of treatments targeting type 2 mediated airway inflammation have further revealed that blockade of type 2 cytokine secretion and/or signaling suppress type 2 mediating airway inflammation, further showing the role of type 2 cytokines in driving asthma exacerbations. Patients with airway eosinophils typically respond to corticosteroids, however the degree of the responsiveness is variable thus biological targets for type 2 cytokines, have bene identified for inhibition of type 2 responses in patients with poorer responses just corticosteroids alone, including those that target IgE, IL-5 and IL-13.



Figure 1-2: Type 2 Eosinophilic-Mediated Airway Inflammation. Activation stimuli, including allergens of epithelial cells leads to increased secretion of TSLP, IL-25, and IL-33, which promotes activation and effector functions of mast cast cells, basophil and ILC2, leading to increased secretion of type 2 cytokines, including IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. DC migration to lymph nodes leads to activation of allergen-specific Th2 cells and activation of IgE producing B cells. Th2 cells migrate back to the lung to produce further IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, leading to increased type 2 mediated airway inflammation, mucus production, AHR and eosinophil recruitment into the airways. Serum IgE levels crosslinked on mast cells, basophils and eosinophils lead to release of pro-inflammatory mediators that further promote airway inflammation. Fahy, V. J., (2015)."Type 2 inflammation in asthma -present in most, absent in many". *Nature Reviews: Immunology*. **15** (57-65).

The anti-IgE antibody omalizumab has been shown to reduce asthma exacerbations by blocking the binding of IgE to the Fc ϵ R1 α , leading to IgE neutralization, and inhibition of IgEmediated mast cell and basophil degranulation (57). Clinical trials of omalizumab demonstrated a 50% reduction in asthma symptoms, reduction in maintenance dose of inhaled corticosteroids, modest but statistically increases in FEV₁ scores (58, 59). Omalizumab is currently used on many patients with difficult to control asthma.

IL-5 is another major therapeutic target of type 2 immunity, due to its central role in regulating eosinophil maturation and recruitment into the lung (35). Mepolizumab is an anti-IL-5 antibody that binds to IL-5 and prevents its interaction with the IL-5 receptor (IL-5R α) on target cells, leading to decreased eosinophil maturation and recruitment (60). Initially, mepolizumab failed to show an improvement in asthma control and exacerbations (61) however, subsequent studies in selected patients with persistent eosinophilia, (> 300 cells/µL despite steroid treatment), showed a 50% reduction in the rate of exacerbations and asthma control (62). Similar results were reported with other IL-5 biologics, including reslizumab, another anti-IL-5 neutralizing antibody, with a 50% reduction in exacerbation rate (63). Furthermore, an anti-IG1 antibody that binds to the IL-5R α called benralizumab has been FDA approved for the treatment of patients with uncontrolled eosinophilic asthma.

IL-13 plays a central role in type 2 immunity with roles in regulation of airway hyperresponsiveness, mucus production and airway remodeling (45). IL-13 signals through two receptors, the first is a heterodimer of the IL-13 receptor α 1(IL-13R α 1) and the IL-4R α and the second is a monomeric receptor IL-13 receptor α 2 (IL-13R α 2)(64). Several monoclonal antibodies that inhibit IL-13 binding to these receptors have been studied in clinical trials of

asthma. Dupilumab, is a monoclonal antibody that binds to IL-4R α to block both IL-4 and IL-13 signaling. Attenuation of these two signaling pathways in patients with type 2 driven asthma with persistent eosinophilia been shown to reduce rate of exacerbations by 87% and significantly improve lung function and asthma control (65). Another antibodies specifically targeting IL-13, including lebrikizumab and tralokinumab, did not show improvements in rates of asthma exacerbations, asthma control, and lung function (66, 27). Anti-IL-13 therapeutics are currently not undergoing next phase clinical trials for use in patients with asthma. Combined these the usage of these type 2 therapeutic biologics in combination with corticosteroid therapies has been efficacious in patients with persistent eosinophilia. However, only 50% of patients with asthma have the type 2 high eosinophilic mediated airway inflammation(67) and alternative immunological mechanisms drive non-type 2 mediated inflammatory responses that are currently the subject of ongoing research.

1.7 Non-Type 2 Neutrophilic-Mediated Airway Inflammation

Although Type 2 immunity drives asthma exacerbations and eosinophilic mediated airway inflammation, some patients exhibit pathophysiologies mediated by non-type 2 inflammatory pathways. Patients with asthma, particularly those with severe asthma phenotypes, can have airway inflammation mediated by increased secretion of non-type 2 cytokines, including IL-17A and INF- γ , from CD4 T cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells and NK cells, leading to increased infiltration of neutrophils into the airways and increased mucus production (49).

Patients with asthma, including severe asthma have increased sputum IL-17A levels and are more likely to have steroid resistant asthma with overexpression of IL-17A (68). IL-17A

promotes neutrophil recruitment into the airways by binding to the IL-17A receptor (IL-17R), composed of the subunits A (IL-17RA) and C (IL-17RC) on structural cells, including airway epithelial cells and fibroblasts, leading to secretion of neutrophilic specific chemoattractants, including chemokine ligand 8 or (CXCL8, IL-8) (humans) or keratinocyte chemoattractant (KC) in mice (47). In primary human epithelial cells, IL-17A as well as IL-1 β , increased mucin (MUC)5 mRNA and protein expression via an NF- $\kappa\beta$ dependent mechanism, leading to increased mucus cell metaplasia (69, 70). IL-17A stimulation of isolated human fibroblasts from patients with allergen-induced asthma exacerbations increased CXCL1, CXCL8 and TNF- α secretion compared to stimulation of fibroblasts form healthy control subjects. Surprisingly, fibroblasts cultured in the presence of IL-17A increased expression of α -smooth muscle action mRNA and protein expression, but this effect was completely inhibited by a neutralizing antibody against CXCL8 (71). CXL8 is potent mediator of neutrophil recruitment into the airways via the chemokine receptor CXCR2 and CXCR2 antagonists have been studied for potentially inhibiting neutrophilic mediated airway inflammation in asthma (46). Preliminary studies targeting CXCL8 in 12 patients with increased sputum neutrophils showed that a CXCR2 blocker reduced the numbers of neutrophils in the sputum but did improve asthma control or increase FEV_1 scores (72).

Patient with severe asthma respond poorly to current asthma therapies, including corticosteroids. Studies in mice demonstrated that Th17-mediated airway inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness were resistant to the corticosteroid dexamethasone (73). Furthermore, corticosteroid therapies are known to promote neutrophil survival but induce cell death of eosinophils, further driving neutrophilic mediated inflammation in these patients (74). These finding suggest that targeting IL-17A signaling may decrease persistent neutrophilia in

asthma. Therapeutics for blockade of IL-17A or the IL-17R α signaling have undergone clinical trials in patients with asthma, including brodalumab is a humanized monoclonal IgG2 antibody against IL-17R α and secukinumab, an IgG1 monoclonal antibody against IL-17A (49). A phase 2 clinical trial of brodalumab in subjects with moderate to severe asthma showed no improved in asthma control scores nor increases in lung function scores and a preliminary study of secukinumab in 46 patients with asthma not adequately controlled with corticosteroids was prematurely terminated supposedly due to a lack of efficacy (identifier NCT01478360) (75). Currently Secukinumab, is being investigated for the treatment of allergic contact dermatitis (identifier NCT02778711)(76, 49).

While IL-17A is important in driving neutrophils into the airway, IFN γ production can also promote neutrophilia as well as contribute to non-type 2 mediated airway inflammation in asthma (3). Genetic studies of different asthmatic cohorts showed increased mRNA expression of *IFNG* in the lung and sputum samples of patients with severe asthma (77, 78). Furthermore, GWAS studies identified Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPS) in four genes associated with Type 1 immunity, including *IL-12A*, *IL12RB1*, *STAT4*, and *IRF2*, that positively correlated with increased asthma severity but negatively correlated with FEV₁ scores (79). In cluster analyses, patients with severe asthma had increased mRNA levels of corticosteroid resistant fractional exhaled nitric oxide (FeNO) and induced nitro oxide synthase signatures ,both of which are induced by IFN γ as well as type 2 cytokines (80) Analysis of cells from BAL fluid of subjects with mild, moderate and severe asthma showed increased *IFNG* mRNA expression in patients with severe asthma compared to patients with mild/moderate asthma (81). Furthermore,

numbers of IFN γ + CD4+ T cells in the BAL fluid of patients with severe asthma compared to those with mild/moderate asthma (81).

The findings of increased IFNG mRNA levels in the airways of patients with severe asthma has raises the question of the trigger for the type 1-mediated inflammation in asthma. IFNy secretion and type 2 responses can be induced by viruses and bacteria and studies show that continuous infections by viruses and bacteria are known in patients with severe asthma and contribute to increased asthma exacerbations (82, 83). These findings suggest a causal link between chronic viral infections and severe asthma. Viruses and bacteria infections induce the expression of intracellular cyclic-di-GMP (c-di-GMP, leading to the induction of type 1 interferons dependent on the stimulator of interferon genes (STING) pathway (84, 85). Mouse models of steroid-resistant severe asthma have been investigated using a combination of house dust mite (HDM) and c-di-GMP to mimic IL-17A and IFNy induced allergic airway inflammation. In experiments where WT or knockout IFNy (IFNy KO) and IL-17A (IL-17A KO) mice were subjected to the this mouse model, methacholine-induced airway hyperresponsiveness was significantly decreased in IFNy KO mice compared to WT and IL-17A KO mice but BAL neutrophil numbers were significantly decreased in IL-17A KO mice compared to WT and IFN γ KO mice (81). Other mouse models of asthma have found that IFN γ increased airway hyperresponsiveness and decreased steroid responsiveness (86).

Studies using computer-associated gene analyses have identified secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI) in airway epithelial cells, as a potential link between IFNγ and airway hyperresponsiveness (87). Paired analyses of BAL fluid cells showed that IFNγ expression was inversely correlated with SLPI expression in patients with severe asthma . Furthermore, expression of SLPI was decreased in the airways of WT mice compared to IFNγ KO mice subjected to HDM/c-di-GMP severe asthma model (81). Combined, these studies suggest that while IFNγ responses may mediate airway hyperresponsiveness and contribute to decreased lung function in asthma. In contrast, IL-17A promotion of neutrophilia in the airways may indirectly promote neutrophil recruitment and degranulation, leading to the release of neutrophil-derived products that promote airway remodeling and mucus cell metaplasia.

1.8 Role of Helper T cell Subsets in the Immunopathogenesis of Asthma

CD 4 T helper (Th) are central players in allergic disease as they orchestrate adaptive immune responses and have been shown to regulate type 2 and non-type airway inflammatory responses (88). Below is a review of the generation and roles of allergen-specific CD4+ T cells in the pathogenesis of allergic type 2 and non-type 2 mediated airway inflammation (Figure 1-3).

CD4 T cells originate from a common lymphoid hematopoietic stem cell in the bone marrow and migrate to the thymus for further maturation. The thymus is an integral part of T cell-development due to the combination of stromal cells, cytokines and chemokines in this environment that support the generation of functional T cell from T cell precursors called thymocytes. T cell development in the thymus involves the migration of thymocytes through specific thymic microenvironment and contact with peptide-MHC complexes on thymic antigen presenting cells that play a pivotal role in T cell antigen recognition, negative and positive selection and then the expression of surface molecules, including CD4 and CD8 (89-91).

The selection process tests for thymocytes with an intermediate affinity of their T cell receptor (TCR) to the peptide-MHC complex, where thymocytes expressing TCR with low or high are destroyed in a process called negative selection.

Following negative selection, thymocytes with TCR of intermediate affinity to peptide-MHC then undergo positive selection into naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes (92, 90). Mature naïve CD4 T cells then migrate from the thymus to the secondary lymphoid organs, including the spleen, lymph nodes and the mucosal-associated lymphoid tissue, where they consistently survey for peptide-MHC class II molecules for antigen recognition (93).





1.9 Th2 cells in Asthma

Allergen-specific CD4 T helper 2 (Th2) cells are highly implicated in allergic asthma, specifically in type 2-mediated airway inflammation (88). After antigen recognition, activated T cells differentiate into Th2 cells in the presence of IL-4, leading to increased signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 (STAT6) activation, increased expression of Gata3 and production of type 2 cytokines, including IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13. (94-96). Th2 cells are increased in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with atopic and nonatopic asthma compared to normal control and Th2 gene signatures are increased in the BAL fluid of asthmatics after allergen inhalation challenge.(97-99). Corticosteroids inhibit Th2 cytokine production and patients with mild-moderate type 2 asthma are generally responsive to current asthma therapeutics, including anti-IL-4 (dupilumab), IL-5 (mepolizumab) and IL-13 (lebrikizumab and tralokinumab) monoclonal therapies (100). However, in patients with severe asthma, Th2 cytokines remain elevated despite high dose corticosteroid usage, and new therapeutics targets for patients with severe type 2 asthma remain are needed. The transcription factor *Gata3* is required for Th2 cytokine secretion, (101) and is increased in the BAL fluid of patients with asthma compared to health control subjects(102). Furthermore, studies showed that inhibiting Gata3 activity in an experimental model of allergic asthma attenuates allergic airway inflammation (103). These studies demonstrated that importance of Gata3 expression in regulating Th2 cytokine production and suggests that drug therapeutics that target Gata3 may potentially help the management of asthma in patients with within this group.

Other CD T cells-derived cytokines are implicated in type 2 mediated airway inflammation, including interleukin 9 (IL-9). IL-9 expression is significantly increased
in the BAL of patients with asthma compared to healthy control subjects (104) and has been shown to increase T cell proliferation (105). Through IL-9 production can be generated by conventional Th2 cells (106), T helper 9 (Th9) cells can be generated from activated naïve T cells in the presence of IL-4 and TGF- β (107). Similar to Th2 cells, Th9 cells require Gata3 expression as well as other transcription factors, including STAT6, IRF4 and the tyrosine kinase Itk (108). Prior studies demonstrated a role for IL-9 in promotion IL-4 mediated IgE production in B cells and in promoting mast cell proliferation (109). In allergic models of asthma, Th2 and Th9 cells were found to co-exist in the lungs following allergen challenge (110), but studies in ovalbumin (OVA) models demonstrate that adoptive transfer of OVA-specific Th9 cells but not Th2 cells T cell deficient RAG knockout mice increased mast cell-mediated airway inflammation (111).

A quarter of patients with asthma do not have atopy to known allergens (112), thus it likely that other environmental triggers may induce type 2 allergic airway inflammatory responses that are independent of Th2 cells. Studies show that innate immune cells, including innate lymphoid group 2 (ILC2) cells produce large amounts of type 2 cytokines following upregulation of Gata3 expression (113, 102). ILC2 are elevated in the BAL of patients with asthma, including severe asthma (114). Furthermore, in both human and mouse studies, ILC2 were shown to produce large amounts of type 2 cytokines in the presence of epithelial derived cytokines, including thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), Interleukin 33 (IL-33) and 25 (IL-25)(115). While ILC2 are one-tenth that of T cells in the lung following allergen or viral challenge, they produce 40-fold more IL-5 and 10-fold more IL-13 than Th2 cells (116). More over these cells are not restricted by antigen specificity like T cells, thus following allergen insult and upregulation of IL-33, these cells have the ability to promote type 2 mediated airway inflammation prior to induction of Th2 cells. Recent studies show that Th2 cells are able to respond to these epithelial derived cytokines, thus current therapeutics are heavily focused on targeting the IL-33 and TSLP pathway to modulate both Th2 and ILC2 cell-mediated responses (117). In various mouse models of allergic asthma, ILC2s were required for the induction of allergen-specific Th2 cells. Similar to DCs, ILC2s express costimulatory molecules and can present allergen-derived peptides to naïve T cells and IL-13 production from ILC2s further promotes DCs migration to the lymph nodes (118).

1.10 Th1 and Th17 cells in Asthma

Other Th subsets are associated with asthma pathogenesis, including Th1 and Th17 cells. Interleukin 27 (IL-27) and 12 (IL-12) are important cytokines for the differentiation of activated T cells towards the Th1 lineage (119). Upon contact with aeroallergens and other foreign agents, DCs and other APCs become activated through recognition of specific antigens via TLRs and other pattern recognition receptors, leading to increased secretion of IL-27 and IL-12 from these cells (120). IL-27 promotes commitment to the Th1 lineage by activating signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) signaling, leading to increased leading to expression T-bet, the master transcriptional regulatory of Th1 cells, inhibition of the expression of Gata3, the transcriptional regulatory of Th2 cells. T-bet then promotes the expression of IL-12R β 2, one of the subunits of the IL-12 receptor. Naïve T cells expression IL-12^β1, the other subunit of the IL-12R. IL-12R^β1 and IL-12R^β2 dimerize to form a functional IL-12R, rendering the cell responsive to IL-12. IL-12 binding to the IL-12R receptor stimulates activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4) signaling, leading to IFNy production. IL-12 and IFNy further stimulate STAT1 signaling to maintain T-bet expression and Th1-effector responses (121, 122).

Studies with MHC Class II tetramers have demonstrated increased IFNγ expression in allergen-specific CD4 T cells; however, this increase has been attributed to T cells responding to inert inhaled particles that promote allergen sensitization early on in life, including persistent viral and bacterial infections (123). The role of respiratory viruses, including respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and human rhinovirus (HRV) is well established in the development of early onset childhood asthma (124) and viruses such as RSV are known to increase IL-33 and TSLP, leading to the induction of Th1 inflammatory responses (125, 126). Increased frequencies of IFNγ CD4+ T cells and increased expression of Th1-specific chemokines were detected in the BAL fluid of patients with asthma following experimental infection with HRV (127, 128). Furthermore, recent studies show that patients with severe asthma have increased mRNA and protein levels of Th1-associated genes, which was correlated with increased predominance corticosteroid resistance and decreased lung function compared to patients with mild asthma phenotypes (81, 3).

Recent studies also support a role for IgE in promoting Th1 responses following allergen sanitization. In some circumstances, IgE binding to antigen can enhance secretion of interferon- α by plasmacytoid DCs, which has been predicted to promote Th1 responses(129). Alternatively, current studies further suggest that blocking IgE-mediated inflammation in vivo may potentially promote IFN α responses in children with asthma(130). These findings suggest that studying the role of respiratory viruses on induction of Th1 responses in early on in life, could potentially provide insight into the role of Th1 cells in the pathogenesis of asthma.

Th17 cells are also associated with asthma pathogenesis. IL-6, TGF- β , IL-1 β , and IL-23 are important cytokines involved in Th17 cell differentiation. These cells are secreted by structural cells and antigen presenting cells follow allergen exposure. In humans, IL-6, TGF- β

and IL-1 β are important for the early commitment of the activated T cell towards the Th1 lineage. These cytokines promote activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) signaling, leading to increased IL-21 protein expression (131). IL-21 acts in an autocrine fashion to further promote STAT3 expression and upregulate the ROR γ T, the master transcriptional regulator of Th17 cell differentiation and IL-17A protein expression. IL-21 autocrine signaling also increases IL-23 receptor (IL-23R) expression, which then heterodimerizes with IL-12R β 1 to form a functional IL-23R. IL-23 signaling via the IL-23R maintains STAT3 and ROR γ T expression and promote optimal IL-17A, IL-17F and IL-22 protein expression we well as maintenance of the Th17 phenotype (132, 133). In contrast to human T cell differentiation, differentiation of mouse T cells requires IL-6 and TGF- β and may be less dependent on IL-1 β (134).

IL-17A is increased in sputum of patients with asthma and positively correlates with increased neutrophilic mediate airway inflammation, increased airway remodeling and increased mucus cell metaplasia (135, 136). In allergic asthma models, adoptive transfer of OVA-specific D011.10 Th17 cells into WT recipient mice followed by OVA challenge increased neutrophils and Th17 infiltration in the lungs of recipient mice. Unlike Th2 cells, Th17 cells were more resistant to dexamethasone-induced cell death and promoted steroid resistant inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness (73). Th17 cells are regulated by the transcript factor ROR_γT and OVA sensitization and challenge of ROR_γT transgenic mice increased IL-17A protein expression neutrophilic-mediated airway inflammation and induced steroid-insensitive AHR compared to similarly sensitized and challenged GATA3 transgenic mice with increased Th2 mediated inflammation or WT control mice. (137) OVA sensitization and challenge of ROR_γT transgenic mice mice with increased Th2 mediated with an anti-IL-17A antibody or a CXC2 antagonist, for a chemokine

receptor on neutrophils, significantly decreased IL-17A mediated airway inflammation and AHR compared to isotype control antibody or vehicle controls (137).

IL-17A has also been associated with increased airway inflammation and AHR following viral during chronic airway inflammation (138). In asthma, viral infections are known to trigger asthma exacerbations and underlying mechanisms of increased airway inflammation and asthma symptoms from viral infection are currently under investigation. IL-17A protein expression is increased in the lung of mice following RSV infection during ongoing OVA-induced allergic airway inflammation (138, 48). Prior studies further showed that RSV infection during ongoing OVA-induced allergic ovA-induced airway inflammation increased AHR, IL-13 protein expression in the lung and BAL eosinophil numbers in IL-17A KO mice compared to WT mice. (48) These findings suggested that IL-17A inhibits IL-13 protein expression and AHR following RSV infection and ongoing OVA-induced allergic airway inflammation.

Other Th17 cytokines, including IL-22 and IL-17F are associated with increased airway remodeling associated with increased mucus cell metaplasia and increased smooth muscle cell mass (49). In human airway epithelial cells, these Th17 cytokines were shown to increase mRNA expression of mucus proteins, including (MUC)5AC (69, 70). Furthermore, they increased airway smooth muscle proliferation and migration (139).

Airway smooth muscle cells from non-asthmatics and asthmatic patients stimulated with IL-17A, IL-17E or IL-22 lead to increased cell proliferation (140). IL-17A and IL-17F increased cell proliferation via an ERK1/2 dependent mechanism and migration via a p38 dependent manner (139). In contrast, IL-22 increased cell proliferation via both ERK1/2 and NF- $\kappa\beta$ dependent

manners and migration dependent on NF- $\kappa\beta$ (141). IL-17A was also shown to increase smooth muscle actin expression in fibrocytes, however unlike IL-4 and IL-13, IL-17A did not increase collagen expression (142). Smooth muscle constriction is associated with increased AHR and IL-17A, but not IL-17F and IL-22 were shown to increase smooth muscle cell contractility via an NF- $\kappa\beta$, RhoA, RORC2-dependent mechanism (143).

Th17, Th22 and Th1 cells also secret other cytokines, including IL-22. IL-22 is a member of the IL-10 family of proteins and can have immunopathogenic or suppressive effects on airway inflammation (141). IL-22 binds to the IL-22 receptor (IL-22R), expressed on structural cells, including airway epithelial cells and smooth muscle cells (144). Patients with severe asthma have increased serum IL-22 levels and increased cells numbers of IL-22+ Th17 cells compared to healthy control subjects (141, 145). In mice, OVA-induced allergic airway inflammation was decreased BAL eosinophil numbers, IL-13 protein levels in the lung, AHR and mucus production in IL-22 knockout (IL-22 KO) mice compared to WT mice (145). In contrast, other studies demonstrated antibody neutralization of IL-22 at the time of antigen challenge increased IL-25 and IL-13 protein expression as well allergic airway inflammation (146). Similar to IFNγ, IL-22 has also been shown to inhibit Th2 responses, where intranasal administration of recombinant IL-22 during OVA-induced allergic airway inflammation decreased Th2 cellmediated airway inflammation, potentially by decreased type 2 cytokine expression, including IL-25 and IL-13 levels (141).

1.11 T-regulatory cells in Asthma

The pathogenies of asthma results from an ineffective tolerogenic immune response to allergens.

Regulatory T cells (T regs) play an important role in maintaining immune tolerance to allergens, and therefore recent studies have focused on determining the underlying mechanism by which T regs fail to maintain tolerance in patients with asthma and other allergic diseases(147). T regs are a subset of CD4 T cells that express the IL-2 receptor α chain (CD25) and express the transcription factor Forkhead box P3 (Foxp3)(148). Foxp3 is required for the generation of T regs and a major population arise from the thymus known as CD4+Foxp3+ natural Tregs (n Tregs)(149). A second population of CD4+Foxp3 T regs cells called inducible T regs (iTregs) arise in peripheral lymphoid organs from naive CD4 T cells following exposure to antigens and in the presence of TGF- β (149). The primary role of nTregs is to mediate tolerance to selfantigens, while iTregs are associated increased in chronic lung and gut inflammation (147).

In the lung, alveolar macrophages expressing TFG- β and retinoic-acid drive iTreg differentiation from naïve T cells. T reg cell suppressive functions are induced via various methods (150). During asthma pathogenesis, T regs can suppress allergic airway inflammation via various mechanisms. T regs have been shown to decrease IgE-mediated mast cell degranulation and effector molecule release OX40-OX40 ligand interactions with mast cells, leading to increased cyclic AMP levels and blockade of calcium influx to inhibit mast cell granule release (151). In food allergic diseases IL-4 production from ILC2 has been shown to promote Th2 cell differentiation but inhibit T reg cell responses and promotes mast cell activation. Alternatively, T regs cells can interact directly block ILC2 proliferation and suppress ILC2-derived IL-4 production(152). T regs are also known to suppress allergen-specific B and T cells responses (147). *In vitro* studies showed that isolated iTregs from health subjects inhibited B-cell production of IgE production by promoting class switching to IgG4 as opposed to IgE (153).

In allergic mouse studies, co-adoptive transfer of effector OVA-specific Th2 cells and n Tregs followed by OVA challenged did not suppress Th2-cell mediated airway inflammation. However, OVA-specific nTregs were effective at inhibiting the differentiation of naïve T cells into Th2 cells. In separate experiments, nTregs did not suppress Th1 cell-mediated airway inflammation but effectively decreased Th17 cell-mediated airway inflammation but not AHR. The suppression of Th17 cell-mediated airway inflammation was associated with decreased BAL neutrophils and decreased frequencies of IL-17+ Th17 cells. These studies suggest that Tregs inhibit Th differentiation and that Th17 cell are particularly sensitive to the immunosuppressive responses of Tregs (154).

Patients with asthma have decreased frequencies of CD4+CD25^{high} Tregs in the BAL fluid compared to control subjects (147). Genetic studies also show that in patients with asthma, loss of function mutations in *FOXP3* is associated with increased asthma severity, increased serum IgE levels and persistent eosinophilia. Similarity in mice, *Foxp3* mutant mice spontaneously exhibit allergic airway inflammation, increased serum IgE levels independent of genetic background. In a murine genetic model, DEREG mice were used to investigate the role of T regs on central tolerance. DEGREG mice express the diphtheria toxin receptor under the control of *Foxp3*,allowing for depletion of Foxp3+ Tregs by diphtheria toxin (DT). Injection of DT in OVA-sensitized and challenged DEREG mice was sufficient to break tolerance, leading to increased serum levels of OVA-specific IgE and IgG1 antibodies as well as increased diphtheriainduced inflammatory responses (155). Combined these findings, support a role of T regs in regulating allergies immune responses by cell-dependent and independent mechanisms.

30

1.12 T-cell Plasticity

In additional to their signature cytokines, Th subsets can secret broad non-subset specific cytokines dependent on the specific immunological context. Furthermore, novel T-cell subsets with mixed/intermediate phenotypes continue to be identified , which appear to be heavily influenced by T-cell genetic reprogramming or plasticity. The plasticity of T cells is most likely relevant in asthma due to heterogeneity of cytokines produced in the inflamed lung. A classic example of this plastic nature of T cells is exemplified by a scenario where Th1 differentiated cells when stimulated in an IL-4 rich environment, repolarize towards making type 2 cytokines. In contrast, a Th2 differentiated cell subject to an IL-12 rich environment will repolarize to produce IFN γ (156, 157). These reprogramming events have been suggested to explain the surprisingly high numbers of IL-4+1FN γ +CD4 memory T cells from patients with asthma (157). This notion of plasticity extends to other T cell subsets, where Th2 cells can repolarize into the Th9 cells in an IL-4 and TFG- β rich environment (158). Similarly, Th17 cells have been shown to secrete IFN γ in the presence of IL-12 or IL-23 (158).

T cell-plasticity might also affect Tregs and the immunosuppressive functions in patients with asthma.(124) Human T regs can be reprogrammed to expression Th subset cytokines, including IFN γ and IL-17A, where depending on the circumstance these cells can maintain Foxp3 expression (159, 147). Recent studies suggest that miRNAs may regulate Treg reprogramming towards effector T cell phenotypes. Micro RNA miR-17 was shown to decrease expression of a T reg-phenotype stabilizing transcription factor called Eos, leading to increased expression of effector T cell gene signatures (160), however it remains unclear if this phenomenon contributes to persistent inflammation in asthma pathogenesis.

31

1.13 Dual Type 2 and Non-Type 2-Mediated Airway Inflammation

Patients with asthma can also have airway inflammation mediated by both type 2 and non-type cytokines, with increased eosinophils and neutrophils (3). Prior studies show patients with severe asthma have increased frequencies of dual positive Th2/Th17 cells in the BAL fluid compared to patients with mild asthma (145). Increased prevalence of these Th2/Th17 cells was associated with increased IL-17A production in the BAL fluid and increased resistance to dexamethasone-induced apoptosis(145). These findings identified three new sub-phenotypes of asthma, including Th2 dominant, Th2/Th17 dominant, and Th2/Th17 low asthma. Patients with asthma with Th2/Th17 dominant sub-phenotype exhibited more severe asthma and were more resistant to exhibited increased airway obstruction and hyperreactivity compared to the other groups (161). Since patients with Th2/Th17 dominant asthma exhibit increased eosinophils and neutrophils, additional studies were conducted, investigating the effect of type 2 cytokine suppression in promoting Th17-mediated inflammatory responses in an HDM-induced preclinical model of Th2 and Th17 cell-mediated airway inflammation. These studies showed found reciprocal crosstalk between the IL-13 and IL-17A signaling pathways in the lung, where IL-13 suppressed the expression of Th17-signature genes (162). In additional studies, IL-13-gene signatures were significantly increased in human nasal epithelial cells when stimulated with IL-13 and IL-17A as compared to IL-13 alone, suggesting that IL-17A promotes the effect of IL-13 stimulation on Th2 associated genes (163). Combined, these studies suggest that combinations targeting both type 2 cytokines and IL-17A may be more effective in patients with airway inflammation mediated by both Th2 and Th17 cells.

CHAPTER 2

The Role of Sex Hormones in Asthma Prevalence and Pathogenesis

2.1 Sex Hormones and Asthma

A gender disparity is well established in asthma and changes throughout life (164). As children, boys have an increased prevalence of asthma compared to girls (11.9 versus 7.5%, respectively) (165), and boys are also twice as likely as girls to be hospitalized for an asthma exacerbation (166). However, during adolescence, there is a decline in asthma prevalence and morbidity in males concurrent with an increase in females. By adulthood, women have increased asthma prevalence compared to men (9.6 versus 6.3%, respectively) (165, 167) and women are three times more likely than men to be hospitalized for an asthma-related even (168, 169, 12). This increase in asthma prevalence in women compared men is maintained until around the time of menopause, when a decrease in asthma prevalence is noted in women (170). Shifts in asthma prevalence based on gender coincide with changes in sex hormones and suggests that sex hormones modulate pathways associated with asthma pathogenesis (166, 11). Many studies have demonstrated that generally female sex hormones worsen asthma exacerbations, potentially by increasing lung inflammation, while male sex hormones have a protective role by suppressing immune cell function and proliferation (171, 172). Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), is a metabolic intermediate in the biosynthesis of androgen and estrogen, is upregulated with the onset of puberty more in males compared to females. Increased sulfonated DHEA (DHEA-S) was recently associated with decreased asthma symptoms and increased lung function in boys but not girls from the Severe Asthma Research Program (SARP) (173).

Further, in a separate study of adult men, higher testosterone and DHT, but not oestradiol levels, were associated with higher FEV1 and FVC (174). Combined, these studies showed that male sex hormones, including DHEA and DHT may play a protective role in asthma, however, additional studies are needed to determine the mechanisms by which androgens decrease airway inflammation associated with asthma. Additionally, sex hormones levels vary during throughout childhood and in adulthood, specifically during pregnancy in women, therefore several studies reported below have further characteristics the gender differences in asthma prevalence in the context of puberty, menstruation and pregnancy.

2.2 Asthma Prevalence Changes during Puberty

Allergic, atopic asthma is associated with onset during childhood, and boys have increased allergic inflammation and serum immunoglobulin E (IgE) levels compared to girls (175, 176). Boys also have dysanapsis, smaller airway diameters relative to lung volumes compared to girls, making boys more likely to have asthma symptoms than girls (177). As children age, the switch in asthma prevalence from highest in males to highest in females coincided with the age of puberty onset (166, 178). The Childhood Asthma Management Program (CAMP) study longitudinally tracked the average asthma symptom score as well as progression through puberty, using the Tanner stage metric, in boys and girls ages 4–17 (179). At approximately age 10, when the Tanner scores start increasing in girls, the average asthma symptom score also increased in girls and declined in boys (179). Further, asthma symptoms continued to increase in girls as Tanner stages increased (179). Additional studies have also shown that early-aged menarche (≤ 11 years old) increased the incidence of asthma (180). Collectively, these studies present strong epidemiological evidence that the prevalence of asthma in females increased in adolescence and that early menarche further increases the risk of developing asthma.

2.3 Pre or Peri-Menstrual Worsening of Asthma

Changes in asthma symptoms through the menstrual cycle are well established, and approximately 30–40% of women with asthma report pre or peri-menstrual worsening of asthma. (181-187). Decreased peak expiratory flow rates, increased asthma symptoms, and increased use of rescue mediations were determined during the pre or peri-menstrual phase of the cycle (181, 185, 187). Additional studies determined women with pre-menstrual asthma symptoms had increased fractional exhaled nitric oxide (FeNO), a non-invasive measure of epithelial-induced nitric oxide that correlates with eosinophilic inflammation (188), and eosinophils in the sputum in the pre-menstrual phase compared to those of the seventh day of their cycle (189). In the Severe Asthma Research Program (SARP) study, peri-menstrual worsening of asthma had increased oral corticosteroid bursts and increased emergency department visits compared to those of women without peri-menstrual worsening of asthma (186). However, other studies including multiple phenotypes of asthma found no differences in the phase of the menstrual cycle of women requiring emergency department visits for asthma symptoms (182, 189). While premenstrual asthma impacts many women with asthma, the molecular mechanisms driving the cyclic increase in symptoms are poorly understood. The pre-menstrual phase of the cycle occurs

35

after the peaks of serum estrogen and progesterone. Therefore, it is unknown how estrogen, progesterone, or potentially other hormones which are differentially regulated through the menstrual cycle affect airway inflammation.

To delineate if ovarian hormones increased airway inflammation, studies tracking asthma symptoms in women taking hormonal oral contraceptives versus women not taking contraceptives were conducted. Cross-sectional surveys in menstruating women determined that women using oral contraceptives had increased asthma risk compared to women not on oral contraceptives (190, 191). However, Macsali and colleagues found the association between increased asthma risk and oral contraceptive use was not seen in lean (underweight) women (191). Oral contraceptives were associated with increased wheezing in women with asthma in some studies (192, 191), but decreased wheezing and/or asthma symptoms in others (193, 194). In another study, 28 women with asthma were followed for 12 weeks (2–4 menstrual cycles) and no differences were determined in asthma symptoms in women taking oral contraceptives versus women not taking oral contraceptives (195). These discordant findings from various studies may be due to small sample sizes (for some studies) or the many different forms of birth control medications used by women, including monophasic, multiphasic, progesterone-only, hormonal vaginal or intrauterine devices, or extended-cycle pills. Additional studies with increased sample size and women on similar types of birth control medications should be conducted over several cycles and seasons to determine if hormonal contraceptives affect asthma symptoms.

2.4 Pregnancy and Asthma

During pregnancy, women with asthma are known to have decreased asthma symptoms, increased asthma symptoms, or maintain similar asthma symptoms as prior to pregnancy (196, 197). Women with more severe phenotypes of asthma are more likely to have asthma worsening during pregnancy (198). However, for mild and moderate asthma patients, it is difficult to predict if asthma symptoms will increase, decrease, or stay the same during pregnancy. The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute and the Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) guidelines indicate that pregnant women should maintain their current regimen of asthma medications, including inhaled corticosteroids, long-acting beta agonists, leukotriene modifiers, theophylline, and oral corticosteroids (199, 200). Maintaining asthma control during pregnancy is important as severe asthma, poorly controlled asthma, and asthma exacerbations during pregnancy are associated with increased risk for development of pre-eclampsia and gestational diabetes in the mother and pre-term birth, low birth weight, and peri-natal mortality for the baby (199, 201, 195). Future longitudinal studies are needed to track women with asthma prior to pregnancy and throughout the pregnancy to determine if any biomarker or clinical lung function test can be used to predict if asthma symptoms will change during pregnancy. This information would be beneficial in educating the patient on the importance of taking or increasing use of asthma medication during pregnancy.

2.5 Menopause and Asthma

The age-adjusted risk of asthma decreases in postmenopausal women compared to that of pre-menopausal women (181). However, variable findings are reported in the literature regarding menopause and asthma.

No difference in self-reported asthma between pre-menopausal and postmenopausal women not taking hormone replacement therapies (HRTs) was reported by the European Community Respiratory Healthy Survey I (ECRHS I) (202). However, the US Nurses' Health Study determined postmenopausal women not taking HRT had decreased risk of developing asthma compared to pre-menopausal women (181), and the ECRHS II cross-sectional study reported increased asthma symptoms in women during the menopause transition (amenorthea for 6+ months) compared to those in pre-menopausal women (203). Further, a new phenotype of asthma with onset after menopause has been recently described for a subset of women (204-206), but the mechanisms that initiate and regulate postmenopausal asthma remain largely unknown.

2.6 Androgen, Estrogen and Progesterone Synthesis and Action

Since sex differences in asthma prevalence are seen throughout life, the role of sex hormones in modulating airway inflammation has been an area of active investigation. Sex hormones are glandular secretions that regulate various biological processes, including reproduction, aging, and immune responses (207). Synthesis of sex hormones is regulated by the hypothalamus-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis, where release of hypothalamic gonadotropinreleasing hormone (GnRH) stimulates the release of luteinizing hormone (LH) into peripheral blood (208). Circulating LH binds to sex hormone producing cells (Leydig cells in males and Theca cells in females), leading to increased expression of steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (*STAR*) (208). *STAR* increases the transfer of cholesterol to the inner mitochondrial membrane of target cells, and initiates steroidogenesis and at the inner mitochondrial membrane, where cholesterol is converted to pregnenolone by a cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme called P450ssc (208). Pregnenolone synthesis is important for the production of androgens, estrogen and progesterone. Below is a recap of how these sex hormones are further synthesis from this precursor and how the mechanisms by which they regulate target cells (209, 207).

Male sex hormones, or androgens, regulate various biological processes, including the development and maintenance of male sexual characteristics, adipogenesis, angiogenesis, enlargement of skeletal muscle and immune responses (210). Synthesized pregnenolone can be further converted into various androgens, including testosterone, DHEA and dihydrotestosterone (DHT) (210, 211). While testosterone is more abundant than either DHT or DHEA, these testosterone metabolites have a higher binding affinity to the androgen receptor (AR) in target cells, and accounts for most of testosterone's biological action (212). Androgens, including aldosterone and androstenedione can be synthesized from pregnenolone in Zona reticularis of the adrenal glands and converted to testosterone (210). Androgens circulate at higher levels in men compared to men but are also important in females by regulating estrogen synthesis (213). Circulating androgen precursors such as DHEA sulfate (DHEAS), DHEA and androstenedione are present females and important for the production of over 50% of the total amount of testosterone produced by females (213). The remaining 50% is synthesized in the zona reticularis of the adrenal gland. Furthermore, testosterone can be converted into estradiol via the enzyme aromatase in certain peripheral tissues and is an important source of estrogens in postmenopausal women (213, 214).

Female sex hormones, including estrogen and progesterone, are important for the development and maintenance of female sexual characteristics, as well as pregnancy and menopause (215). Synthesis of estrogen occurs is the granulosa and theca cells ovaries,

39

and to a lesser amount in the corpus luteum (216). LH and FSH leads to pregnenolone synthesis and several signaling events that lead to the conversion of androgen precursors such as androstenedione into estrogens *aromatase* (216). *Aromatase* is expressed in non-gonadal tissues, including the adrenal glands and promote the conversion of androgens to estrogens (213). Synthesis of progesterone from pregnenolone occurs via the actions of a 3 β -HSD enzyme in the corpus luteum of the ovaries, by the placenta during pregnancy and by the adrenal glands during androgen and mineralocorticoid synthesis (216). In menstruating women, the levels of estrogen and progesterone vary, where estrogens are high during follicular maturation while progesterone are high in the luteal phase after ovulation (217).

Androgens and female sex hormones both regulate biological processes by altering gene expression in target cells (207). These actions are mediated via slow genomic signaling mechanisms via intracellular hormone receptors, or fast non-genomic signaling cascades via membrane-bound receptors (215). For genomic signaling, androgens all signal via the androgen receptor (AR), estrogens through either estrogen receptor α (ER α) and/or β (ER β) and progesterone through progesterone receptor α (PR α) and PR β (218). In the classical genomic signaling pathway, circulating sex hormones are transported to target tissue and penetrate target cells through passive or facilitated diffusion. Upon entry, the hormone binds to its cognate receptor, localizes to the nucleus in an activated confirmation, where this complex then binds to hormone response elements in the target cell genome regulate the recruitment of transcription machinery that modulate the activity of Pol II, including co-regulators such as the p160/steroid receptor coactivator (SRC) (219, 220, 211, 221). Recent studies also report that membrane-bound hormone receptors can induce non-nuclear effects of sex hormones by functioning

as G-coupled protein receptors upon ligation, leading to downstream signaling cascades that regulate calcium influx, cyclic AMP production and NF- $\kappa\beta$ signaling in target cells (215). It is thought that these membrane-embedded receptors are actually the classical cytoplasmic receptors, however, novel membrane bound receptors have also been reported as the mediators of non-genomic hormone-induced signaling (222). Prior studies demonstrated that a novel membrane bound estrogen-related-receptor α , (ERR α), was important for promoting T cell proliferation and glucose update following TCR activation. Additional ERR α , promotes glycolysis and mitochondrial respiration in T effectors (223). Studies also show that sex hormones are able regulate signaling through cell surface receptors. This was demonstrated in a study where progesterone was directly able to bind to cell surface oxytocin-receptors to inhibit uterine contractions (224), suggesting that in some cases, sex hormones can modulate signaling cascades independent of binding to cognate receptors. Combined, androgens and female sex hormone genomic and non-genomic mediated mechanisms are important in regulation gene expression in target cells, including CD4 T cells.



Figure 2-1: Sex hormone synthesis pathways in the gonad and adrenal glands. The conversation cholesterol (mostly LDL) pregnenolone by both gonadal and adrenal tissue leads to the productive of androgens, estrogen and progesterone. Progesterone, testosterone, including testosterone metabolites, including DHEA and androstenedione can further be synthesized into estrogens, including estradiol. Adapted from Rotstein, A., and Wong. E., (2013, March 13). "Sex Hormone Synthesis, Regulation and Function". *McMaster Pathophysiology Review*. Retrieved from http:pathophys.org/sexhormones/

2.7 Role of Sex Hormones in Type-High and Type-Low Mediated Airway Inflammation

Clinical and epidemiological data have provided insight into the role of sex hormones in driving asthma symptoms, prevalence, and severity, but mouse models of asthma have elucidated some of the mechanism by which sex hormones regulate airway inflammation. As summarized in Table 2-1 and Figure 2-2, ovarian hormones, including estrogen and progesterone, enhanced while androgens, including, testosterone and 5-alpha dihydrotestosterone (DHT), suppressed the innate and adaptive immune responses driving airway inflammation in asthma. In the following subsections, we will describe the findings from these animal studies.

2.8 The Role of Sex Hormones on Type 2 Immune Cells

In chapter 1, we have discussed the inflammatory pathways important in asthma pathogenesis and how sex hormones signal and are regulated in females and male, In this section, we will discuss previous studies that have examined how sex hormone signaling impacts airway inflammation in asthma. In multiple studies, female mice had increased ovalbumin (OVA)-induced infiltration of eosinophils, serum IgE concentrations, and IL-13 protein expression in the lungs compared to male mice (14, 17, 225). However, OVA-challenged females had increased airway remodeling and mucus production compared to male mice in some reports, but no differences were found in others. Presence of ovarian hormones during the sensitization phase is required for maximal Th2-mediated airway inflammation in female mice (226). In the OVA sensitization and challenge model of allergic airway inflammation, compared to sham-operated female mice, female mice ovariectomized prior to OVA sensitization had decreased IL-5 and eosinophil bronchioalveolar (BAL) levels as well as decreased AHR to methacholine (19). However, if female mice were ovariectomized after sensitization, but before OVA challenge, there was no difference in BAL IL-5 protein expression or eosinophils as well as no effect on the percent increase in AHR (19) Further, addition of estradiol benzoate, a synthetic, steroidal estrogen, before OVA sensitization increased eosinophils in the BAL compared to those of vehicle-treated ovariectomized OVA-challenged female mice, albeit not to levels observed in OVA-challenged sham-operated female mice (19). These data show that estrogen signaling is important for OVA-induced allergic airway inflammation prior to sensitization, but that other ovarian hormones, potentially progesterone, are also important in establishing OVA-induced allergic airway inflammation.

Other studies have looked at the direct action of estrogen or testosterone on allergic airway inflammation. Estrogen can signal through multiple receptors including the nuclear receptors, estrogen receptor α (ER α) and β (ER β), as well as the membrane-bound G proteincouple estrogen receptor 1 (GPER1). Estrogen signaling through ER α increased OVA-induced allergic airway inflammation, as mice deficient in ER α had decreased AHR compared to that of (wild type) WT and ER β deficient mice (227). However, additional studies showed that ER α signaling increased OVA-induced AHR but had no effect on airway inflammation (227). Testosterone is also important in type 2-mediated airway inflammation. Castrated male mice had a significant increase in OVA-induced eosinophil and lymphocyte infiltration as well as IL-13 protein expression compared to sham-operated male mice. Further, addition of dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), a hormone upstream of testosterone, to mouse chow decreased house dust mite (HDM)-induced allergic airway inflammation compared to that of mice on control diet (228). DHEA-treated mice undergoing the HDM protocol had decreased serum eosinophils, IL-5, IL-4, and IFNγ levels but no change in serum IgE concentrations compared to HDM-stimulated mice on normal chow (228). Combined, these data showed sex hormones were important in regulating type 2 inflammation and that many pathways are affected by ovarian hormone and/or testosterone signaling.

Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are also important for the allergic response in the lungs (229-231, 226). Recently, IL-5 and IL-13 were increased in IL-33-stimulated ILC2 from OVA sensitization and challenge female BALB/c mice compared to those of IL-33-stimulated ILC2 from OVA sensitization and challenge male mice (232). Our group and others have also published that the ILC2 numbers are increased in women compared to men with asthma and that testosterone, via androgen receptor signaling, intrinsically and extrinsically attenuates allergen-induced allergic airway inflammation, ILC2 proliferation and cytokine expression of IL-5 and IL-13 (233, 234). Furthermore, additional studies demonstrated that both lung and uterine ILC2 populations expression ER α , further supporting the idea that female sex hormones regulate ILC2 function and proliferation (235). Combined, these data suggest that sex hormones may also be important in ILC2-mediated airway inflammation, and future studies need to be conducted to determine the underlying mechanisms by which steroid hormone receptors, including estrogen, progesterone and testosterone regulate ILC2-mediated airway inflammation.

Other immune cells, including mast cells, dendritic cells (DCs), and macrophages (M ϕ), are also important for type 2-mediated airway inflammation. Allergens increase antigen-specific IgE production by B cells, and IgE binds to the high-affinity IgE receptor, FccR1, on tissue mast cells, and peripheral blood basophils. Antigen crosslinking of the antigen-specific IgE/FccR1 complex ignites degranulation of the mast cells and basophils, causing release of soluble mediators, including histamines, cytokines, prostaglandins, and proteases (236, 237). The role of sex hormones on mast cell degranulation or cytokine expression is unclear. As mentioned previously, IgE is increased in the serum of OVA-sensitized and OVA-challenged female mice compared to that of male mice (14, 19, 225). Other studies showed that peritoneal mast cells (PMCs) from female, but not male, Sprague-Dawley rats treated with estradiol, progesterone, testosterone, or DHT at the time of ex vivo stimulation with substance P had decreased histamine release compared to PMCs treated with vehicle (238). Further, histamine release from PMCs stimulated with IgE from female, but not male rats, increased with estradiol treatment and decreased with progesterone, testosterone, or 5α-DHT (238). Therefore, sex hormones regulate activation of mast cells, but the mechanisms are not clear and additional investigation is needed. the role of sex hormones on mast cell degranulation or cytokine expression during airway inflammation is unclear, studies in isolated peritoneal mast cells (PMCs) from female Sprague-Dawley rats stimulated with substance P showed decreased histamine release in PMCs from female rats administered with estradiol, progesterone, testosterone, or DHT.

DCs and M2 alveolar macrophages also play a central role in allergic airway inflammation, and sex hormones affect cytokine expression and antigen presentation in DCs and alveolar macrophages. Female mice that were OVA sensitized and challenged had increased myeloid DCs and plasmacytoid DCs migrating to the lung-draining lymph nodes as well as increased the percentages of alveolar macrophages (AAM ϕ) compared to those of male BALB/c

mice (239). Further, 17 β -estradiol (E2) treatment of LPS-stimulated DCs increased T cell activation, proliferation, and protein expression of IL-6, IL-8, and MCP-1 compared to that of

vehicle-treated, LPS-stimulated DCs (240). 17β-E2 administration to GM-CSF-stimulated bone marrow cells also increased CD11b+, CD11c+ DCs. ER α deficiency (esr1-/- mice) significantly decreased the number of CD11b+, CD11c+ DCs generated from GM-CSF and IL-4 treated-bone marrow cells compared to WT mice (241). Other studies reported that bone marrow macrophages from female mice treated with IL-4 and an ERa agonist, PPT, have an increased capacity to polarize toward the M2 phenotype compared to bone marrow macrophages from male mice (242). Studies on macrophages from other tissues have shown that the administration of E2 to ovariectomized LysM-Cre Eraflox mice significantly reduced numbers of peritoneal macrophages in the peritoneal cavity and increased protein levels of IL-1 β and IL-6 as well as mRNA expression of iNOS, compared to ovariectomized LysM-Cre Eraflox mice administered placebo pellets (243). The role of androgens and androgen receptor signaling on alveolar macrophage polarization has also been investigated. These studies reported that DHT administration to castrated male mice reduced OVA-induced allergic airway inflammation and but enhanced M2 polarization of alveolar macrophages (244). All together, these findings cytokine expression in airway inflammation associated with asthma.

2.9 The Role of Sex Hormones on IL-17A Secreting Cells

While type 2 immune-mediated airway inflammation is found in many patients with asthma, increased IL-17A is associated with more severe phenotypes of asthma (34, 18). IL-17A is increased in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with asthma, leading to

lungs, IL-17A is secreted by CD4+ T helper 17 (Th17) cells, γδ T cells, and neutrophils and

increased mucus production and increased neutrophils in the airways (245, 48, 246, 18). In the

innate lymphoid group 3 (ILC3) cells. Our group showed women with severe asthma had significantly increased IL-17A-producing Th17 cells compared to men with severe asthma (18). Using an adoptive transfer mouse model of OVA-specific Th17-mediated inflammation, we also showed that the OVA-specific Th17 cells from female mice had increased IL-17A production and caused increased neutrophilic inflammation in recipient mice compared to OVA-specific Th17 cells from male mice (18). Further, we showed that in vivo administration of 17β-estradiol and progesterone increased ex vivo Th17 cell differentiation and increased IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells by increasing IL-23/IL-23R signaling through a let-7f miRNA expression-dependent pathway (18).

IL-17A-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells and ILC3 also augment the IL-17A-mediated airway inflammatory response, and the role of sex hormones on these cell types has also been studied (247, 248). Estradiol treatment of $\gamma\delta$ T cells decreased numbers of IL-17+ T cells in the draining lymph nodes, suggested an estradiol-mediated regulation of $\gamma\delta$ T cell migration from the lymph nodes to various tissues (249). The role of sex hormones on ILC3 function has not been investigated but is an important area for future studies. Additional studies need to be conducted to determine how sex hormones regulate IL-17A-mediated airway inflammation or both type 2 and IL-17A-mediated inflammation, as many patients with asthma have increased eosinophils and neutrophils in the airway (7).

2.10 The Role of Sex Hormones in Airway Hyperresponsiveness and Mucus Production

Non-immunological mechanisms, such as gender differences in AHR, smooth muscle contractility, and mucus production, may also drive the gender differences in asthma. Baseline

AHR is increased in male mice compared to that of female mice for both BALB/c and C57BL/6 strains of mice (15). Increased basal AHR in male mice is potentially caused by fewer numbers of alveoli and decreased alveolar surface area compared to that on female mice as ovariectomized female mice have similar alveoli structures as male mice (250). Additionally, ER- α and ER- β signaling is important for alveolar development since ER- α - and ER- β -deficient mice have decreased alveoli (251). A gender difference in smooth muscle contractility is also reported. Vagal nerve responses in response to methacholine or carbachol challenge were increased in male mice compared to those of female mice and gonadectomized male mice had similar levels of vagal nerve responses as female mice (16). Further restoring androgens to gonadectomized mice increased vagal nerve responses and increased AHR in these mice (16). In guinea pigs, testosterone signaling has been shown to decrease airway smooth muscle cell by inhibiting IP₃ signaling (252). These findings show that androgens are important in increasing vagal nerve responses and AHR.

Estrogen and progesterone are also important in mucus production and mucociliary clearance. Administration of ethynyl estradiol to guinea pigs significantly increased mucus cell hyperplasia compared to that of vehicle-treated animals (251). Further, administration of estrogen or progesterone increased to cultured human airway or nasal epithelial cells the expression of the mucus proteins, Muc5AC and Muc5B, as well as mucus production when compared to those of vehicle treated-cells (253, 251). However, progesterone decreased the cilia beat frequency from cultured primary human airway epithelial cells, but cells that were co-administered 17β -E2 with progesterone had cilia beat frequency that was similar to vehicle-treated cells (254). In summary, sex hormones regulate baseline airway responsiveness to methacholine, smooth muscle contractility, and mucus production.

49

Protocol for airway	Gender effects on endpoints	Endpoints	References
inflammation			
OVA sensitization and challenge	Females > males	BAL or lung eosinophils, Serum IgE, IL-13	
		protein expression, AHR, airway remodeling and	(17, 225, 14)
		mucus production	
OVA sensitization and challenge	Females = males	Mucus production	(14)
	Female > males	HDM-specific IgE levels in serum	(14)
HDM		IL-17A protein expression	
		AHR	
OVA sensitization and challenge	Castrated males > intact male	BAL eosinophils and lymphocytes	(17)
	Intact females > ovariectomized females	Numbers of eosinophils	
OVA sensitization and challenge		IL-5 protein expression	(19)
		Total IgE serum levels	
		AHR	
OVA sensitization and challenge	$ER\alpha \text{ KO} > ER\beta \text{ KO}$ and WT mice	AHR	(5)
OVA sensitization and challenge	Females > males	IL-5 and IL-13 protein expression in ILC2 isolated	
		from whole lung homogenates	(232)
Alternaria and HDM challenge	$AR^{tfm} > WT$ male	IL-5+ and IL-13+ ILC2 in the lungs	
_			(233, 234)
Transfer of OVA-specific Th17	Females > males	OVA-specific IL-17+ T cells	(18)
cells followed by OVA challenge		Neutrophils	
	Females > males	Myleoid dendritic cells (DCs)	
OVA sensitization and challenge		Plasmacytoid DCS	(239)
		Alveolar macrophages (AAMφ)	
OVA sensitization and challenge	Ovariectomized female mice: Estradiol (E2) hormone	M2 gene expression analysis following IL-4	
	pellet > vehicle hormone pellet	stimulation of Bone-marrow derived macrophages	(242)
OVA sensitization and challenge	Castrated male mice:	M2 polarization	
L C	dihydrotestosterone (DHT) hormone pellet > vehicle		(244)
	hormone pellet		Ň, Ź

Table 2-1: The role of sex hormones in animal models of airway inflammation associated with asthma

AHR, airway hyperresponsiveness, ER α/β ; Estrogen receptor α/β , AR^{tfm}, Androgen receptor testicularized mice



Figure 2-2: Gender differences and the Role of Sex Hormone Signaling on Airway Inflammatory Pathways Associated with Asthma. Schematic of allergen-induced type 2 and non-type (IL-17A and INF- γ mediated airway inflammation. Summary of sex differences and the role of sex hormone signaling on these inflammatory pathways is depicted below. E2 indicates estradiol; ER, estrogen receptor, F, female, ILC, innate lymphoid cell, M ϕ , macrophage; M, male, P4, progesterone, TLSP, thymic stromal-lymphopoietin.

2.21 Summary of Background

The heterogeneity in asthma, had resulted in various phenotypes and endotypes in patients with asthma. Clustering analytical studies of asthma patients based on asthma severity revealed that patients with more severe asthma phenotypes tend to have poor responses to current asthma therapies and are more likely to display a dual type 2 and IL-17A mediated airway inflammation, an inflammatory signature associated with refractory asthma (3, 33, 7). Type 2 cytokines and IL-17A have been shown to have signaling feedback loops where type 2 cytokines, including IL-4 and IL-13, have been shown to inhibit IL-17A expression (255, 256). However, in contrast, IL-17A has been shown to promote type 2 cytokine secretion (257). Several studies show that women are twice more likely to have asthma, including severe asthma compared to men (258, 178). Further studies have demonstrated that the sex hormones signaling may regulate the observed female predominance in asthma. Additionally, sex hormones have been shown to regulate both the type 2 and IL-17A inflammatory pathways (171, 259, 172). However, it remains unclear how sex hormones regulate airway inflammation mediated both by type 2 cytokines and IL-17A. Additionally, it is not known how these specific interactions may modulate the signaling feedback loops that have been demonstrated between the type 2 and IL-17A inflammatory pathways. The focus of this dissertation work is to understand the molecular mechanisms by which ovarian hormones and testosterone regulate dual type 2 and IL-17Amediated airway inflammation as well as the reciprocal feedback loop between type 2 cytokines and IL-17A.

CHAPTER 3

Testosterone decreases and Ovarian Hormones increase HDM-induced Type 2 and IL-17A-Mediated Airway Inflammation

3.1 Introduction

A sexual dimorphism exits in asthma, and as adults, women have an increased prevalence of asthma compared with men. Epidemiological and clinical studies showed women with asthma had increased exacerbations, decreased forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV1) after bronchodilator use, and increased eosinophils and neutrophils in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid and sputum compared with men with asthma (260, 261, 7). Premenstrual worsening of asthma symptoms and changes in asthma control during pregnancy were also reported by women (181, 195, 186, 196, 187, 197). Combined, these findings suggested that sex hormones are important in regulating mechanisms that drive airway inflammation in asthma.

Asthma is a heterogeneous disease that is regulated by different pathophysiologies. Increased eosinophils and neutrophils are found in the sputum of patients with more severe phenotypes of asthma (261, 3, 20, 8). Type 2 inflammation is mediated by increased secretion of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 from CD4+ Th2 cells, group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2), and other cells (262, 101), resulting in increased airway eosinophils, mucus production, IgE production, and airway hyperresponsiveness (AHR) (263, 55, 262). Increased secretion of IL-17A, a cytokine secreted by CD4+ Th17 cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, group 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILC3), and other cell types, leads to increased airway neutrophils and mucus production (34, 264). However, it remains unclear how sex hormones regulate inflammatory pathways that increase airway eosinophils and neutrophils.

Mouse models of allergic, type 2–mediated airway inflammation showed that testosterone decreased eosinophils and lymphocyte infiltration of the airways (17, 225) and ovarian hormones (estrogen and progesterone) increased IL-5 protein expression, airway eosinophils, AHR, and total serum IgE levels (171, 19). Recently, our group and others showed testosterone signaling through the androgen receptor (AR) attenuated both *Alternaria alternata* extract and house dust mite (HDM)–induced, ILC2–mediated airway inflammation (233, 234). Our group has also showed that ovarian hormones increased Th17 cell differentiation and IL-17A production through an IL-23R–dependent mechanism in mice and humans as well as increasing neutrophilic airway inflammation in mice (18). However, how testosterone regulates dual type 2– and IL-17A–mediated airway inflammation remains unknown. We hypothesized that testosterone signaling attenuates type 2– and IL-17A–mediated airway inflammation. Our results showed that testosterone decreased HDM-induced total numbers of IL-13+ Th2 and IL-17A+ Th17 cells in the lung.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Mice

Wild-type (WT) BALB/cJ 6- to 8-wk-old female and male were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). WT female, WT male, and AR testicular feminized (AR^{tfm}) male C57BL/6J mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME), and breeding colonies were established at Vanderbilt University Medical Center. CD90.1/CD90.2 mice were bred in-house using homozygous CD90.1 and CD90.2 C57BL/6J mice from Jackson Laboratory. Gonadectomy or sham surgeries were conducted at 3–4 weeks of age by Charles River laboratories veterinary staff, and experiments were started when gonadectomized or shamoperated mice were 6–8 weeks old. All animal experiments were conducted in adherence to the rules and regulations of the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care and were approved by the International Animal Care and Use Committee at Vanderbilt University Medical Center.

3.2.2 House dust mite (HDM) Challenge Protocol

Mice were intranasally administered 40 μ g of HDM from Greer Laboratories (Lenoir, NC) or PBS as vehicle control in a 100- μ l total volume for four times a week for 3 wk as shown in Figure 3A.

3.2.3 BAL and Analysis of Inflammatory cell Infiltration in the Airway

BAL was performed by instilling 800 µl of saline solution through a tracheostomy tube and then withdrawing the fluid with gentle suction through a syringe, as previously described (18). The total cell count in the BAL fluid was counted using a hemocytometer and 0.04% trypan blue exclusion dye (Sigma-Aldrich). The cells from the BAL were then fixed to a slide and stained using the Three-Step Stain system (Richard-Allan Scientific, Waltham, MA). Two hundred BAL cells were classified as eosinophils, neutrophils, lymphocytes, or macrophages using standard morphologic criteria, and percentages of these inflammatory cells were determined. Total numbers of inflammatory cells were determined by multiplying the percentage of the inflammatory cells by the total numbers of viable cells in the BAL fluid.

3.2.4 Cytokine and IgE Measurements

Cytokine levels were measured from BAL fluid, lung homogenates, and/or Th0, Th2, and Th17 cell culture supernatants by ELISA using Quantikine and Duoset kits (R&D Systems). Total serum IgE levels were determined using an ELISA (BioLegend). All experiments were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Any OD450 value less than the lower limit of detection was assigned half the value of the lowest detectable standard.

3.2.5 AHR Measurements

Mice were anesthetized with pentobarbital sodium (85 mg/kg), and an 18-gauge tracheostomy tube was placed in the trachea of the mice. Mice were then mechanically ventilated using the SCIREQ flexiVent machine with 150 breaths/min and a tidal volume of 10 ml/kg body weight. Airway resistance was determined at baseline and after administration of increasing doses of nebulized acetyl- β -methacholine (0–50 mg/ml) as previously described (265).

3.2.6 Flow Cytometric Analysis of Lung IL-13 and IL-17A Production

Lungs were harvested and digested, and lung single-cell suspensions were restimulated with 50 ng/ml of PMA (Sigma-Aldrich), 1 µg/ml of ionomycin (Sigma-Aldrich), and 0.07% Golgi Stop (BD Biosciences) for 5 h at 37°C in RPMI 1640 plus 10% FBS. Following restimulation, cells were stained with viability dye (Ghost Dye UV 450; Tonbo Biosciences), blocked with an anti-FcR Ab (clone 2.4G2), and surface stained with biotin-labeled anti-CD3 (clone 17A2), PE-Cy5 anti-CD4 (clone 129.19), BV786 anti-CD90.2 (clone 53-2.1), Alexa Fluor 700 anti-CD45 (clone 30-F11), Alexa Fluor 488 anti-CD25 (clone OC61), PE-Cy7 anti-CD127 (clone A7R34), and FITC anti-γδTCR (clone GL3) Abs, followed by allophycocyanin-Cy7 streptavidin staining (1:250). Cells were then fixed, permeabilized using the Foxp3/transcription factor staining kit (Tonbo Biosciences), and intracellularly stained with PE–IL-13 (clone eBio13A), PE-Cy7 anti–IL-17A (clone eBio17B7). Flow cytometry analysis was conducted on LSR II flow cytometer, and all data were processed using FlowJo software version 10.

3.2.7 Statistical Analysis

Unless otherwise indicated, data are represented as mean \pm SEM where groups were compared by one-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis. For AHR experiments, ANOVA of repeated measures and Bonferroni post hoc analysis were used to calculate values. For all analysis, p < 0.05 was considered significant.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 HDM-induced BAL Eosinophils and Neutrophils were decreased in Male compared to Female Mice

Type 2 and IL-17A inflammatory pathways are important in regulating airway eosinophils and neutrophils, respectively, in asthma. Because asthma prevalence is increased in women compared with men (4, 7), we hypothesized that allergen-induced airway inflammation is increased in female mice compared with male mice. To test this hypothesis, male and female WT BALB/c mice were intranasally challenged four times per week for 3 wk with 40 µg of HDM or vehicle (PBS) (Figure 3-1A). Twenty-four hours after the last challenge, on day 18, lung and BAL fluid were collected to measure cytokine expression and infiltration of inflammatory cells into the BAL fluid. In male and female mice, HDM significantly increased whole lung homogenate IL-13 and IL-17A protein expression as well as significantly increased total BAL inflammatory cells, eosinophils, neutrophils, macrophages, and lymphocytes compared with PBS-challenged mice (Figure 3-1B–H). However, male mice had significantly decreased HDM-induced lung IL-13 and IL-17A protein expression and total BAL cell numbers, eosinophils, neutrophils, macrophages, and lymphocytes compared with HDM-challenged female mice (Figure 3-1B–H). These data showed female mice had increased HDM-induced IL-13 and IL-17A protein expression and increased HDM-challenged female mice (Figure 3-1B–H). These data showed female mice had increased HDM-induced IL-13 and IL-17A protein expression and BAL inflammatory cells compared with male mice.


Figure 3-1: HDM-induced BAL Eosinophils and Neutrophils were decreased in Male compared to Female mice. (A) Experimental design for HDM-induced airway inflammation. (B-C) IL-13 and IL-17A protein expression in the lung homogenates as measured by ELISA. (D-H) Total BAL cells and total BAL eosinophils, neutrophils, macrophages, and lymphocytes. * p< 0.05, 1-way ANOVA with Tukey post-hoc analysis, n= 6-9 mice/group. Data pooled from 2 independent experiments.

3.3.2 Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Eosinophilic and Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation, IgE production, and AHR

Because there was a gender difference in HDM-induced airway eosinophils and neutrophils (14), we hypothesized that endogenous sex hormones were important in regulating eosinophilic and neutrophilic-mediated airway inflammation. To test our hypothesis, male and female WT BALB/c mice underwent gonadectomy or sham operation at 3–4 wk of age. This age is prior to sexual maturity and abundant production of sex hormones. When the mice were 6–8 wk old, the mice underwent the HDM or PBS challenge protocol. Twenty-four hours after the last challenge, BAL eosinophils and neutrophils were significantly increased in HDM-challenged sham-operated female mice and gonadectomized male mice compared with sham-operated male and gonadectomized female mice.

HDM has been shown to increase IgE serum levels, AHR, and mucus production (266, 267). Thus, we wanted to determine how testosterone and ovarian hormones regulated these hallmarks of asthma. We measured total serum IgE levels by ELISA and AHR to increasing concentration of methacholine challenge using the flexiVent plethysmography system. Total serum IgE levels were increased in HDM-challenged sham-operated female mice and gonadectomized male mice compared with sham-operated male mice and gonadectomized female mice (Figure 3-2C). HDM also significantly increased methacholine-induced AHR in the lungs of HDM-challenged mice from all groups (Figure 3-2D), but no increase in AHR was seen with PBS-challenged mice (Figure 3-2E). Furthermore, HDM-induced AHR was increased in sham-operated female mice and gonadectomized male mice and gonadectomized male mice and gonadectomized male mice and gonadectomized female mice and gonadectomized male mice and gonadectomized male mice and gonadectomized male mice (Figure 3-2E). Furthermore, HDM-induced AHR was increased in sham-operated female mice and gonadectomized male mice and gonadectomized male mice and gonadectomized male mice and gonadectomized male mice with sham-operated female mice and gonadectomized male mice and gonadectomized female mice (Figure 3-2D). Forty-eight hours after the last challenge, when mucus production levels are upregulated (268), lungs were harvested, and mucus cell

metaplasia was determined by PAS staining . HDM-challenged mice in all groups had significantly increased mucus production compared with PBS-challenged mice, but no significant differences in periodic acid–Schiff staining were detected between HDM-challenged experimental groups (Figure 3-3A-B) Combined, these results showed that HDM-induced eosinophilic and neutrophilic inflammation, IgE production, and AHR were decreased by testosterone and increased by ovarian hormones.



Figure 3-2: Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced BAL Eosinophilic and Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation, IgE production, and AHR. WT gonadectomized and sham-operated male and female BALB/c mice were challenged with HDM or PBS. (A-B) Total BAL eosinophils and neutrophils. (C) Total serum IgE levels. (A-C) *p<0.05, 1-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis, n=3-7 mice/group. Representative sample of 3 independent experiments. (D-E) AHR in response to increasing concentrations of methacholine 24 hours after the last HDM or PBS challenge. * p<0.05 ANOVA of repeated measures with Bonferroni post hoc analysis. n=12-14/group. Data pooled from 2 independent experiments.



Figure 3-3: The Role of Testosterone and Ovarian Hormones on Mucus Production following HDM-induced Type 2 and IL-17A-Mediated Airway Inflammation: (A-B)

Representative 20X magnification and quantification of lung histology sections in PAS positive staining in HMD challenged mice 48 hours after last HDM. n=6-10 mice per experimental group. *n.s.* means not statistically significant.

3.3.3 Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-13⁺ Th2 and IL-17A⁺ Th17 cells

IL-13 and IL-17A are increased with HDM exposure, and we next determined if sex hormones regulated IL-13– and IL-17A–producing CD45+ cells. On day 18, IL-13– and IL-17A–producing CD45+ cells were determined by flow cytometry using the gating strategy detailed in Figure 3-4. The total number, but not frequency, of IL-13+ CD45+ cells was increased in HDM-challenged sham-operated female mice and gonadectomized male mice compared with the HDM-challenged sham-operated male mice and gonadectomized female mice (Figure 3-5A-C). Furthermore, the total number of IL-17A+ CD45+ cells was increased in HDM-challenged sham-operated female mice and gonadectomized female mice (Figure 3-5A-C). Furthermore, the total number of IL-17A+ CD45+ cells was increased in HDM-challenged sham-operated male mice and gonadectomized female mice (Figure 3-5E). The frequency of IL-17A+ CD45+ was also increased in the HDM-challenged sham-operated female mice, but the frequency of IL-17A+ CD45+ was similar in sham-operated and gonadectomized male mice (Figure 3-5E). We did not detect a substantial population of dual IL-13– and IL-17A–producing cells in our model.



Figure 3-4: Gating Strategy for Th2, Th17, $\gamma\delta$ T Cells and ILC2. Data. are representative of the gating strategies used to measure IL-13 and/or IL-17A+ Th2, Th17, ILC2 and $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Samples were pre-gated for viable singlets with low to intermediate FSC-A and SSC-A properties associated with leukocytes and lymphocyte populations.



Figure 3-5: Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Total Numbers IL-13 and IL-17A Producing CD45+ cells. WT gonadectomized and sham-operated male and female BALB/c mice were challenged with HDM or PBS. Lungs were harvested 24 hours after the last challenge, and lung cells were restimulated with PMA, ionomycin and Golgi stop. (A) Representative dot plots of viable, CD45+ IL-13+ or IL-17A+ cells. (B-C) Percent and total numbers of IL-13+ CD45+ cells. (D-E) Percent and total numbers of IL-17A+ CD45+ cells.

Next, we determined the cell sources of CD45+ IL-13+ or IL-17A+ cells, and we found that the total number, but not the percentage, of IL-13+ Th2 cells was increased in HDMchallenged sham-operated female and gonadectomized male mice compared with sham-operated male and gonadectomized female mice (Figure 3-6 and Figure 3-7A-B). We found a significant increase in the percentage of IL-17A+ Th17 cells in the sham-operated female mice compared with the gonadectomized female mice (Figure 3-7D). Furthermore, the total number of IL-17A+ Th17 cells was increased in HDM-challenged sham-operated female mice and gonadectomized male mice compared with sham-operated male mice and sham-operated female mice (Figure 3-7E). Although the CD4 T cells accounted for \sim 50–60% of the IL-13 and IL-17A produced in the lung, IL-13+ ILC2 and IL-17A+ γδ T cells were also increased in HDM-challenged shamoperated female mice and HDM-challenged gonadectomized male mice compared with HDMchallenged gonadectomized female and HDM-challenged sham-operated male mice (Figure 3-7C, 3-7F). Combined, these studies showed that HDM-induced IL-13+ and IL-17A+ producing cells, predominantly Th2 and Th17 cells, were decreased by testosterone and increased by ovarian hormones and that the frequency of HDM-induced IL-17A+ Th17 cells was increased by ovarian hormones.



Figure 3-6: Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-13+ Th2 and IL-17A+ Th17 cells - Gating Strategy. WT gonadectomized and sham-operated male and female BALB/c mice were challenged with HDM or PBS. Lungs were harvested 24 hours after the last challenge, and lung cells were restimulated with PMA, ionomycin and Golgi stop. (A) Representative dot plots of viable, CD45+ CD3+ CD4+IL-13+ or IL-17A+ cells.



Figure 3-7: Testosterone decreased and Ovarian Hormones increased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-13+ Th2 and IL-17A+ Th17 cells. (B-D) Percent and total numbers of IL-13+ Th2 cells (defined as CD45+, CD3+ CD4+ IL-13+ cells) and IL-13+ ILC2 cells (defined as Lin-CD45+ CD25+ CD90+ IL-13+ cells). (E-G) Percent and total numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 cells and IL-17A+ $\gamma\delta$ T cells (defined as CD45+ CD3+ CD4+ CD3+ CD4- $\gamma\delta$ TCR+) cells. *p<0.05 1-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis n=6-10 mice/group. Data pooled from two independent experiments. *n.s.* means not statistically significant.

3.4 Discussion

Sex hormones modulate immune responses in many autoimmune and allergic diseases, including asthma (4, 269). Clinical and epidemiological studies showed that boys have a higher prevalence of asthma than girls before puberty. However, after puberty, women become twice as likely as men to have asthma (4, 179). The sex differences in asthma prevalence coincide with changes in sex hormones levels, suggesting that sex hormones are important in regulating asthma pathogenesis. However, the underlying molecular mechanisms by which sex hormones regulate airway inflammation associated with asthma remain unclear.

Dual type 2 and IL-17A–mediated airway inflammation increases eosinophil and neutrophil infiltration into the lung and is associated with more severe phenotypes of asthma (34, 20). Our study determined that testosterone decreased, and ovarian hormones increased HDMinduced total numbers of IL-13+ Th2 cells and IL-17A+ Th17 cells, infiltration of eosinophils and neutrophils into the BAL fluid, total serum IgE, and AHR. Our 3 wk HDM protocol was sufficient to establish increased eosinophils and neutrophils but was not long enough to observe airway remodeling or smooth muscle hypertrophy that is associated with severe asthma [data not shown) (270). Therefore, our HDM challenge mouse model does not reflect all the features of severe asthma in humans.

Increased AHR and mucus production are regulated by IL-13 and IL-17A, and previous studies showed female mice had increased allergen-induced AHR and/or mucus production compared with male mice (14, 17, 225). Additional studies showed that ovarian hormones increased OVA-induced AHR (17, 19) testosterone decreased contractility of

guinea pig tracheal myocytes by negatively regulating IP3 signaling (252), estrogen increased mucus production compared with vehicle in the nasal mucosa of guinea pigs (251), and estrogen increased the production of the mucin proteins Muc5AC and Muc5B in human airway or nasal epithelial cells (253). We expanded upon these findings and showed that testosterone decreased, and ovarian hormones increased HDM-induced lung IL-13 and IL-17A production, AHR, and total serum IgE production in mice. However, to our surprise, no significant differences in mucus production were observed between HDM-challenged sham-operated and gonadectomized female and male mice. We think these discordant findings may be due to the length of our HDM protocol. Since induction of type 2 and IL-17A-mediated inflammatory responses occur prior to induction of mucus cell metaplasia, it is likely that a longer HDM challenge protocol would allow for assessment of the differences in mucus production in gonadectomized female and male mice. Taken together, these findings suggest that sex hormones differentially regulate allergen-induced AHR and mucus production through multiple pathways. CD4+ Th2 and Th17 cells were the primary sources of HDM-induced IL-13 and IL-17A, respectively.

CHAPTER 4

Androgen Receptor Signaling Attenuates CD4 Th2 and Th17 Cell-Mediated Airway Inflammation and Cytokine Expression

4.1 Introduction

Epidemiological and clinical studies have reported that androgens, including testosterone, (DHT), and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) were associated with increased FEV1 and FVC scores and decreased reporting of asthma exacerbations (173, 174, 271). These studies suggest that efforts to understand the underlying mechanisms as to this protective effect of androgens asthma may be helped by understanding the foundational mechanisms by which androgen signaling effects type 2 and non-type 2 mediated airway inflammatory pathways associated with asthma.

Androgens regulate gene expression in target cells via the intracellular, DNA binding androgen receptor (AR) (210, 272, 211). Recent studies show that AR signaling negatively regulates immune cell function. In structural cells, testosterone decreased airway smooth muscle cell and airway fibroblast proliferation in humans (273, 274). Further, in guinea pig tracheal monocytes, testosterone decreased airway smooth muscle contractility potentially by negatively regulating IP₃ signaling (252). In innate cells, our group and others demonstrated that AR signaling decreased IL-5+ and IL-13+ ILC2 numbers in the lungs following allergen-induced ILC2-mediated airway inflammation via ILC2 intrinsic and extrinsic mechanisms (233, 234). AR signaling was reported to regulate alveolar macrophage differentiation, where DHT reconstitution of castrated male mice followed by OVA challenge increased M2 alveolar macrophage total numbers in the lung (244). AR signaling is known to regulate CD4 T cell development and function and recent studies showed that AR signaling attenuated interferon-γ (IFNγ) production and decreased CD4 Th1 cell differentiation by inhibiting mRNA messenger expression of the phosphate *Ptpn1*, leading to decreased STAT4 phosphorylation (275). Combined, these studies showed AR signaling inhibited innate and adaptive type 2 immune responses by suppressing cytokine expression in airway structural cells, alveolar macrophages, ILC2s and CD4 T cells. However, the effect of androgen receptor signaling on Th2 and Th17 cell-mediated airway inflammation and cell differentiation remained unclear. In this chapter, we investigated the role of androgen receptor signaling on a dual Th2 and Th17 cell-mediated airway inflammatory response. We hypothesized that testosterone signaling, via the androgen receptor, would inhibit dual CD4 Th2 and Th17 cell-mediated airway inflammation and inhibit Th2 and Th17 cytokine production *in vitro*.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Mice

WT female, WT male, and AR testicular feminized (AR^{tfm}) male C57BL/6J mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME), and breeding colonies were established at Vanderbilt University Medical Center. CD90.1/CD90.2 mice were bred in-house using homozygous CD90.1 and CD90.2 C57BL/6J mice from Jackson Laboratory. Gonadectomy or sham surgeries were conducted at 3–4 wk of age by Charles River laboratories veterinary staff, and experiments were started when gonadectomized or sham-operated mice were 6–8 wk old. All animal experiments were conducted in adherence to the rules and regulations of the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care and

were approved by the International Animal Care and Use Committee at Vanderbilt University Medical Center.

4.2.2 BAL and Analysis of Inflammatory cell Infiltration in the Airway

BAL was performed by instilling 800 µl of saline solution through a tracheostomy tube and then withdrawing the fluid with gentle suction through a syringe, as previously described (18). The total cell count in the BAL fluid was counted using a hemocytometer and 0.04% trypan blue exclusion dye (Sigma-Aldrich). The cells from the BAL were then fixed to a slide and stained using the Three-Step Stain system (Richard-Allan Scientific, Waltham, MA). Two hundred BAL cells were classified as eosinophils, neutrophils, lymphocytes, or macrophages using standard morphologic criteria, and percentages of these inflammatory cells were determined. Total numbers of inflammatory cells were determined by multiplying the percentage of the inflammatory cells by the total numbers of viable cells in the BAL fluid.

4.2.3 Cytokine Measurements

Cytokine levels were measured from BAL fluid, lung homogenates, and/or Th0, Th2, and Th17 cell culture supernatants by ELISA using Quantikine and Duoset kits (R&D Systems). Total serum IgE levels were determined using an ELISA (BioLegend). All experiments were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Any OD450 value less than the lower limit of detection was assigned half the value of the lowest detectable standard.

4.2.4 Flow Cytometry of Lung IL-4, IL-13 and IL-17A Production

Lungs were harvested and digested, and lung single-cell suspensions were restimulated with 50 ng/ml of PMA (Sigma-Aldrich), 1 μ g/ml of ionomcyin (Sigma-Aldrich), and 0.07% Golgi Stop (BD Biosciences) for 5 h at 37°C in RPMI 1640 plus 10% FBS. Following restimulation, cells were stained with viability dye (Ghost Dye UV 450; Tonbo Biosciences), blocked with an anti-FcR Ab (clone 2.4G2), and surface stained with biotin-labeled anti-CD3 (clone 17A2), PE-Cy5 anti-CD4 (clone 129.19), BV786 anti-CD90.2 (clone 53-2.1), Alexa Fluor 700 anti-CD45 (clone 30-F11), Alexa Fluor 488 anti-CD25 (clone OC61), PE-Cy7 anti-CD127 (clone A7R34), and FITC anti- γ \deltaTCR (clone GL3) Abs, followed by allophycocyanin-Cy7 streptavidin staining (1:250). Cells were then fixed, permeabilized using the Foxp3/transcription factor staining kit (Tonbo Biosciences), and intracellularly stained with PE–IL-13 (clone eBio13A), PE-Cy7 anti–IL-17A (clone eBio17B7), and/or PE–IL-4 (clone 11B11). Flow cytometry analysis was conducted on LSR II flow cytometer, and all data were processed using FlowJo software version.

4.2.5 Bone Marrow Chimeras

C57BL/6J heterozygous CD90.1+ CD90.2+ male recipient mice (6–10 wk old) were lethally irradiated (11 Gy) using a cesium irradiator. Three hours after irradiation, a 1:1 mixture of bone marrow (BM) from age-matched 6- to 10-wk-old WT (CD90.1+) and AR^{tfm} male mice (CD90.2+) was transplanted in the male recipient CD90.1+ CD90.2+ mice via retro-orbital injection. Six weeks later, recipient mice were challenged intranasally with HDM or PBS. Twenty-four hours after the last challenge, lungs were harvested, digested, and restimulated as described in the above section. Following restimulation, cells were stained with viability dye (Ghost Dye UV 450; Tonbo Biosciences), blocked with an anti-FcR Ab (clone 2.4G2), and surface stained with biotin-labeled anti-CD3 (clone 17A2), PE-Cy5 anti-CD4 (clone 129.19), FITC anti-CD90.1 (clone HIS51), BV786 anti-CD90.2 (clone 53-2.1), Alexa Fluor 700 anti-CD45 (clone 30-F11), and Alexa Fluor 488 anti-CD25 (clone OC61) Abs, followed by allophycocyanin-Cy7 streptavidin staining (1:250). Cells were then fixed, permeabilized, and intracellularly stained with PE–IL-13 (clone eBio13A) and PE-Cy7 anti–IL-17A (clone eBio17B7). Flow cytometry analysis was conducted on LSR II flow cytometer, and AR^{tfm} (CD90.2) and WT (CD90.1) cytokine-producing Th2 and Th17 cells were gated as CD3+CD4+IL-13+ or CD3+ CD4+ IL-17A+ cells. All data were processed using FlowJo software version 10. Residual cells remaining from the heterozygous recipient mice (CD90.1+/CD90.2+) were excluded from the analysis.

4.2.6 CD4 Th2 and Th17 Cell Differentiation

Naive CD4 T cells were isolated from the spleens of WT C57BL/6J female, male, and AR^{tfm} male mice using a commercially available naive CD4+ T cell isolation kit (Miltenyi Biotec). Following isolation, naive CD4+ T cells were activated with anti-CD3 (1 µg/ml; BD Biosciences) and anti-CD28 (0.5 µg/ml; BD Biosciences) and differentiated into Th2 cells by adding recombinant mouse (rm) IL-4 (10 ng/ml) and anti–IFN γ (10 µg/ml). Naive CD4+ T cells were differentiated into Th17 cells by adding rmIL-23 (10 ng/ml), recombinant human TGF- β (1 ng/ml), rmIL-6 (20 ng/ml), anti–IFN γ (10 µg/ml) and anti–IL-4 (10 µg/ml). Recombinant IL-23 protein, anti–IFN γ , and anti–IL-4 Abs were purchased from R&D Systems. All other recombinant proteins were purchased from PeproTech (Rocky Hill, NJ).

4.2.7 RNA Isolation and Quantitative Real Time PCR Analysis

Total RNA was isolated using a RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). cDNA was generated by using 100 ng of total RNA, and TaqMan quantitative PCR analysis of *AR*, *gata3*, *rorc*, *il4Ra*, *il23r*, and *gapdh* mRNA expression was conducted using commercially available primers and FAM/MGB probes (Applied Biosystems). Data were reported as relative expression normalized to the housekeeping gene *Gapdh*.

4.2.8 Statistical Analysis

Unless otherwise indicated, data are represented as mean \pm SEM where groups were compared by one-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis. For all analysis, p < 0.05 was considered significant.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 AR Signaling attenuates HDM-induced Eosinophilic and Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation

Previous studies showed that testosterone and AR signaling negatively regulated allergen-induced ILC2-mediated airway inflammation (233, 234). Our in vivo results from the HDM-challenged gonadectomized and sham-operated male and female mice showed that total numbers of IL-13+ Th2 and IL-17A+ Th17 cells, IL-13+ ILC2, and IL-17A+ $\gamma\delta$ T are decreased by testosterone and increased by ovarian hormones. Therefore, we hypothesized that AR signaling attenuates cell numbers of HDM-induced IL-13+ Th2 cells and IL-17A+ Th17 cells. To test this hypothesis, we intranasally challenged WT female, WT male, and AR^{tfm} C57BL/6J with HDM or PBS as previously described in Figure 3-1A. AR^{tfm} male mice have a mutation in

the AR mRNA transcript, and AR^{tfm} male mice are unresponsive to androgens, including testosterone and testosterone derivatives (276). WT female and AR^{tfm} male mice had increased airway eosinophils and neutrophils compared with WT male mice (Figure 4-1A-B). Lung cells were restimulated with PMA, ionomycin, and Golgi stop and stained for IL-13– and IL-17A– producing Th2 and Th17 cells, respectively. Similar to Fig. 4, the percentage of IL-13+ Th2 cells and IL-17A+ Th17 were not different between HDM-treated groups, but IL-13+ Th2 and IL-17A+ Th17 cells were increased in WT female and AR^{tfm} male mice compared with WT male mice (Figure 4-1C–E). These results suggested that AR signaling attenuating type 2 and IL-17A– mediated airway inflammation was independent of the mouse genetic background.



Figure 4-1: AR Signaling attenuated HDM-induced Eosinophilic and Neutrophilic Airway Inflammation. WT female, WT male, and androgen receptor testicular feminized mice (AR^{tfm}) male C57BL/6 mice were challenged with HDM or PBS. (A-B) BAL fluid eosinophils and neutrophils. (C) Representative flow staining of IL-13 and IL-17A expressing T cells. (D-E) Total numbers of IL-13+ Th2 cells and IL-17A+ Th17 cells. * p<0.05, ANOVA with Tukey post hoc test. n=3-5 mice/group. Data shown is from one representative experiment of three independent experiments. *n.s.* means not statistically significantly.

4.3.2 AR Signaling intrinsically decreased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-17A⁺ Th17 cells and indirectly decreased Total Numbers of IL-13⁺ Th2 cells

To determine whether AR signaling decreased IL-13+ Th2 and IL-17A+ Th17 cells in the lung intrinsically, we used a mixed BM chimera model. Lethally irradiated WT CD90.1+/CD90.2+ male mice were reconstituted with a 1:1 mixture of BM cells from CD90.1+ WT male and CD90.2+ AR^{tfm} male mice. Six weeks after reconstitution, the recipient mice were challenged with HDM intranasally four times a week for 3 weeks. Twenty-four hours after the last challenge, we harvested the lungs and measured the total numbers of IL-13- and IL-17Aproducing CD3+ CD4+ T cells from WT CD90.1+ or AR^{tfm} CD90.2+ cells (Figure 4-2A). Based on previous findings in ILC2-mediated airway inflammation (233, 234), we hypothesized that AR signaling directly attenuates IL-13– and IL-17A–producing Th2 and Th17 cells, respectively. Surprisingly, we found that the CD90.2+ IL-13+ Th2 cells from AR^{tfm} mice were decreased compared with CD90.1+ IL-13+ Th2 cells from the WT mice (Figure 4-2B-C). These findings were different from our results in Figures 3-7 and 4-1 in which testosterone and AR signaling attenuated HDM-induced IL-13+ Th2 cells in the lung. However, it was possible that AR signaling was attenuating IL-13+ Th2 cells via an indirect, extrinsic mechanism. In contrast, CD90.2+ IL-17A+ Th17 cells from AR^{tfm} mice were increased compared with CD90.1+ IL-17A+ Th17 cells from WT mice (Figure 4-2D), suggesting that AR signaling decreased cell numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 cells present in the lung via a Th17-intrinisic mechanism.

А



Figure 4-2: AR Signaling intrinsically decreased IL-17A+ Th17 cells and indirectly decreased IL-13+ Th2 cells. (A) Experimental design of mixed bone marrow chimera experiments with 1:1 bone marrow mixture from WT (CD90.1) or AR^{tfm} (CD90.2) male C57BL/6J mice transferred into lethally irradiated heterozygous CD90.1+CD90.2+ recipient C57BL/6J mice. After 6 weeks of reconstitution, recipient mice underwent HDM or PBS challenge and IL-17A+ and IL-13+ CD4+ T cells were determined for WT and AR^{tfm} mice. (**B**) Representative dot plots showing gating strategy. (**C-D**) Total numbers of IL-13+ Th2 and IL-17A+ Th17 cells derived from WT CD90.1 or AR^{tfm} CD90.2 lineages.* p<0.05 ANOVA, with Tukey post hoc analysis, n=5-10 mice/group. Data pooled from 2 combined experiments.

4.3.3 AR Signaling attenuated Th17 but not Th2 Cytokine Expression *in vitro*

Our BM chimera experiment determined that AR signaling was differentially regulating cytokine production from Th2 and Th17 cells. Therefore, to determine how AR signaling regulated Th2 and Th17 differentiation, we conducted in vitro Th2 and Th17 cell differentiation experiments. Naive CD4+ T cells isolated from the spleens of WT female, WT male, and AR^{tfm} male C57BL/6J mice were activated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 and differentiated into Th2 or Th17 cells for 4 days as previously described (18). After 4 days, IL-13 and IL-17A protein expression was measured in the cell culture supernatants. We also measured mRNA relative expression of Ar, as well as transcription factors and receptors known to regulate Th2 and or Th17 differentiation, including *Gata3*, *Il4ra*, *Rorc*, and *Il23r*, by quantitative RT-PCR analysis. Ar mRNA relative expression was significantly decreased in differentiated Th2 and Th17 cells from AR^{tfm} male mice compared with WT female and male mice (Figure 4-3A, 4-3E). Furthermore, Ar relative mRNA expression in differentiated Th17 cells was significantly decreased in WT female mice compared with male mice (Figure 4-3E), but no difference in ArmRNA expression was detected in Th2 differentiated cells between male and female mice (Figure 4-3A).

No significant differences in *Gata3 or Il4ra* mRNA relative expression, or IL-13 protein expression were found between Th2 cells from our experimental groups (Figure 4-3B-D). *Il23r* mRNA relative expression and IL-17A protein expression were increased in Th17 cells from WT female mice and AR^{tfm} male mice compared with WT male mice, but no differences in *Rorc* expression were determined in Th17 cells from our experimental groups (Figure 4-3F-H). Combined, AR signaling attenuated IL-17A and *Il23r* expression in Th17 cells. However, AR signaling did not regulate IL-13 levels and/or transcription factors associated with Th2 cells.



Figure 4-3: AR Signaling attenuated Th17 but not Th2 Cytokine Expression *in vitro*. Naïve CD4+ T cells from WT female, WT male, and AR^{tfm} male mice were activated and differentiated into Th2 or Th17 cells. Cell culture supernatants and RNA were collected 4 days after differentiation. (A) and (E) *AR* mRNA expression in Th2 cells (top) and Th17 cells (bottom). (B-D) Gata3 and Il4ra mRNA relative expression from in differentiated Th2 cells and IL-13 protein expression from Th2 cell culture supernatants. (F-H) *Rorc and Il23r* mRNA relative expression in differentiated Th17 cells and IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cell culture supernatants. IL-13 and IL-17A protein expression were measured by ELISA and mRNA relative expression measured by qRT-PCR with relative expression in Th2 or Th17 cells were normalized to *Gapdh*. * p<0.05, ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis. n=9-12 mice/group. Data pooled from 2 independent experiments. *n. s.* means not statistically significant.

4.3.4 AR Signaling decreased HDM-induced Total Numbers of IL-4 Producing cells

Our results from the HDM studies in AR^{tfm} mice, the mixed BM chimeras, and in vitro Th2 differentiation experiments suggested that AR signaling decreased Th2 differentiation and cytokine production in the lung by attenuating cytokines and/or chemokines critical for Th2 cells. Therefore, we measured IL-4, IL-10, IL-25, CCL11, CCL24, CCL4, and TARC, cytokines and chemokines that are known to regulate Th2 differentiation and migration, 24 h after the last challenge in lung homogenates of WT female, WT male, and AR^{tfm} male C57BL/6J mice (Figure 4-4A-G). Only IL-4 protein expression was increased in the lung homogenates of WT female and AR^{tfm} mice compared with WT male mice Figure 4-4A. IL-4 production is important for Th2 differentiation, and decreased levels of IL-4 in the cytokine milieu of the lung would decrease Th2 differentiation and cytokine production (96, 277). To determine the role of AR signaling on IL-4 production in the lung, we harvested the lungs of WT female, WT male, or AR^{tfm} male mice and measured IL-4 production by flow cytometric analysis. IL-4+ Th2 cells, mast cells, and basophils were determined based on the gating strategy described in Figure 4-5 and Figure 4-6. IL-4+ Th2 cells, mast cells, and basophils were significantly increased in the lungs of WT female and AR^{tfm} mice compared with WT male (Figure 4-6B-F). No IL-4+ ILC2 were detected in PBSor HDM-challenged WT or AR^{tfm} mice (data not shown). These findings show that AR signaling decreased HDM-induced IL-4 production in vivo and provided a mechanism by which AR signaling decreased Th2 cell-mediated inflammation.





The left lung was harvested, homogenized and cytokine or chemokine expression was measured by ELISA. n=3-9 mice per group. Data pooled from 2 combined experiments. *n.s.* means not statistically significant.



Figure 4-5: Gating Strategies for IL-4 Producing Th2, Mast cells and Basophils. Data are representative of the gating strategies used for data in Figure 4-6. Samples were pre-gated with viable singlets with low to intermediate FSC-A and SSC-A properties associated with leukocytes and lymphocyte p



Figure 4-6: AR Signaling decreased Total Numbers of IL-4 Producing Cells. WT female, WT male and AR^{tfm} male mice were challenged with HDM or PBS. (**A**) Representative dot plots of IL-4 producing CD45+ cells. (**B-C**) Percentage and total numbers of viable IL-4+ CD45+ cells. (**D-F**) Number of IL-4 producing Th2 cells, basophils and mast cells. Th2 cells were defined as CD45+ CD3+ CD4+ cells, mast cells were defined as CD45+ FccRI+ CD117+ DX5- cells, and basophils were defined as CD45+ FccRI+ CD117- DX5+ cells. * p<0.05, ANOVA with Tukey post hoc test. n=3-9 mice/group with data pooled from 2 independent experiments. *n.s.* means not statistically significant.

4.4 Discussion

AR signaling decreased IL-17A+ Th17 cells in the lung via a Th17 cell intrinsic mechanisms and decreased IL-17A protein expression and *Il23r* mRNA expression in differentiated Th17 cells. Other studies have also reported a critical role for IL-23R signaling in Th17 cytokine production, in which inhibition of IL-23R expression decreases optimal IL-17A production (264, 136, 18, 278). Surprisingly, AR signaling indirectly attenuated Th2 cells in the lung by suppressing lung IL-4 production. IL-4 signals through the IL-4R and is important for Th2 cell differentiation by increasing STAT6 activation and Gata3 expression (101). Our *in vitro* Th2 differentiation studies showed that Th2 cells from WT male and AR^{tfm} male mice had similar levels of IL-13 production, as well as *Gata3* and *Il4ra* mRNA relative expression. Although Th2 cells produce IL-4, our Th2 culture conditions included a large concentration of rmIL-4 (10 ng/ml). These data provide additional evidence to suggest that AR signaling attenuation of IL-4 cytokine expression in the lung limited the numbers of Th2 cells that differentiate or proliferate, leading to decreased type 2–mediated allergic inflammation in males compared with females.

Recent studies from our group and others reported that AR signaling intrinsically decreased ILC2-mediated allergic inflammation cell proliferation and cytokine production (233, 234). These findings differ from our study in that we determined that AR signaling negatively decreased Th2 cell–mediated inflammation by a Th2 cell indirect extrinsic mechanism. Previous reports have also shown that AR signaling extrinsically regulates T cell development and T cell function in the periphery (279). BM chimera models in which AR expression was attenuated in thymocytes or thymic epithelial cells revealed that

suppression of AR expression on thymic epithelial cells inhibited the ability of the thymus to respond to androgens via indirect mechanisms (280-282). However, addition of DHT, a derivative of testosterone, to splenic, activated CD4+ T cells decreased IL-4, IL-6, IL-12, and IFN γ levels (283). Therefore, AR signaling may intrinsically or extrinsically regulate immune responses depending on the cell type and/or tissue.

Understanding the foundational mechanisms underlying airway inflammation associated with type 2 and IL-17A inflammatory pathways is imperative for the development of novel asthma therapeutics that are not only effective but personalized specifically for women and men with asthma. Our studies showed that testosterone attenuated total numbers of IL-13– and IL-17A–producing CD4 T cells and suggest that increasing AR signaling may be important for decreasing airway inflammation associated with asthma. Recently, a phase IIa clinical trial has demonstrated that nebulized dehydroepiandrosterone-3-sulfate (DHEAS), a non-virilizing hormone derivative of testosterone that does not have unwanted side effects on females, improved asthma control in patients with moderate to severe asthma (271). These findings suggest a potential role for testosterone derivatives, including nebulized DHEA, in attenuating asthma symptoms and warrant additional investigation.

CHAPTER 5

Estrogen Signaling through ERα increased IL-23R Surface Expression and IL-17A Production in Th17 cells

5.1 Introduction

Gender differences exist in baseline immune responses between male and females and studies demonstrate that in asthma and autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis and lupus, females have increased CD4 Th17-mediated inflammatory responses compared to males (284, 166, 258, 49). Estrogen signaling is well known for regulating reproductive processes, but studies further demonstrate that estrogen signaling also regulates immune cell function through estrogen receptor α (ER α) and estrogen receptor β (ER β) signaling by directly binding DNA to regulate gene expression in target cells (285, 269). CD4 T cells express both ER α and ER β and studies demonstrate that estrogen signaling upregulates IFN γ production in Th1 cells by directly binding to estrogen response elements (EREs) in the promoter region of the *Ifn\gamma* gene (286). Additionally estrogen signaling in Th1 cells was shown to upregulate expression of the Th1 transcription factor T-bet (286). In inducible Tregs (iTregs), estrogen (E2) treatment of naïve CD4 T during *in vitro* iTreg differentiation increased the frequency of Foxp3+ iTregs in E2 treated cells compared to placebo treated cells (287).

The effects of estrogen signaling on Th17 cells has been reported, but with discordant findings. For instance, in an T cell adoptive transfer colitis model, ER α deficiency within effector T cells inhibited T cell accumulation as well as inhibited both Th17 and Th1 mediated inflammation in the mesenteric lymphoid nodes of recipient mice (287). In contrast, E2-induced signaling specifically via ER α provided a protective effect against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), and ER α deletion in IL-17A+ CD4+ T cells abrogates this E2 induced

protection against EAE (288). Additionally, treatment of WT mice with a ER β -specific ligand called PHTPP after onset of EAE symptoms decreased Th17 and Th1 mediated spinal cord inflammation (289). Combined, these studies show that ER β has a immunosuppressive effect on Th17 cell function, but E2 signaling via the ER α in Th17 cells can be both immunostimulatory or immunosuppressive depending on the on the immunological and disease context.

Women have an increased prevalence of asthma, particularity severe asthma, compared to men (258). Our group have previously published that the frequency and total numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 cells were increased in the peripheral blood of women, compared to men, with severe asthma (18) . Furthermore, IL-17A protein expression was increased in Th17 cells from ovariectomized female mice implanted with 17β-estradiol (17β-E2) and progesterone (P4) hormone pellets compared to Th17 cells from ovariectomized female mice implanted with vehicle pellets. Our group determined that estrogen and progesterone inhibited *Let-7f* microRNA expression, leading to increased IL-23R expression and increased IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells (18). These findings demonstrated a role for estrogen and progesterone in regulating IL-23R mRNA expression to increase IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells, but it was unclear whether ER α or ER β signaling was responsible for upregulating IL-23R expression in Th17 cell differentiation. In this chapter, we hypothesized that E2 signaling through ER α increased IL-23R expression and IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Mice

WT female, WT male, estrogen receptor α (ER α) and β (ER β) female knockout C57BL/6J mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME), and breeding colonies were established at Vanderbilt University Medical Center. Gonadectomy and sham surgeries were conducted at 3-4 weeks of age at Jackson Laboratory veterinary staff, and, experiments were started when gonadectomized or sham-operated mice 6-8 weeks old. All animal experiments were conducted in adherence to the rules and regulations of the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care and were approved by the International Animal Care and Use Committee at Vanderbilt University Medical Center.

5.2.2 Flow Cytometry Sorting of Naïve CD4 T Cells

Naïve CD4 T cells were isolated from the spleens of WT female, male, as well as knockout ER α and/or β ER β female mice using a commercially available kit. Naïve CD4 T cells isolation kit (Miltenyi Biotec). Following isolation, naïve CD4 T cells were FACS sorted for naïve CD4⁺CD62L⁺T cells (> 96% purity).

5.2.3 CD4 Th1, Th2 and Th17 Cell Differentiation

After sorted, naïve CD4 T cells were activated with anti-CD3 (1 μ g/ml; BD Biosciences) and anti-CD28 (0.5 μ g/ml; BD Biosciences) and differentiated into Th1 cells by adding recombinant mouse (rm) IL-12 (10 ng/ml) and anti-IL-4 (10 μ g/ml) or into Th2 cells by adding recombinant mouse (rm) IL-4 (10 ng/ml) and anti-IFN γ (10 μ g/ml). Sorted naive CD4+ T cells were differentiated into Th17 cells by adding rmIL-23 (10 ng/ml), recombinant

human TGF- β (1 ng/ml), rmIL-6 (20 ng/ml), anti–IFN γ (10 µg/ml) and anti–IL-4 (10 µg/ml). Recombinant IL-23 protein, anti–IFN γ , and anti–IL-4 Abs were purchased from R&D Systems. All other recombinant proteins were purchased from PeproTech. In some experiments Th17 cells were treated with increasing doses of rmIL-23 (0, 10, 20, 30 ng/ml).

5.2.4 Cytokine Measurements

Cytokine levels were measured from Th0, Th1, Th2, and Th17 cell culture supernatants by ELISA using Duoset kits (R&D Systems). All experiments were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Any OD450 value less than the lower limit of detection was assigned half the value of the lowest detectable standard.

5.2.5 Flow Cytometric Analysis of IL-17A Production in Th17 cells

On day three of Th17 cell differentiation, 0.07% of Golgi Stop (BD Biosciences) was added to the cell culture medium for 4 hours. After 4 hours, cells were stained with viability dye (Ghost Dye UV 450; Tonbo Biosciences), blocked with an anti-FcR Ab (clone 2.4G2), and surface stained with APC-Cy7 anti-CD3 (clone 145-2C11), FITC anti-CD4 (clone GK1.5), BV786 anti-CD90.2 (clone 53-2.1) and APC anti-IL-23R (clone 12B2B64). Cells were then fixed, permeabilized using the Foxp3/transcription factor staining kit (Tonbo Biosciences), and intracellularly stained PE-Cy7 anti–IL-17A (clone eBio17B7). Flow cytometry analysis was conducted on LSR II flow cytometer, and all data were processed using FlowJo software version 10.

5.2.6 RNA Isolation and Real Time Quantitative PCR Analysis

Total RNA was isolated using a RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). cDNA was generated by using 100 ng of total RNA, and TaqMan quantitative PCR analysis of *Rorc*, *Il23r*, and *Gapdh* mRNA expression was conducted using commercially available primers and FAM/MGB probes (Applied Biosystems). Data were reported as relative expression normalized to the housekeeping gene Gapdh. For the detection and quantification of *Let-7f* miRNA, qRT-PCR was conducted with SYBR green mix and a provided universal qPCR reverse primer (200 nM). Forward primer sequences were used as follows: *Let-7f* forward primer,

TGAGGTAGTAGATTGTATAGTT; *U6b* forward primer, TGACACGCAAATTCGTGAAG (Integrated DNA Technologies). Data was reported as relative expression normalized to the housekeeping gene, *U6b*.

5.2.8 Statistical Analysis

Unless otherwise indicated, data are represented as mean \pm SEM where groups were compared by one-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis. For all analysis, p < 0.05 was considered significant.
5.3 Results

5.3.1 ERa Signaling increases IL-17A Protein Expression in Th17 Cells

Our previous studies showed that estrogen and progesterone were important in increasing Th17 cell differentiation and IL-17A production (18). However, it remained unknown if estrogen signaling through ERα and/or ERβ was important for driving Th17 cell differentiation and IL-17A expression in vitro. Naïve CD4 T cells were sorted from WT female, WT male, ERa knockout (KO) female, and ERβ KO female C57BL/6J mice were differentiated into Th1, Th2 or Th17 cells for 3 days as previously described (18). IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells was significantly decreased in WT male mice and ERa KO female mice compared to WT female and ER β female mice (Figure 5-1A). IFN γ protein expression from Th1 cells was also significantly decreased in WT male and ERa KO female mice compared to WT female and ERB KO female mice (Figure 5-1B). However, no change in IL-13 protein expression was found in Th2 cells from group (Figure 5-1C). Th17 cells are plastic cells and may shift towards other Th1 or Th2 subsets that produce IFNy and IL-13, respectively. Therefore, we measured IFNy and IL-13 in Th17 cells and found values were below the limit of detection for all groups. (Figure 5-1D-E). These findings suggest that ER α , but not ER β signaling increases IL-17A production in Th17 cells and IFN γ production in Th1 cells. Additionally, our results show that neither ER α nor ER β effects IL-13 protein expression in Th2 cells.



Figure 5-1: ERa Signaling increases IL-17A Protein Expression in Differentiated Th17 cells. FACS sorted naïve CD4+ CD62L+ T cells from WT female and male and ER α and ER β KO female mice were activated and differentiated into Th17, Th1 and Th2 cells for 3 days. Cell culture supernatants were collected 3 days after differentiation. (A) IL-17A, (B) IFN γ and (C) IL-13 protein expression in cell culture supernatants from differentiated Th17, Th1 and Th2 cells, respectively. (D-E) IFN γ and IL-13 protein expression in Th17 cells. N.D. means not detectable and dotted line shows the limit of detection. * p<0.05, ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis. n= 8-10 mice/group. Data from Figure 5-1A, D and E pooled from 3 independent experiments. Data Figure 5-1B-C from B and C represented as one representative experiment from three independent experiments. *n.s.* means not statistically significant.

5.3.2 ERα Signaling increases the Frequency and Total numbers of IL-17A Producing CD4 T Cells

Figure 5-1A showed that ER α signaling increased IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells. Therefore, we next wanted to determine whether ERa signaling was increasing the amount of IL-17A produced from each cell, increasing numbers of Th17 cells, or both. On day 3 of Th17 cell differentiation, golgi-stop was added to the cell culture medium for 4 hours followed by flow cytometry analysis of IL-17A producing Th17 cells, labelled as viable CD3+ CD4+ IL-17A+ cells. Despite seeding the same number of cells on Day 0, the percentage and total number of CD3+CD4+ IL-17A+ Th17 cells were significantly decreased in WT male and ERa KO female mice compared to WT female mice (Figure 5-2A-C). We also determined the amount of IL-17A produced from each cell by measuring mean fluorescent intensity (MFI), but found no difference in the MFI of IL-17A staining in Th17 cells from between groups (data not shown). ER- α deletion in CD4 T cells has been shown to inhibit cell proliferation and promote gene expression of apoptotic genes such as Bcl2 following TCR-stimulation (287), thus the decreased numbers of IL-17A+ CD4+ T cells in ER α KO female mice may have been due to decreased cell proliferation and cell viability. Combined, these data showed that ERa increases both the amount and total numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 cells.



Figure 5-2: ER α Signaling increased the Frequency and Total numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 Cells. Th17 cells were differentiated from WT female, WT male and ER α female knockout for 3 days. On day 2, Golgi-stop was added to the cell culture media for 24 hours. Twenty-four hours later, cells were harvested and intracellularly stained for IL-17A+ Th17 cells. (A) Representative flow gating of IL-17A cytokine expression in viable CD3+CD4+ T cells (Th17 cells). (B-C) Frequency and total numbers Th17 cells. (D). Frequency of viable CD3+CD4+ T cells. *p<0.05 1-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis n=6-10 mice/group. Data pooled from two independent experiments. *n.s.* means not statistically significant.

5.3.3 ERα Signaling increases IL-23R Surface Expression on Th17 Cells, Leading to increased IL-17A Production

Our group has previously published that ovarian hormones, including estrogen, increased IL-17A protein in Th17 cells by upregulating IL-23R expression, however it remained unclear whether ER α signaling regulated IL-17A protein expression in Th17 through IL-23R. We hypothesized that ER α promotes IL-23R surface expression in Th17 cells, leading to increased IL-17A protein expression. To determine the effect of ER α signaling on *Il23r* mRNA relative expression in Th17 cells, we conducted real-time quantitative PCR analysis from differentiated Th17 cells from WT female, WT male and ER α KO female mice. Our results showed that *Il23r* mRNA relative expression was significantly increased in Th17 cells from WT female mice compared to Th17 cells from WT male and ER α Ko female mice (Figure 5-3A). We also measured mRNA expression of *Rorc*, a master transcriptional regulator of IL-17A and IL-23R expression in Th17 cells. We did not find a statistically differences in *Rorc* mRNA relative expression between our experimental groups (Figure 5-3B).

We confirmed these findings by measuring IL-23R surface expression on differentiated Th17 cells by flow cytometry. On 3-day cultured Th17 cells, we found detectable IL-23R surface expression (Figure 5-3C) and increased IL-23R surface expression was on Th17 cells from WT female mice compared to Th17 cells from WT male and ERα KO female mice (Figure 5-3D). Furthermore, the geometric mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of IL-23R staining was significantly increased on Th17 cells from WT female mice compared to WT male mice and ERα KO female mice (Figure 5-3E). Combined these data showed ERα signaling was important for IL-23R surface expression on Th17 cells.

IL-23 is not required for Th17 cell differentiation, rather it is important for Th17 cell phenotypic stability and increased IL-17A protein expression (133). Therefore, we hypothesized that Th17 cells from WT female mice have increased IL-17A production compared to Th17 cells from WT male and ERa KO female mice following Th17 cell differentiation in the prescence of varying amounts of rmIL-23. To test this hypothesis, we measured IL-17A production by flow cytometry after differentiation Th17 cells from our experimental groups with varying concentration of rmIL-23 (0, 10, 30 ng/ml). Our data showed that at baseline (0 ng/ml), WT female mice had significantly increased IL-17A production compared to WT male and ERa KO female mice (Figure 5-4A-B). Further, the addition of increasing concentrations of rmIL-23 significantly increased the frequency and total numbers of IL-17A+Th17 cells in WT female and male mice but not in ERa KO female mice (Figure 5-4B-C). MFI of IL-17A staining was significantly increased in WT female mice compared to WT male and ERa KO female mice at higher concentrations of rmIL-23 (30 ng/ml) but not at lower concentrations (10 ng/ml) (Figure 5-4D). These findings showed that ER α signaling promotes IL-23R independent and dependent mechanisms in Th17 cells, leading to increased IL-17A protein expression.



Figure 5-3: ER α signaling increased IL-23R Surface Expression on Th17 cells, Leading to increased IL-17A Production. Th17 cells were differentiated from WT female, WT male and ER α female knockout mice. (A-B) *Il23r and Rorc* mRNA relative expression were normalized to *Gapdh*. (C-E) IL-23R on IL-17A+CD3+CD4+ Th17 cells 3 days after differentiation. (C) Representative flow gating of IL-23R surface expression in CD3+CD4+ Th17 cells (D-E) Frequency and total numbers Th17 cells expressing IL-23R. *p<0.05 1-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis n=6-10 mice/group. Data pooled from two independent experiments. *n.s.* means not statistically significant.



Figure 5-4: ER α Signaling increased IL-17A Protein Expression in Th17 Cells via IL-23/IL-23R Signaling. Th17 cells were differentiated from WT female, WT male and ER α female knockout for 3 days in the presence of varying concentrations of rmIL-23 (0, 10 and 30 ng/ml (A) Representative flow gating of IL-17A expression in viable Th17 cells. (B) Frequency and (C) Total numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 cells following rmIL-23 treatment (D) MFI of IL-17A staining. *p<0.05 1-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis n=3 mice/group. Significance reported as IL-17A protein expression in WT female mice compared to WT male and ER α female knockout mice. One representative experiment of 3 independent experiments. *n.s.* means not statistically significant.

5.3.4 ERa signaling deficiency increases Let-7f miRNA relative expression in Th17 cells

We have previously published that *Let-7f*, a microRNA that has been shown to regulate IL-23R expression (18), is significantly increased in Th17 cells from ovariectomized female mice implanted with 17 β -E2 and P4 hormone pellets compared to Th17 cells from ovariectomized female mice implanted with vehicle pellets. Estrogen signaling is known to inhibit miRNAs, including *Let-7f*. Therefore, we hypothesized that ER α signaling inhibits *Let-7f*, thereby promoting increased IL-23R surface and IL-17A protein expression. To test this hypothesis, we first determined *Let-7f* miRNA expression in differentiated Th17 cells from WT female, WT male and ER α KO female mice. Our resulted showed that *Let-7f* was significantly decreased in WT female mice compared to WT male and ER α KO female mice (Figure 5-5A). These findings showed that ER α deficiency increased *Let-7f* mRNA expression.



Figure 5-5: ERa deficiency increases *Let-7f* miRNA expression in Th17 cells. Naïve CD4 T cells from WT female, WT male and ERa KO female mice were differentiated into Th17 cells for 3 days and RNA was isolated for qRT-PCR analysis of *Let-7f* miRNA relative expression. Relative expression was normalized to *U6B*. (A) *Let-7f* miRNA relative expression in differentiated Th17 cells. *p<0.05 1-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc analysis n=6-9 mice/group. Data pooled from two independent experiments. *n.s.* means not statistically significant.

5.3.5 Discussion

Women of reproductive age are twice more likely than men to have asthma, including severe asthma (259). Th17-mediated airway inflammation is associated with severe asthma (3) and our laboratory previously published that that women with severe asthma have increased numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 cell compared to men with severe asthma (18). Further, ovarian hormones promoted IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells and IL-17A-cell mediated airway inflammation (249, 18). In this chapter, we showed that ER α , but not ER β signaling, increased IL-17A in Th17 cells, as well as IFN γ in Th1 cells but not IL-13 protein expression in Th2 cells. Further, we showed that lack of ER α signaling did not promote conversion of Th17 cells to other T cell subsets, as IFN γ and IL-13 protein expression in Th17 cell culture supernatants were not

detectable. Our findings were also consistent with previous studies in a colitis model that showed ER α signaling increased T cell proliferation and IL-17A and IFN γ cytokine expression (287). Combined, these studies showed that ER α signaling increased IL-17A protein expression and Th17 cell differentiation in Th17 cells.

ER α deletion in CD4 T cells is known to decrease cell viability and promote expression of pro-apoptotic genes such as Bcl2 (287), however it remained unclear how ER α signaling in Th17 cells increases IL-17A protein expression. We assessed relative expression of *Il23r* and *Rorc*, genes known to regulate Th17 cell differentiation and IL-17A production and found that ER α signaling increased IL-23R mRNA expression and surface expression. Surprisingly, our findings showed that even in the absence of rmIL-23, IL-17A protein expression was increased in Th17 cells from WT female mice compared to WT male and ER α female knockout mice.

These findings are in alignment with previous studies where IL-23R was shown to be important for optimal IL-17A production and maintenance of the Th17 cells phenotype but not for Th17 cell differentiation (133), and suggested IL-23 independent mechanisms by which ER α signaling promotes IL17A production in Th17 cells. ER α signaling has recently been shown to regulate mitochondrial activity in CD4 T cells where TCR-mediated activation of naïve CD4 T cells from ER $\alpha^{fl/fl}$ or CD4-creER $\alpha^{fl/fl}$ significantly increased the oxygen consumption rate (OCR) in ER $\alpha^{fl/fl}$ compared to CD4-creER $\alpha^{fl/fl}$ Based on these findings, it plausible that ER α signaling may promote increased mitochondrial activity following TCR-mediated activation during Th17 cell differentiation. ER α binds to DNA, thus it is also possible that ER α binding to estrogen response elements (EREs) in Th17-promoting genes, including the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (*AhR*), a transcription factor that is essential for Th17 cell activation and differentiation. *AhR* is highly expressed in Th17 cells and is expressed at low levels in other T cell subsets, including Th1 and Th2 (290). Thus, it is possible that ER α signaling may promote expression of *AhR* to alter T cell activation and increase Th17 cell differentiation and IL-17A protein expression.

Our studies also showed that ER α deficiency decreases miRNA expression of *Let-7f*, a microRNA that is known to negatively regulate IL-23R expression in breast cancer cells (291). ER α signaling is known to regulate *Let-7f* mRNA in human breast cancer cells and murine uterine tissue (220), thus is likely that ER α deletion may promote IL-23R surface expression by inhibiting *Let-7f* miRNA expression in Th17 cells. In future studies, it will be important to determine if ER α signaling is sufficient to increase IL-17A production. These experiments would define if ER α signaling regulates Th17 cell differentiation by inhibiting *Let-7f* miRNA

CHAPTER 6

Summary and Conclusion

6.1 Synopsis of Findings

Sex hormones regulate inflammatory pathways associated with airway inflammation in asthma (171, 259, 172), and our findings extended this knowledge by further defining how AR signaling attenuates and ovarian hormones promote type 2 and IL-17A mediated pathways (Figure 6-1). In chapter 3, we showed that testosterone decreased while ovarian hormones increased HDM-induced infiltration of eosinophils and neutrophils, total numbers of IL-13+ Th2 cells and IL-17A+ Th17 cells, and AHR to methacholine challenge. Furthermore, in chapter 4, we determined that testosterone signaling, via the androgen receptor, decreased total numbers of HDM-induced IL-13+ Th2 and IL-17A+Th17 cells, but through different mechanisms. AR signaling intrinsically, or directly, decreased IL-17A+Th17 cells, but indirectly suppressed IL-13+Th2 cells by decreasing IL-4 production, a cytokine required for Th2 differentiation and cytokine production. In Chapter 5, we determined that ER α , but not ERβ, increased IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells through IL-23R dependent and independent mechanisms. Furthermore, ER α deficiency increased *Let-7f* miRNA relative expression, a negative regulator of Th17 cell differentiation, suggesting that ERα negatively regulates Let-7f expression in Th17 cells. Collectively, these findings showed that ovarian hormones and ER α signaling are important in increasing while testosterone and AR signaling are important in decreasing allergen-induced airway inflammation and provide a potential explanation for why women have increased asthma prevalence compared to men.



Figure 6-1: Graphical Abstract of Dissertation Results.

Summary of findings for this dissertation with arrows depicting how sex hormones regulated different inflammatory pathways associated with airway inflammation and asthma. Arrows give general directionality to findings for each aim. In Aim 1, we found that testosterone decreased and ovarian hormones increased BAL eosinophils and neutrophils following HDM challenge. Further, IL-13 and IL-17A production, predominantly from CD4 Th2 and Th17 cells, respectively, increased type 2 and IL-17A- mediated airway inflammation, leading to increased IgE production and AHR. In Aim 2, we found that AR signaling attenuated CD4 Th2 and Th17 cells and indirectly inhibiting Th2 development by suppressing cell sources of IL-4. In Aim 3, we found that ER α signaling increased IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells by upregulating IL-23R surface expression.

6.2 Future Directions and Implications

6.2.1 Sex Hormone Receptor Transcriptional Regulation of T cells

Our studies revealed a role for ERα and AR signaling on Th17 cell differentiation and cytokine expression, however the underlying cellular mechanisms by which ERα and/or ARmediated signaling modulate gene expression of Th17 associated genes remain unclear. In chapter 4, our studies showed that AR signaling was intrinsically suppressing cell numbers of IL-17A+Th17 cells. In preliminary studies, we also assessed the role of AR signaling on Th17 cell proliferation, and we found that AR signaling did not decrease the Th17 cell proliferation. AR signaling is known to suppress cell proliferation but also promote apoptosis (280), thus it is likely that AR signaling decreases Th17 cell numbers of by promoting apoptosis. Future studies focused on assessing the role of AR signaling on Th17 cell apoptosis will be important for understanding the role of AR signaling on Th17 cell viability.

Apart of modulating apoptosis in Th17 cells, it is also possible that AR signaling may modulate the plasticity of Th17 cells into other Th subsets, including T regulatory cells (Tregs) or Th1 cells. Th17 cells are known to be very plastic, where permissive epigenetic marks such as histone modification have observed at the *Il10* and *Ifny* gene loci in differentiated TH17 cells, leading to increased production of cytokines typically attributed to other Th1 subsets, including IL-10 and IFN γ (292, 293). TGF- β is an important cytokine for Treg and Th17 cell differentiation and is known to modulate the expression of SMAD proteins that regulate Foxp3 and ROR γ T expression in T cells (294). Furthermore, recent studies demonstrate that steroid receptor 1 (SRC1), which is known to be regulated by sex hormones, including androgens and estrogen promotes Th17 lineage commitment by disrupting the dimerization of Foxp3 to ROR γ T, leading to increased dimerization of ROR γ T to ROR α and promote of Th17 cell differentiation (295). Based on these findings it is likely that AR and ER-mediated signaling may serve as the transcriptional and/ protein regulators of SRC1 function to regulate Th17 cell differentiation and cytokine expression.

In chapter 5, ERa signaling was important in increasing IL-17A cytokine expression and total numbers of IL-17A+ T cells, suggesting that ER signaling promotes Th17 cell differentiation by increasing the amount of IL-17A secreted the as well as the proliferative capacity as well of the Th17 cell. Our data showed that ERα signaling modulated IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells by promoting IL-23R surface expression, but it remains unclear if ERa directly modulates *Il23r* mRNA expression directly by binding at the *Il23r* locus or by an indirectly affect, potentially via modulate of Let-7f. Estrogen and progesterone have been shown to decrease Let-7f miRNA expression leading to increased IL-23R and IL-17A expression (18). Furthermore, in chapter 5, ERα deficiency increased *Let-7f* miRNA expression in Th17 cells, suggesting that ERa signaling may modulate IL-17A protein expression by negatively regulating Let7f miRNA expression in Th17 cells. In these prior studies, Let7f miRNA expression was significantly increased and *ll23r* mRNA in Th17 cells from ovariectomized female mice administered dihydrotestosterone (DHT) hormone pellets compare to Th17 cells from ovariectomized female mice administered vehicle pellets. Further, suggesting that AR signaling induced by DHT, may also regulate *ll23r* and *Let-7f* miRNA expression in Th17 cells.

The underlying mechanisms by which AR and ERα transcriptional regulate gene expression in Th17 cells remains unclear primarily due to lack of knowledge about the specific hormone binding sites of AR and ER receptors in target cells and low expression of these hormone receptors in T cells. Efforts to identify AR and ER binding sites in Th17 cells and other T cell subsets may be helped by utilizing technologies such as Chromatin-immunoprecipitation

followed by DNA sequencing (ChIP-Seq). ChIP-Seq is a method of identifying genome-wide DNA bind sites of DNA binding proteins. Following cell lysis, sonication or enzymatic digestion is used to fragment chromatin and then DNA-bound proteins can be immunoprecipitated using AR and ER specific antibodies. The bound DNA fragment is then coprecipitated, purified and sequenced (296). Assay for Transposase-Accessible Chromatin using sequencing (ATAC-Seq) is a powerful technique that can be used to identify open chromatin regions genome-wide. This method determines DNA accessibility by probing open chromatin with a mutant Tn5 transposase that insert sequencing adapters. Sequencing reads can then to use to infer regions of accessible DNA and also map regions of transcription factor binding (297). In Chapter 4 and 5, AR decreased while ERa increased Il23r mRNA relative expression in Th17 cells, suggesting that AR and ERa binding to hormone binding elements at the *Il23r* locus may regulate IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells. In future studies, AR and ERa interactions with regions of Th17 cells-specific genes should be assessed, including at the *Il23r* and *Let-7f* gene loci using ChIP-Seq and/or ATAC-Seq. Furthermore, future studies should assess the role of AR and ER signaling on gene promoting and repressive histone modifications at gene loci in Th17 cells, including H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 marks via CHIP-assays.

6.2.2 Sex Hormone Receptor Regulation of T cell Metabolic Reprogramming

Activated T cells can be skewed towards the Th17 cell phenotype in the presence of IL-6 and TFG- β , leading to the generation of "non-pathogenic" ROR γ T+IL-17+Th17 cells, while IL-6, TFG- β and IL-23 promote the generation of "pathogenic" ROR γ T+IL-17+Th17 cells (298). IL-23 has plays a critical role in generating pathogenic Th17 cells, specifically by stabilizing the Th17 phenotype endowing Th17 cells with pathogenic effector functions (133). Transcriptional profiling of Th17 cells differentiated with TGF- β and IL-6 in the presence or absence of IL-23 further showed that IL-23 promoted the expression of serum glucocorticoid kinase 1 (SGK1), a serine/threonine kinase found that is highly expressed in IL-23R+IL-17A+ Th17 cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, leading to increased memory Th17 effector responses (299). In chapter 4, AR signaling decreased IL-23R mRNA expression in Th17 cells. Future more, in chapter 5 ER α signaling increased IL-23R mRNA expression in Th17 cells. These findings suggested that AR-mediated inhibition of IL-23R expression would promote the differentiation of non-pathogenic Th17 cells, while ER α -mediated upregulation of IL-23R expression would promote the differentiation of pathogenic Th17 cells. Future studies should determine the role of AR and ER α signaling on Th17 cell pathogenicity during allergic airway inflammation by adoptively transferring "pathogenic and "non-pathogenic" derived OVA-specific Th17 cells from AR and ER α OT II mice into WT recipient mice.

In chapter 5, IL-17A protein expression was increased in Th17 cells from WT mice differentiated in the absence of rmIL-23, compared to Th17 cells from ER α KO female mice differentiated in the absence of rmIL-23. These findings suggest that ER α signaling can promote IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells via IL-23R independent mechanisms. Transcriptomics analyses have demonstrated that ER signaling in CD4 T cells increased expression of genes associated with TCR signaling, including *Cd3e*, *Cd4*, *Zap40* and *Cd69* (287). In control or CD4creER $\alpha^{fl/fl}$ C57BL/6J mice, activation of naïve T cells from these mice with varying concentrations of anti-CD3 and/or anti-CD28 for 24 hours showed that deletion of ER α in CD4 T cells decreased frequency of CD69+ T cells in the presence of high doses of anti-CD3 (5 µg/ml) alone or a low-dose of anti-CD3 (1 µg/ml) in combination with increasing amounts of anti-CD28. Surprisingly, a high-dose of anti-CD3 with increasing concentrations of anti-CD28 restored the frequency of CD69+ T cells from CD4-creER $\alpha^{fl/fl}$ mice to similar a frequency as CD69+ T cells from control mice (287). These findings suggest a T cell-intrinsic role for ER α signaling in regulating expression of genes associated with TCR activation.

Previous studies demonstrated that the strength of TCR stimulation is important for T cell differentiation, where intermediate doses of antigen stimulation of naïve T cells promotes the generation of Th1 effector responses, while low or high doses of antigen bias activated T cells towards Th2 responses (300). Furthermore, low doses of antigen presentation by dendritic cells induced weak TCR activation, decreased the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway, which decreased cell proliferation and generation of Foxp3+ T regs as opposed to effector T cells (301). The Akt-mTOR pathway is heavily implicated in T cell metabolic activity (302), thus it is possible that ER α signaling may regulate metabolic programming in activated T cells to promote IL-17A production and Th17 cell differentiation.

Resting lymphocytes, including naïve T cells, rely primarily on catabolic and oxidative metabolic programming including oxidative phosphorylation to meet their energy consumption requirements (303). However, TCR activation induces expression of the glucose transporters, including glucose transporter 1 (Glut1) on activated T cells, leading to increased glucose uptake, increased glycolytic activity and increased lactate production. In addition to glucose, glutamine uptake and glutaminolysis further promotes T cell differentiation and activated cells that fail to meet these energy requirements subsequently undergo apoptosis (304). Metabolic reprogramming in activated T cells is regulated by various transcriptional factors and signaling pathways, including the AMP-sensitive signaling kinase (AMPK) and mTOR signaling pathways. The AMPK pathway is induced during low nutrient and/or decreased ATP conditions, leading to inhibition of glycolysis and glutaminolysis and increased reliance of cells on catabolic

metabolic processes like oxidative phosphorylation (303). The mTOR signaling pathway upregulated during when nutrients are abundant, leading to promotion of glycolysis and glutaminolysis. The functions of mTOR are mediated via two different complexes, mTORC1 and mTORC2, leading to the induction of distinct downstream signaling event (305). ERα signaling increased the total numbers of IL-17A+ Th17 cells, therefore, it likely that ERα signaling promotes increased mTOR signaling upon TCR activation, leading to increased glycolysis and glutaminolysis and increased IL-17A protein expression during Th17 cell differentiation.

Activated T cells can different in various T helper subsets and previous studies showed that T helper subsets have distinct metabolic signatures (306). Th1, Th2, Th17 and T follicular helper (Tfh) cells rely heavily upon glycolysis for ATP generation, while Tregs utilize fatty acid oxidation and/or glycolysis (306). The addition of exogenous fatty acids to naïve T cells during T cell differentiation, was shown to inhibit the formation of Th1, Th2 and Th17 cell differentiation but had only a minor inhibitory effect on Treg differentiation (304). Further studies showed that in cases where glycolysis is inhibited, Th17 cells are also known to depend heavily on glutaminolysis (307). Recent studies demonstrated that the Let-7 family of miRNAs, including Let-7f, decreased B cell metabolic activity by decreasing glycolysis and glutaminolysis (308). Let-7adf miRNAs directly decreased the expression of *hexokinase 2 (Hk2)*, an enzyme involved in glycolysis, leading to decreased IgM secretion and decreased lactate production. Furthermore, Let-7fadf cluster was shown to decrease expression of a glutamine transporter called *Slc1a5* and decreased expression of a glutaminolysis specific enzyme called *Gls*, leading to decreased glucose update and decreased glutaminolysis. Previous studies showed that ERa signaling regulates mitochondrial respiration, leading to increased Th1 and Th17 responses in a mouse model of colitis. Based on the previous findings and data, it is likely that ER α may rincrease

mitochondrial activity, glycolysis and glutaminolysis in Th17 cells to promote increased Th17 cell differentiation following TCR activation. Mitochondrial stress test experiments as well as glycolysis and glutaminolysis assays are further needed to determine the role of ER α signaling regulates on these metabolic pathways in Th17 cells via Let-7f dependent manner. Understanding the metabolic activity of Th17 cells may lead to the identification of metabolic targets that can be used to specifically inhibit Th17 metabolic activity and function in women and men with Th17-mediated airway inflammation.

6.2.3 Sex Hormone-mediated Epigenetic Regulation in T cells

Although master transcriptional regulators are highly implicated in T cell lineage commitment and stability, epigenetic mechanisms have recently been implicated in T cell differentiation as well as plasticity (309). Eukaryotic chromatin is structured into octamers of four major histones, including H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 and post-translational epigenetic modifications of histone residues have been shown to regulate gene expression in T cells, by modulating chromatin remodeling and DNA accessibility(293).

Various epigenetic mechanisms are associated with T cell differentiation and plasticity, including methylation, acetylation and sumoylation of DNA and histones. Histone modifications are well implicated in regulating T cell differentiation (310). Histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylation (H3K4me3) is associated with active promoters while Histone H3 lysine 4 mono-, di- and trimethylenation are typically found near gene enhancer sites (311). Histone H3 lysine 36 trimethylation is associated with actively transcribed coding regions (310). Histone modifications are associated decreased gene expression, where histone H3 lysine 27 trimethylation (H3K27me3) and histone H3 lysine 9 trimethylation (H3K9me3) was found at

promoter sites of repressed genes (310). Previous studies in effector T cells from mice showed that H3K4me3 marks were significantly increased at the gene promoters for T effector with respect to their subset-specific genes, including *Ifn* γ and *Tbx21* in Th1, *II4* and *Gata3* in Th2, *Rorc* and *Il17a* in Th17 and *Foxp3 in* Tregs with respective to their transcription (293) In contrast, H3K27me3 marks were significantly increased at the promoter genes of *Ifn* γ and *Tbx21* in Th2 cells and increased at the *Il4* and *Gata3* gene promoters in Th1 cells. Since our data showed that AR decreased and ER α increased Il23r expression, it is likely that AR and ER may modulate histone modifications in T cells regulate IL-23R expression on Th17 cells. Future studies using ChIP-assays may determine AR and ER α -induced histone modifications in Th17 cells.

Histone modifications are regulated by enzymes complexes that catalyze epigenetic changes of histone residues, including the Polycomb and Trithorax complexes. While both complexes possess methyltransferase activity, the Polycomb complex is implicated in gene repressive histone modifications while Trithorax complexes promote gene activating histone marks (310). The Polycomb complex is composed of two major proteins, PCR1 and PCR2, where the PCR2 encompasses a enhancer of zeste (Ezh) methyltransferase that generates H3K27 methylation marks(312). Human T cells express two Ezh protein, where Ezh2 is highly expressed in T cells and Ezh recruitment at the *Gata3* locus in Th2 cells has been shown decrease Th2 cell differentiation (313). Furthermore, Ezh2-induced H3K27me3 marks at the *Il4* and *Il13* gene loci in Th1 cells was shown to decrease gene expression of these genes (310).

The Trithorax complex has a protein called the Mixed lineage leukemia (MLL) methyltransferase, which has been shown to promote Th2 and Th17 cell differentiation mediated by a recruiting protein called Menin (314, 315). Menin is highly specific recruiter of the MLL

that is required for the ability of MLL to bind to DNA (316). The interaction of menin to MLL is necessarily for the maintenance of Gata3 expression in human Th2 cells and in mice, lack of MLL leads to memory Th2 responses (315). Menin is also important in Th17 cell differentiation, where Th17 cells that lack Menin were shown to have increased H3K27me3 marks at the Rorc locus, decreased IL-17A protein expression (314). AR and ER binding to hormone response elements can promote gene expression by recruiting DNA and histone modifying enzymes to the specific regions of targets genes, leading to hormone-induced DNA and histone epigenetic changes that promote or repress gene express (317).

AR signaling has been shown to promote the recruitment of the Polycomb complex to androgen response elements in prostate cancer, leading to increased addition of H3K27me3 marks. MLL are H3K4 methyltransferases and studies show that induction of ER α signaling is associated with increased MLL activity. Previous studies showed that ER α recruits MLLs to the homebox-containing gene, *HOXC13* gene, which is involved in human leukemia and hair development. Inhibition of MLL via RNAi silencing decreased ER α -induced gene activation of *HOXC13* (318). Based on these previous findings, it is likely that AR and ER α signaling may regulate the recruitment of histone modifying enyzmes such as MLL and Ezh2 to the site of Th17-specific gene loci, including *Il23r and Il17a*. ChIP-Seq analyses of the interaction of these methyltransferases with DNA binding regions at the *Il23r* gene locus in AR and ER α treated Th17 cells would determine the role of AR and ER α signaling on regulation of histone modifications in Th17 cells.

6.2.4 Sex Hormone Regulation of IFNy in Asthma

Non-type 2 cytokines have been implicated in asthma pathogenesis, including IFN γ . In BAL fluid samples of asthmatics patients, *IFNG* mRNA expression percentages of IFN γ +Th1 cells are increased in severe asthma patients compared to those with milder asthma phenotypes (3). Characterization of immune cell phenotypes in the BAL fluid of asthmatics further showed 50% of patients with severe asthma had increased percentages of IFN γ +Th1 cells are increased compared to those with milder asthma phenotypes (3). The presence of increased IFN- γ levels in the airways of patients with asthma has raised the question of what triggers IFN γ production. Viruses and bacteria are well known to regulate the production of interferons, thus it has been suggested that chronic viral and bacterial may increase the risk of atopic allergic asthma (83).

Sex hormones are known to regulate IFN γ and type 1 immunity. In vivo studies, gonadectomized and sham-operated male and female mice infected intratracheally with a high dose of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strain H37Rv to assess the role of sex hormone signaling on pulmonary tuberculosis (319). These studies demonstrated that intact sham-operated female mice and gonadectomized male mice had increased Mycobacterium-induced airway inflammation with increased granuloma formation and increased pneumonia, compared to intact sham-operated male mice and gonadectomized female mice. Furthermore, intact female mice and gonadectomized male mice had increased had increased IFN γ . IL-12 induced nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and IL-17A in whole lung homogenates compared to intact male mice and gonadectomized female mice (319). Treatment of mouse splenic T cells with 17 β -estradiol (17- β E2) significantly increased IFN γ mRNA and protein levels compared to vehicle treated splenic T cells (320). In subsequent experiments, it was shown that ER signaling increased *Ifn* γ mRNA expression by directly binding to estrogen response elements in the promoter region of the Ifn γ

gene locus (286). In Chapter 5, IFN γ protein expression was increased in differentiated Th1 cells from WT female mice compared to WT male and ER α KO female mice, suggesting that ER α signaling promotes Th17 cells differentiation and Th1 responses in vivo. Since IFN γ -mediated airway inflammation is known to promote neutrophilic-mediated airway inflammation (321), utilizing the house-dust model described in Chapter 3 would be important for determining the role of ovarian hormones and testosterone on IFN γ -mediated allergic airway inflammation is important for patients with neutrophil-dominant asthma, especially obese women with asthma. Subsequent experiments should assess the specific mechanisms by which ER α signaling promotes IFN γ expression in Th17 cells. Since estrogen signaling is known to increase *Ifn\gamma* messenger expression (286), CHIP assays could potentially be used to assess the role of ER α in regulated *Ifn\gamma* messenger expression via epigenetic mechanisms, including gene permissive histone modifications at the *Ifn\gamma* gene locus.

6.2.5 Role of Sex Hormone Signaling on Non-T cell Subsets in Asthma

Sex hormones known to regulate other immune cells during asthma pathogenesis, including ILCs, macrophages, dendritic cells and airway epithelial cells (171). DHT treatment of ILCs decreased IL-5 and IL-13 protein expression in ILC2 and decreased IL-2-dependent ILC2 proliferation, leading to decreased MFI expression of CD25 (233). Mixed bone-marrow chimera studies in Alternaria challenge mice showed that AR signaling intrinsically decreased cell numbers of Alterneria-induced lung ILC2 cells (233). These findings showed that AR signaling attenuated ILC2-mediated airway inflammation by directly suppressing cell proliferation. Estrogen receptor signaling is also known to regulate ILC2 function (322). In uterine tissue, ST2+ILC2 expressed both ER α and ER β , and implantation of estrogen hormone pellets to

ovariectomized mice increased ILC2 numbers following ex vivo stimulation of ILCs with IL-33 (235). ILC2 numbers are increased in women with severe asthma compared to men with severe asthma (233). Further, ILC2 produce 40-fold more IL-5 and 10-fold more IL-13 than Th2 cells, and ILC2 are critical for the induction of Th2 cell responses in asthma (118, 116). Therefore, understanding the role of sex hormone signaling on ILC2-mediated airway inflammation is important for the design of future clinical trials that account for the sex-bias in asthma.

Alveolar macrophage (AM ϕ) and dendritic cells (DCs) are major mediators of allergic airway inflammation and studies show a role for androgens and estrogen on the inflammatory responses of AM
ø and DCs (243, 241). In castrated mice, administration of DHT was shown to reduce OVA-induced airway inflammation and enhance the polarization of bone marrow derived macrophages towards the M2 phenotype following IL-4 stimulation in vitro (244). Furthermore, mice that lack AR in the macrophage/monocyte compartment showed decreased BAL eosinophil cell numbers and decreased airway inflammation following OVA sensitization and challenge, potentially due to impaired M2 polarization (244). Although their numbers are correlated with increased asthma severity in asthma, M2 macrophages are associated with wound healing and tissue repair, thus the increased numbers of these cells in chronic airway inflammation may be correlated with attempts to repair tissue damage to the airway (323). Therefore, AR-mediated expansion of M2 macrophages supports the anti-inflammatory mechanisms by which androgens are known to modulate airway inflammation. Since AR is implicated promoting the development of M2 macrophages in vivo, future studies should focus on how understanding the cell-intrinsic mechanisms by which AR signaling regulates macrophage polarization towards the M2 phenotype. These studies may reveal specific M2 genes that can be targeted using AR therapeutics to promote conversion of M1 macrophages towards the M2 phenotype to inhibit

airway inflammation.

In contrast to the studies, estrogen has been implicated in promoting M2 polarization (242). Ovariectomized mice who were previously sensitized to OVA, were administered placebo or estrogen (E2) hormone pellets and then challenged with aerosolized OVA (242). Macrophages from ovariectomized implanted with E2 pellets had increased MFI expression of a M2 macrophage marker called YM1 and increased BAL eosinophils compared to ovariectomize mice administered placebo pellets, however these effects were not mediated by ER α , as IL-4 treatment of bone marrow derived macrophages (BMMs) did not change ERa expression in BMMs in female and male mice (242). Estrogen treatment is known to upregulate both ER α and ER β signaling. However, while ER α is known to promote inflammation, ER β is known to negatively regulate inflammation (324). Based on these findings, it is likely that ERβ-mediated signaling events may regulate the increased cell numbers M2 macrophages following OVAinduced allergic airway inflammation. Like the effects of AR signaling on M2 macrophage differentiation (244), ERβ-mediated regulation of M2 macrophage development may potentially promote tissue repair in the lung following chronic airway inflammation (242). Combined these studies show while estrogen signaling can be mediated by different receptors, leading to induction of pro-inflammatory events if mediated by ERa or immunosuppressive/homeostatic events if mediated by ER β . Understanding the role of estrogen receptor specifically though ER α and/or ER β is important for determining which specific estrogen receptor to target in modulating immune functions of various immune cells.

DCs play a critical role in allergic airway inflammation and sex hormones are known to regulate DCs cytokine expression and antigen presentation (239). In OVA sensitized and challenged female and male mice, females had increased numbers of myeloid and plasmacytoid

DCs migrating to the lung draining lymph nodes compared to male mice (239). In vitro, estrogen treatment of LPS-stimulated DCs increased IL-6 cytokine expression and increased MHCmediated T-cell activation compared to vehicle-treated LPS-stimulated DCs (240). Furthermore, estrogen treatment of GM-CSF stimulated bone marrow mice cells increased CD11b+, CD11c+ DCs compared to vehicle treated GM-CSF stimulated cells (241). However, deletion of ER α significantly decreased cell numbers of CD11b+, CD11c+ DCs in estrogen treated GM-CSF treated bone marrow cells compared to WT GM-CSF stimulated cells (241). Ovarian hormones increased while testosterone decreased cell numbers of IL-13+ and IL-17A+Th17 cells in the lungs of HDM-challenged mice, therefore, it likely that AR and ER α may regulate the DC trafficking to the lung drain lymph nodes as well as DC-mediated activation of T cells. We determined that AR signaling decreased Th2 cell numbers in the lung, thus it likely that AR signaling may modulate DC-mediated activation and Th2 differentiation to attenuate Th2-cell mediated airway inflammation.

Sex hormones have been shown to regulate mast cell function, but the underlying mechanisms by which sex hormones regulate mast cells remain unclear. Studies in isolated peritoneal mast cells (PMCs) from Sprague-Dawley rats showed that stimulation of PMCs with substance P decreased histamine release in PMCs from female rats administered estradiol, progesterone, testosterone or DHT (238). Upon stimulation of female PMCs with substance P and IgE, estradiol treatment increased histamine release, while progesterone, testosterone and DHT treatment significantly decreased histamine release. In contrast, stimulation of male PMCs with substance P and IgE did not increase histamine release with estradiol treatment (238). Our data from chapter 3 showed that IgE levels are increased in intact female mice compared to intact male mice and ovarian hormone increased while testosterone decreased IgE levels in HDM-

challenged mice. Thus, it is likely that female mice have increased mast cell activation as result of increased IgE, however further studies are needed to determine the estrogen signaling on mast cell activation and effector functions.

6.2.6 Implications for Women with Asthma at Various Reproductive Phases

Our findings from this dissertation work has implications for women with asthma throughout various reproductive ages, including during menstruation. Approximately 30-40% of women with asthma report worsening of asthma symptoms during the pre or perimenstrual phase of their menstrual cycle (187), however the underlying mechanism regulating the cyclic changes and worsening of asthma symptoms remains unclear. Studies in healthy female subjects, ages 18-25 with normal regular menstrual cycles, showed a significant increase the percentage of peripheral neutrophils during luteal phase (secretory phase) compared to the follicular phase (proliferative phase) of the menstrual cycle (325). Furthermore, lymphocyte count was significantly increased during the proliferative phase and secretory phases compared to the menstrual phase (325). Our studies showed that ovarian hormones, including estrogen increased BAL neutrophil numbers following HDM-challenge, thus it is likely that increased estrogen levels during the luteal phase may promote increased neutrophilic-mediated airway inflammation airway inflammation in women with perimenstrual asthma. However, further studies are needed to understand the role of sex hormone signaling on premenstrual asthma in women and this is challenging to conduct in mice since mice undergo estrus and not a menstrual cycle like women.

Discordant findings have been reported in pregnancy and changing asthma symptoms in women with asthma. Increased asthma exacerbations are reported in one-third of pregnant women but the remaining 2/3 report either no change in their asthma symptoms or a an

improvement during their pregnancy (259). A more recent study showed that women with severe asthma prior to getting pregnant are more likely to have worsening asthma symptoms during pregnancy (326). About 12.6% of the women in this study were initiated classified with mild asthma had exacerbations wild pregnant, but over 25.7% of patients classified as moderate and 51.9% of patients classified with severe asthma suffered from exacerbations (326). Progesterone levels are highly increased in pregnant women (> 140 ng/ml after 36 weeks) compared to non-pregnant women (≤ 15 ng/ml at 21st day menstrual period) (327). Since ovarian hormones increased type 2 and IL-17A mediated airway inflammation as well as increase IL-17A protein expression in women compared to men (18), it is possible that during pregnancy IL-17A and/or type 2-mediated inflammation is further increased in some women with severe asthma.

The human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) hormone serum levels are significantly increased during pregnancy and has been shown to have an immunosuppressive effect on dendritic cells and T cells (328), mediated in part through hCG's ability to increase the expression of a tryptophan-metabolizing enzyme called indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) (329). Treatment of bone marrow derived macrophages with hCG and IFNy increased IDO mRNA expression and enzymatic activity, leading to increased IL-10 production in these cells (329). Furthermore, hCG has been shown trigger expansion and migration of Treg cell populations as well as regulate T reg conversion into Th17 cells, potentially via IDO expression (328). Serum hCG levels are highest during the first trimester, and are significantly reduced in the subsequent trimesters (330), thus it is likely that oscillating levels of hCG may influence asthma exacerbations in pregnancy women and studying the effect of HCG on asthma exacerbations in women with asthma may potentially elucidate the reason for these discordant findings in pregnant women with severe asthma. Oscillating levels of sex hormones in

menopausal women may also account for the discordant finding in menopause and changing asthma symptoms in women with asthma. Some studies report a worsening of asthma after menopause, while other studies showed an improvement in asthma symptoms following menopause. These discordant findings are most likely influenced by hormone replacement therapy in menopausal women.

6.2.7 Implications for Patients with Obesity-Linked Asthma

Obesity is a risk factor for asthma and at least two asthma phenotypes associated with obesity, including early allergic-asthma and late onset-asthma (180). Patients with asthma who have undergone bariatric surgery report significant improvements in asthma control and lung function compared to healthy subjects who also underwent bariatric surgery (331). However, compared to healthy subjects, BAL lymphocyte numbers and CD T cell-mediated IL-5, IL-5, IL-13, IL-17A and IFNγ production was still increased in patients with asthma who received bariatric surgery (331). Furthermore, a mouse model of obese-asthma found that following consumption of a high-fat diet for 12 weeks and becoming obese, mice spontaneously developed AHR with allergen exposure (332). In B and T cell deficient Rag knockout mice, obesity-linked AHR was induced independent of adaptive immunity and was associated with increased numbers of IL-17A+ILCs (ILC3s) (333). These studies suggest that obesity is associated with more severe asthma phenotypes.

Cluster analyses in patients with asthma determined that women are more likely to have severe asthma and are less likely to respond to corticosteroids compared to men (32, 7). Furthermore, these studies revealed another phenotype composed of mainly women with

late-onset obese, atopic asthma with increased sputum neutrophils. The Unbiased Biomarkers in Prediction of Respiratory Disease Outcomes (U-BIOPRED) enrolled a cohort of asthma patients ranging from mild to severe asthma and found a cluster of obese female patients with asthma who experience frequent exacerbations and with normal lung function (334).

Sex hormone are known to regulate metabolism and adiposity in men and women (335). Estrogens are known to promote subcutaneous fat accumulation and loss of estrogens in menopausal women is associated with increased abdominal fat accumulation (336). Ovariectomy of female rats increases adiposity and administration of estrogen pellets to ovariectomized female mice changed body fat distribution to resemble that of intact female mice (337). Progesterone and androgen receptors are also expressed in adipose tissues, where ERs and PRs expression is higher in subcutaneous fat (338) and visceral adipose tissue has higher AR expression (339). Deletion of AR expression in murine adipose tissue increased subcutaneous fat and hyperleptinemia and increased estrogen levels in adipose tissue (340). Post-menopausal women have a greater risk of developing obesity-associated health complications compared to women of reproductive age (335), thus it likely that the emergence of this late-onset obese asthma phenotype may coincide with menopause in women. Th European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECHRS 1) determined that asthma risk was increased in lean women taking hormone replacement therapy (HRT), but no difference in asthma risk was observed in pre-menopausal and post-menopausal women not taking HRT (202). In a second ECHRS trial, women who were in menopause transition, head lower lung function and increased asthma exacerbations compared to post-menopausal women (203). These studies demonstrate the role of fluctuating levels of sex hormones asthma exacerbations, but more studies are needed to

determine if the development of this late onset obese-asthma phenotype is related to menopause transition in women or factors and mechanisms associated with adiposity.

6.2.8 Use of Asthma Biologics in Men and Women with Asthma

Current asthma therapies, including corticosteroids, are very effective for asthmatics with mild/moderate symptoms, however patients with more severe asthma phenotypes are less responsive to corticosteroids (3). Therefore, development of novel therapeutics for individuals with uncontrolled severe asthma is urgently needed. Given the important roles of type 2 cytokines and IL-17A in mediating eosinophilic and neutrophilic mediated airway inflammatory responses, these cytokines have been heavily targeted as therapeutic targets for patients with severe asthma. Some patients with severe asthma are highly responsive to these anti-inflammatory pharmacotherapies, including monoclonal therapies like omalizumab for neutralization of IgE, dupilumab, for inhibition of both type 2 and IL-13 signaling and various IL-5/ IL-5 receptor monoclonal therapies (100).

Our studies suggest that sex hormone-mediated differences in allergic type 2 and nontype mediated airway inflammation may have implications for the design of clinical trials in patients with asthma. In chapter 3, we showed that ovarian hormone signaling in females increased type 2 cytokine expression and increased serum IgE levels compared to males. Conversely, our data showed that testosterone decreased type 2 cytokine expression and IgE levels, thus it likely that men with low testosterone levels may require the same dose of these biologics administered to women. Other factors to include in the use of these biologics for women and men with asthma is the increased prevalence of obese-asthma in women. Obesity is associated with increased neutrophilic mediated inflammation (341), and we have previously

shown that female mice have increased Th17-cell mediated airway inflammation compared to male mice (18). Therefore, women with obese-asthma may be less responsive to these biologics compared to lean women because of increased neutrophilic airway inflammation.

Patients with severe asthma may have airway inflammation mediated by both type 2 and non-type 2 cytokines, including IL-17A and IFNy and are more resistant to corticosteroids (342). Efforts to identify potential therapeutic strategies for patients with these inflammatory signatures should focus on understanding the reciprocal crosstalk that has been identified between the type 2 and IL-17A inflammatory pathways. Our group reported that human and mouse Th17 cells express a functional IL-13 receptor (IL-13R) and that recombinant IL-13 treatment of naïve CD4 T cells at the time of Th17 cell differentiation attenuated IL-17A and IL-22 protein expression vi an IL-10 dependent manner (255, 256, 343). Furthermore, other groups have also reported that compared to primary human epithelial cells treated with IL-13 alone, those exposed to both IL-13 and IL-17A had increased IL-13-induced gene expression and increased STAT6 activation (163). Combined these studies suggests reciprocal interplay between the type 2 and IL-17A inflammatory pathways, where type 2 cytokines inhibit IL-17A expression but IL-17A boosts type 2 cytokine-mediated inflammatory responses. As anti-IL-4R therapy, dupilumab, is known to inhibit IL-4 and IL-13 signaling. Future clinical trials for patients with persistent mixed eosinophilic and neutrophilic mediated asthma should assess the efficacy of administrating dupilumab plus an anti-IL-17A and/or an anti-CXCL8 antibody. This clinical approach would assess the role of dual inhibition of type 2 cytokines and IL-17A on dual type 2 and IL-17A-mediated airway inflammation.

6.2.9 Implications for Patients with Steroid Resistant Asthma

Neutrophilic and mixed eosinophilc and neutrophilic-mediated airway inflammation is associated refractory severe asthma. Corticosteroids, including glucocorticoids are known to inhibit Th2 cells and eosinophilic-mediate airway inflammation it but Th17 cells and neutrophils are resistant to glucocorticoids treatment. (161, 73, 344). Given that Th17 cells production of IL-17A contributes to neutrophilic-mediated airway inflammation and IL-17A production is increased in women with severe asthma compared to men with severe asthma, it is possible that sex hormone signaling may modulate glucocorticoid resistance in Th17 cells. Glucocorticoids, suppress inflammation by via glucocorticoid receptor (GR)-mediated cell death (345), and a sexual dysmorphism in GR expression exists in men and women. MFI expression of GR is increased in CD3+ T cells, CD14+ monocytes, and CD16+ granulocytes from healthy men compared to healthy women. Furthermore, serum testosterone levels were significantly correlated with GR expression in CD4 T cells and NK cells (346). In chapter 4, we found that AR mRNA levels were significantly increased in differentiated Th17 cells from male mice compared to Th17 cells from female mice. Based on these findings, it is likely that GR activation, following corticosteroid treatment may promote AR expression in Th17 cells, leading to decreased IL-17A protein expression in males compared to females. Since GR and AR are increased in CDT cells from males compared to females, it is likely that glucocorticoid stimulation promotes increased AR activation in Th17 cells from male mice compared to Th17 cells from female mice, leading to increased glucocorticoid-resistance in Th17 cells from female mice.

6.2.10 Implications for the use of Androgens in Asthma

The immunosuppressive effects of testosterone and proinflammatory effects of female sex hormones potentially have therapeutics implications for patients with type 2 and IL-17A mediated airway inflammation. Androgens with anti-inflammatory effects but non-virilizing properties may potentially serve as therapeutics options for pre-pubescent boys and women with severe asthma. Adrenal androgens, including dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), are produced both females and males have non-virilizing properties. A phase IIa clinical trial showed that inhalation of dehydroepiandrosterone-3-sulfate (DHEAS) to females with moderate-severe asthma, improved their asthma control scores and trended for improved proportions of symptomfree days and nights (271). The utilization of non-virilizing in other Th17-associated diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) has been tested in small clinical trials. In a study of 50 female patients with mild-moderate SLE treated with DHEA daily, women reported decreased disease activity after 6 months-one year (347). Only 34 women completed the trial, where acneiform dermatitis was sites as the most common reason for discontinuing therapy (347). Similarly, therapeutic that aim to interfere female sex hormone actions at a level that would not be detrimental general activity elsewhere in the body are potential therapeutic targets for women. Currently the FDA approved ER α/β antagonist tamoxifen is utilized for the treatment of ER+ breast cancer, thus the development of lung tissue specific ER antagonists in asthma could be potential therapeutic option for women (348).

An alternative therapeutic approach is gender-specific asthma therapies for women with severe asthma and for men with low-testosterone levels. Clinical data shows that men with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) with low testosterone levels have increased disease severity compared to men with normal serum testosterone levels (349). Clinical studies showed that testosterone
replacement therapy in these patients increased numbers of CD8 T cells, decreased IgM rheumatoid factor, and decreased the number of affected joints and lowered usage of anti-inflammatory therapeutics (349). Studies further show that men with other autoimmune diseases including SLE, Sjogren's syndrome and Klinefelter's syndrome go into clinical remission after undergoing testosterone replacement therapy (350). More studies in patients with asthma are needed to further evaluate a potential protective role for testosterone as well as provide further understanding of the mechanisms driving the sex bias in asthma prevalence.

6.3 Closing

This dissertation work demonstrates the underlying mechanisms by which testosterone and ovarian hormones, including estrogen, regulate type 2 and IL-17A mediated airway inflammation and Th17 cell differentiation. These studies showed that testosterone signaling through AR was important for attenuating airway inflammation by decreasing cell numbers of pro-inflammatory Th2 and Th17 cells, suggesting that higher testosterone level in males potentially has a protective role in severe asthma. In contrast, estrogen signaling through ERα increased IL-17A protein expression in Th17 cells by increasing IL-23R surface expression, suggesting that high estrogen levels in females with severe asthma may promote IL-17A production in Th17 cells and potentially increase the prevalence of steroid resistant Th17-cell mediated severe asthma in females compared to males. Our findings are important in that they can inform clinical trials to personalize asthma therapeutics strategies for patients with asthma including women menstruating and menopausal women, men with low testosterone levels. Moreover, our findings will provide the foundational mechanisms required for potential future clinical trials focused on assessing the protective role of testosterone in patients with asthma.

138

References

- 1. Loftus, P. A., and S. K. Wise. 2016. Epidemiology of asthma. *Current Opinion in Otolaryngology & Head and Neck Surgery* 24: 245-249.
- 2. Peters, S. P., and W. W. Busse. 2017. New and Anticipated Therapies for Severe Asthma. *The journal of allergy and clinical immunology. In practice* 5: S15-s24.
- 3. Ray, A., M. Raundhal, T. B. Oriss, P. Ray, and S. E. Wenzel. 2016. Current concepts of severe asthma. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 126: 2394-2403.
- 4. Carey, M. A., J. W. Card, J. W. Voltz, S. J. Arbes, Jr., D. R. Germolec, K. S. Korach, and D. C. Zeldin. 2007. It's all about sex: gender, lung development and lung disease. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 18: 308-313.
- 5. Carey, M. A., J. W. Card, J. W. Voltz, D. R. Germolec, K. S. Korach, and D. C. Zeldin. 2007. The impact of sex and sex hormones on lung physiology and disease: lessons from animal studies. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 293: L272-278.
- 6. Wenzel, S. E., and W. W. Busse. 2007. Severe asthma: lessons from the Severe Asthma Research Program. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 119: 14-21; quiz 22-13.
- 7. Wu, W., E. Bleecker, W. Moore, W. W. Busse, M. Castro, K. F. Chung, W. J. Calhoun, S. Erzurum, B. Gaston, E. Israel, D. Curran-Everett, and S. E. Wenzel. 2014. Unsupervised phenotyping of Severe Asthma Research Program participants using expanded lung data. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 133: 1280-1288.
- 8. Wenzel, S. E. 2006. Asthma: defining of the persistent adult phenotypes. *Lancet* 368: 804-813.
- Lötvall, J., C. A. Akdis, L. B. Bacharier, L. Bjermer, T. B. Casale, A. Custovic, R. F. Lemanske, A. J. Wardlaw, S. E. Wenzel, and P. A. Greenberger. 2011. Asthma endotypes: A new approach to classification of disease entities within the asthma syndrome. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 127: 355-360.
- Molet, S., Q. Hamid, F. Davoine, E. Nutku, R. Taha, N. Page, R. Olivenstein, J. Elias, and J. Chakir. 2001. IL-17 is increased in asthmatic airways and induces human bronchial fibroblasts to produce cytokines. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 108: 430-438.
- 11. Schatz, M., and C. A. Camargo, Jr. 2003. The relationship of sex to asthma prevalence, health care utilization, and medications in a large managed care organization. *Annals of allergy, asthma & immunology : official publication of the American College of Allergy, Asthma, & Immunology* 91: 553-558.
- 12. Skobeloff, E. M., W. H. Spivey, S. S. St Clair, and J. M. Schoffstall. 1992. The influence of age and sex on asthma admissions. *Jama* 268: 3437-3440.
- 13. Temprano, J., and D. M. Mannino. 2009. The effect of sex on asthma control from the National Asthma Survey. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 123: 854-860.
- Blacquière, M. J., M. N. Hylkema, D. S. Postma, M. Geerlings, W. Timens, and B. N. Melgert.
 2010. Airway Inflammation and Remodeling in Two Mouse Models of Asthma: Comparison of Males and Females. *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology* 153: 173-181.
- Card, J. W., M. A. Carey, J. A. Bradbury, L. M. DeGraff, D. L. Morgan, M. P. Moorman, G. P. Flake, and D. C. Zeldin. 2006. Gender Differences in Murine Airway Responsiveness and Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 177: 621-630.
- Card, J. W., J. W. Voltz, C. D. Ferguson, M. A. Carey, L. M. DeGraff, S. D. Peddada, D. L. Morgan, and D. C. Zeldin. 2007. Male sex hormones promote vagally mediated reflex airway responsiveness to cholinergic stimulation. *American Journal of Physiology - Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 292: L908.
- 17. Hayashi, T., Y. Adachi, K. Hasegawa, and M. Morimoto. 2003. Less sensitivity for late airway

inflammation in males than females in BALB/c mice. Scand J Immunol 57: 562-567.

- Newcomb, D. C., J. Y. Cephus, M. G. Boswell, J. M. Fahrenholz, E. W. Langley, A. S. Feldman, W. Zhou, D. E. Dulek, K. Goleniewska, K. B. Woodward, C. M. Sevin, R. G. Hamilton, J. K. Kolls, and R. S. Peebles, Jr. 2015. Estrogen and progesterone decrease let-7f microRNA expression and increase IL-23/IL-23 receptor signaling and IL-17A production in patients with severe asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 136: 1025-1034 e1011.
- 19. Riffo-Vasquez, Y., A. P. Ligeiro de Oliveira, C. P. Page, D. Spina, and W. Tavares-de-Lima. 2007. Role of sex hormones in allergic inflammation in mice. *Clinical and experimental allergy : journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 37: 459-470.
- 20. Trejo Bittar, H. E., S. A. Yousem, and S. E. Wenzel. 2015. Pathobiology of severe asthma. *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease* 10: 511-545.
- 21. Kudo, M., Y. Ishigatsubo, and I. Aoki. 2013. Pathology of asthma. *Frontiers in microbiology* 4: 263-263.
- 22. Phipatanakul, W., D. T. Mauger, R. L. Sorkness, J. M. Gaffin, F. Holguin, P. G. Woodruff, N. P. Ly, L. B. Bacharier, N. R. Bhakta, W. C. Moore, E. R. Bleecker, A. T. Hastie, D. A. Meyers, M. Castro, J. V. Fahy, A. M. Fitzpatrick, B. M. Gaston, N. N. Jarjour, B. D. Levy, S. P. Peters, W. G. Teague, M. Fajt, S. E. Wenzel, S. C. Erzurum, and E. Israel. 2017. Effects of Age and Disease Severity on Systemic Corticosteroid Responses in Asthma. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 195: 1439-1448.
- Chung, K. F., S. E. Wenzel, J. L. Brozek, A. Bush, M. Castro, P. J. Sterk, I. M. Adcock, E. D. Bateman, E. H. Bel, E. R. Bleecker, L.-P. Boulet, C. Brightling, P. Chanez, S.-E. Dahlen, R. Djukanovic, U. Frey, M. Gaga, P. Gibson, Q. Hamid, N. N. Jajour, T. Mauad, R. L. Sorkness, and W. G. Teague. 2014. International ERS/ATS guidelines on definition, evaluation and treatment of severe asthma. *European Respiratory Journal* 43: 343-373.
- 24. Siddiqui, S., S. Gonem, and A. J. Wardlaw. 2012. Advances in the management of severe asthma. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med* 33: 666-684.
- 25. Borish, L., and J. A. Culp. 2008. Asthma: a syndrome composed of heterogeneous diseases. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology* 101: 1-9.
- 26. Abramson, M. J., R. M. Puy, and J. M. Weiner. 2003. Allergen immunotherapy for asthma. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*: Cd001186.
- Corren, J., R. F. Lemanske, N. A. Hanania, P. E. Korenblat, M. V. Parsey, J. R. Arron, J. M. Harris, H. Scheerens, L. C. Wu, Z. Su, S. Mosesova, M. D. Eisner, S. P. Bohen, and J. G. Matthews. 2011. Lebrikizumab treatment in adults with asthma. *The New England journal of medicine* 365: 1088-1098.
- 28. Tan, R., and J. Corren. 2011. Omalizumab in the treatment of asthma. *Expert review of respiratory medicine* 5: 747-756.
- 29. Corren, J. 2013. Asthma phenotypes and endotypes: an evolving paradigm for classification. *Discovery medicine* 15: 243-249.
- 30. Haldar, P., I. D. Pavord, D. E. Shaw, M. A. Berry, M. Thomas, C. E. Brightling, A. J. Wardlaw, and R. H. Green. 2008. Cluster analysis and clinical asthma phenotypes. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 178: 218-224.
- Siroux, V., X. Basagana, A. Boudier, I. Pin, J. Garcia-Aymerich, A. Vesin, R. Slama, D. Jarvis, J. M. Anto, F. Kauffmann, and J. Sunyer. 2011. Identifying adult asthma phenotypes using a clustering approach. *The European respiratory journal* 38: 310-317.
- 32. Moore, W. C., D. A. Meyers, S. E. Wenzel, W. G. Teague, H. Li, X. Li, R. D'Agostino, M. Castro, D. Curran-Everett, A. M. Fitzpatrick, B. Gaston, N. N. Jarjour, R. Sorkness, W. J. Calhoun, K. F. Chung, S. A. A. Comhair, R. A. Dweik, E. Israel, S. P. Peters, W. W. Busse, S. C. Erzurum, and E. R. Bleecker. 2010. Identification of Asthma Phenotypes Using Cluster Analysis in the Severe Asthma Research Program. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 181: 315-323.
- 33. Wenzel, S. E., L. B. Schwartz, E. L. Langmack, J. L. Halliday, J. B. Trudeau, R. L. Gibbs, and H.

W. Chu. 1999. Evidence that severe asthma can be divided pathologically into two inflammatory subtypes with distinct physiologic and clinical characteristics. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 160: 1001-1008.

- 34. Fahy, J. V. 2009. Eosinophilic and neutrophilic inflammation in asthma: insights from clinical studies. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* 6: 256-259.
- 35. Fahy, J. V. 2015. Type 2 inflammation in asthma--present in most, absent in many. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 15: 57-65.
- 36. Fajt, M. L., and S. E. Wenzel. 2015. Asthma phenotypes and the use of biologic medications in asthma and allergic disease: The next steps toward personalized care. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 135: 299-310.
- 37. Manni, M. L., J. B. Trudeau, E. V. Scheller, S. Mandalapu, M. M. Elloso, J. K. Kolls, S. E. Wenzel, and J. F. Alcorn. 2014. The complex relationship between inflammation and lung function in severe asthma. *Mucosal Immunol* 7: 1186-1198.
- 38. Holt, P. G., D. H. Strickland, M. E. Wikstrom, and F. L. Jahnsen. 2008. Regulation of immunological homeostasis in the respiratory tract. *Nat Rev Immunol* 8: 142-152.
- 39. Georas, S. N., and F. Rezaee. 2014. Epithelial barrier function: at the front line of asthma immunology and allergic airway inflammation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 134: 509-520.
- 40. Gon, Y., and S. Hashimoto. 2018. Role of airway epithelial barrier dysfunction in pathogenesis of asthma. *Allergology international : official journal of the Japanese Society of Allergology* 67: 12-17.
- 41. Ryu, J. H., C. H. Kim, and J. H. Yoon. 2010. Innate immune responses of the airway epithelium. *Molecules and cells* 30: 173-183.
- 42. Gour, N., and M. Wills-Karp. 2015. IL-4 and IL-13 signaling in allergic airway disease. *Cytokine* 75: 68-78.
- 43. Varricchi, G., and G. W. Canonica. 2016. The role of interleukin 5 in asthma. *Expert review of clinical immunology* 12: 903-905.
- 44. Wills-Karp, M. 2004. Interleukin-13 in asthma pathogenesis. *Immunological Reviews* 202: 175-190.
- 45. Wills-Karp, M., J. Luyimbazi, X. Xu, B. Schofield, T. Y. Neben, C. L. Karp, and D. D. Donaldson. 1998. Interleukin-13: central mediator of allergic asthma. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 282: 2258-2261.
- 46. Tabatabaian, F., D. K. Ledford, and T. B. Casale. 2017. Biologic and New Therapies in Asthma. *Immunology and Allergy Clinics* 37: 329-343.
- 47. Tecchio, C., and M. A. Cassatella. 2016. Neutrophil-derived chemokines on the road to immunity. *Seminars in Immunology* 28: 119-128.
- 48. Newcomb, D. C., M. G. Boswell, S. Reiss, W. Zhou, K. Goleniewska, S. Toki, M. T. Harintho, N. W. Lukacs, J. K. Kolls, and R. S. Peebles, Jr. 2013. IL-17A inhibits airway reactivity induced by respiratory syncytial virus infection during allergic airway inflammation. *Thorax* 68: 717-723.
- 49. Newcomb, D. C., and R. S. Peebles, Jr. 2013. Th17-mediated inflammation in asthma. *Current opinion in immunology* 25: 755-760.
- 50. Kicic, A., T. S. Hallstrand, E. N. Sutanto, P. T. Stevens, M. S. Kobor, C. Taplin, P. D. Pare, R. P. Beyer, S. M. Stick, and D. A. Knight. 2010. Decreased fibronectin production significantly contributes to dysregulated repair of asthmatic epithelium. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 181: 889-898.
- 51. Lambrecht, B. N., and H. Hammad. 2003. Taking our breath away: dendritic cells in the pathogenesis of asthma. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3: 994-1003.
- 52. Lloyd, C. M., and E. M. Hessel. 2010. Functions of T cells in asthma: more than just T(H)2 cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* 10: 838-848.
- 53. Oettgen, H. C., and R. S. Geha. 2001. IgE regulation and roles in asthma pathogenesis. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 107: 429-441.
- 54. Andersson, C., E. Tufvesson, Z. Diamant, and L. Bjermer. 2016. Revisiting the role of the mast

cell in asthma. Current opinion in pulmonary medicine 22: 10-17.

- 55. Locksley, R. M. 2010. Asthma and Allergic Inflammation. *Cell* 140: 777-783.
- 56. Wenzel, S. E., S. Balzar, E. Ampleford, G. A. Hawkins, W. W. Busse, W. J. Calhoun, M. Castro, K. F. Chung, S. Erzurum, B. Gaston, E. Israel, W. G. Teague, D. Curran-Everett, D. A. Meyers, and E. R. Bleecker. 2007. IL4R alpha mutations are associated with asthma exacerbations and mast cell/IgE expression. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 175: 570-576.
- 57. Presta, L., R. Shields, L. O'Connell, S. Lahr, J. Porter, C. Gorman, and P. Jardieu. 1994. The binding site on human immunoglobulin E for its high affinity receptor. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 269: 26368-26373.
- 58. Busse, W., J. Corren, B. Q. Lanier, M. McAlary, A. Fowler-Taylor, G. D. Cioppa, A. van As, and N. Gupta. 2001. Omalizumab, anti-IgE recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody, for the treatment of severe allergic asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 108: 184-190.
- 59. Soler, M., J. Matz, R. Townley, R. Buhl, J. O'Brien, H. Fox, J. Thirlwell, N. Gupta, and G. Della Cioppa. 2001. The anti-IgE antibody omalizumab reduces exacerbations and steroid requirement in allergic asthmatics. *The European respiratory journal* 18: 254-261.
- 60. Abonia, J. P., and P. E. Putnam. 2011. Mepolizumab in eosinophilic disorders. *Expert review of clinical immunology* 7: 411-417.
- 61. Flood-Page, P., C. Swenson, I. Faiferman, J. Matthews, M. Williams, L. Brannick, D. Robinson, S. Wenzel, W. Busse, T. T. Hansel, and N. C. Barnes. 2007. A study to evaluate safety and efficacy of mepolizumab in patients with moderate persistent asthma. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 176: 1062-1071.
- 62. Haldar, P., C. E. Brightling, B. Hargadon, S. Gupta, W. Monteiro, A. Sousa, R. P. Marshall, P. Bradding, R. H. Green, A. J. Wardlaw, and I. D. Pavord. 2009. Mepolizumab and exacerbations of refractory eosinophilic asthma. *The New England journal of medicine* 360: 973-984.
- 63. Castro, M., J. Zangrilli, M. E. Wechsler, E. D. Bateman, G. G. Brusselle, P. Bardin, K. Murphy, J. F. Maspero, C. O'Brien, and S. Korn. 2015. Reslizumab for inadequately controlled asthma with elevated blood eosinophil counts: results from two multicentre, parallel, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trials. *The Lancet. Respiratory medicine* 3: 355-366.
- 64. Tabata, Y., and G. K. Khurana Hershey. 2007. IL-13 receptor isoforms: breaking through the complexity. *Current allergy and asthma reports* 7: 338-345.
- 65. Wenzel, S., L. Ford, D. Pearlman, S. Spector, L. Sher, F. Skobieranda, L. Wang, S. Kirkesseli, R. Rocklin, B. Bock, J. Hamilton, J. E. Ming, A. Radin, N. Stahl, G. D. Yancopoulos, N. Graham, and G. Pirozzi. 2013. Dupilumab in persistent asthma with elevated eosinophil levels. *The New England journal of medicine* 368: 2455-2466.
- 66. Brightling, C. E., P. Chanez, R. Leigh, P. M. O'Byrne, S. Korn, D. She, R. D. May, K. Streicher, K. Ranade, and E. Piper. 2015. Efficacy and safety of tralokinumab in patients with severe uncontrolled asthma: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2b trial. *The Lancet. Respiratory medicine* 3: 692-701.
- 67. Woodruff, P. G., H. A. Boushey, G. M. Dolganov, C. S. Barker, Y. H. Yang, S. Donnelly, A. Ellwanger, S. S. Sidhu, T. P. Dao-Pick, C. Pantoja, D. J. Erle, K. R. Yamamoto, and J. V. Fahy. 2007. Genome-wide profiling identifies epithelial cell genes associated with asthma and with treatment response to corticosteroids. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104: 15858-15863.
- Al-Ramli, W., D. Préfontaine, F. Chouiali, J. G. Martin, R. Olivenstein, C. Lemière, and Q. Hamid. 2009. T_H17-associated cytokines (IL-17A and IL-17F) in severe asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 123: 1185-1187.
- 69. Chen, Y., P. Thai, Y. H. Zhao, Y. S. Ho, M. M. DeSouza, and R. Wu. 2003. Stimulation of airway mucin gene expression by interleukin (IL)-17 through IL-6 paracrine/autocrine loop. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 278: 17036-17043.
- 70. Fujisawa, T., S. Velichko, P. Thai, L. Y. Hung, F. Huang, and R. Wu. 2009. Regulation of airway MUC5AC expression by IL-1beta and IL-17A; the NF-kappaB paradigm. *Journal of immunology*

(Baltimore, Md.: 1950) 183: 6236-6243.

- 71. Bellini, A., M. A. Marini, L. Bianchetti, M. Barczyk, M. Schmidt, and S. Mattoli. 2011. Interleukin (IL)-4, IL-13, and IL-17A differentially affect the profibrotic and proinflammatory functions of fibrocytes from asthmatic patients. *Mucosal Immunology* 5: 140.
- 72. Barnes, P. J. 2015. Therapeutic approaches to asthma-chronic obstructive pulmonary disease overlap syndromes. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 136: 531-545.
- 73. McKinley, L., J. F. Alcorn, A. Peterson, R. B. Dupont, S. Kapadia, A. Logar, A. Henry, C. G. Irvin, J. D. Piganelli, A. Ray, and J. K. Kolls. 2008. TH17 cells mediate steroid-resistant airway inflammation and airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 181: 4089-4097.
- 74. Arash, S. S., A. Heather, and S. G. Abdelilah. 2011. The Molecular Mechanisms of Glucocorticoids-Mediated Neutrophil Survival. *Current Drug Targets* 12: 556-562.
- 75. Busse, W. W., S. Holgate, E. Kerwin, Y. Chon, J. Feng, J. Lin, and S. L. Lin. 2013. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of brodalumab, a human anti-IL-17 receptor monoclonal antibody, in moderate to severe asthma. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 188: 1294-1302.
- 76. Lawrence, M. G., J. W. Steinke, and L. Borish. 2018. Cytokine-targeting biologics for allergic diseases. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology* 120: 376-381.
- 77. Shannon, J., P. Ernst, Y. Yamauchi, R. Olivenstein, C. Lemiere, S. Foley, L. Cicora, M. Ludwig, Q. Hamid, and J. G. Martin. 2008. Differences in airway cytokine profile in severe asthma compared to moderate asthma. *Chest* 133: 420-426.
- 78. Truyen, E., L. Coteur, E. Dilissen, L. Overbergh, L. J. Dupont, J. L. Ceuppens, and D. M. Bullens. 2006. Evaluation of airway inflammation by quantitative Th1/Th2 cytokine mRNA measurement in sputum of asthma patients. *Thorax* 61: 202-208.
- Li, X., G. A. Hawkins, E. J. Ampleford, W. C. Moore, H. Li, A. T. Hastie, T. D. Howard, H. A. Boushey, W. W. Busse, W. J. Calhoun, M. Castro, S. C. Erzurum, E. Israel, R. F. Lemanske, Jr., S. J. Szefler, S. I. Wasserman, S. E. Wenzel, S. P. Peters, D. A. Meyers, and E. R. Bleecker. 2013. Genome-wide association study identifies TH1 pathway genes associated with lung function in asthmatic patients. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 132: 313-320.e315.
- 80. Modena, B. D., J. R. Tedrow, J. Milosevic, E. R. Bleecker, D. A. Meyers, W. Wu, Z. Bar-Joseph, S. C. Erzurum, B. M. Gaston, W. W. Busse, N. N. Jarjour, N. Kaminski, and S. E. Wenzel. 2014. Gene expression in relation to exhaled nitric oxide identifies novel asthma phenotypes with unique biomolecular pathways. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 190: 1363-1372.
- 81. Raundhal, M., C. Morse, A. Khare, T. B. Oriss, J. Milosevic, J. Trudeau, R. Huff, J. Pilewski, F. Holguin, J. Kolls, S. Wenzel, P. Ray, and A. Ray. 2015. High IFN-gamma and low SLPI mark severe asthma in mice and humans. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 125: 3037-3050.
- 82. Bachert, C., P. Gevaert, P. Howarth, G. Holtappels, P. van Cauwenberge, and S. G. O. Johansson. 2003. IgE to Staphylococcus aureus enterotoxins in serum is related to severity of asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 111: 1131-1132.
- 83. Dahlberg, P. E., and W. W. Busse. 2009. Is intrinsic asthma synonymous with infection? *Clinical and experimental allergy : journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 39: 1324-1329.
- 84. Burdette, D. L., K. M. Monroe, K. Sotelo-Troha, J. S. Iwig, B. Eckert, M. Hyodo, Y. Hayakawa, and R. E. Vance. 2011. STING is a direct innate immune sensor of cyclic di-GMP. *Nature* 478: 515-518.
- 85. Ebensen, T., K. Schulze, P. Riese, C. Link, M. Morr, and C. A. Guzman. 2007. The bacterial second messenger cyclic diGMP exhibits potent adjuvant properties. *Vaccine* 25: 1464-1469.
- 86. Hayashi, N., T. Yoshimoto, K. Izuhara, K. Matsui, T. Tanaka, and K. Nakanishi. 2007. T helper 1 cells stimulated with ovalbumin and IL-18 induce airway hyperresponsiveness and lung fibrosis by IFN-gamma and IL-13 production. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the*

United States of America 104: 14765-14770.

- 87. Zabieglo, K., P. Majewski, M. Majchrzak-Gorecka, A. Wlodarczyk, B. Grygier, A. Zegar, M. Kapinska-Mrowiecka, A. Naskalska, K. Pyrc, A. Dubin, S. M. Wahl, and J. Cichy. 2015. The inhibitory effect of secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI) on formation of neutrophil extracellular traps. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 98: 99-106.
- 88. Ling, M. F., and A. D. Luster. 2016. Allergen-Specific CD4(+) T Cells in Human Asthma. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 13 Suppl 1: S25-S30.
- 89. Gill, J., M. Malin, J. Sutherland, D. Gray, G. Hollander, and R. Boyd. 2003. Thymic generation and regeneration. *Immunological Reviews* 195: 28-50.
- 90. Klein, L., M. Hinterberger, G. Wirnsberger, and B. Kyewski. 2009. Antigen presentation in the thymus for positive selection and central tolerance induction. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 9: 833.
- 91. Takahama, Y. 2006. Journey through the thymus: stromal guides for T-cell development and selection. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 6: 127.
- 92. Daniels, M. A., E. Teixeiro, J. Gill, B. Hausmann, D. Roubaty, K. Holmberg, G. Werlen, G. A. Holländer, N. R. J. Gascoigne, and E. Palmer. 2006. Thymic selection threshold defined by compartmentalization of Ras/MAPK signalling. *Nature* 444: 724.
- 93. Drayton, D. L., S. Liao, R. H. Mounzer, and N. H. Ruddle. 2006. Lymphoid organ development: from ontogeny to neogenesis. *Nature Immunology* 7: 344.
- Bagar, T. N., and S. D. Miller. 2019. 16 Helper T-Cell Subsets and Control of the Inflammatory Response. In *Clinical Immunology (Fifth Edition)*. R. R. Rich, T. A. Fleisher, W. T. Shearer, H. W. Schroeder, A. J. Frew, and C. M. Weyand, eds. Content Repository Only!, London. 235-245.e231.
- 95. Glimcher, L. H., and K. M. Murphy. 2000. Lineage commitment in the immune system: the T helper lymphocyte grows up. *Genes & development* 14: 1693-1711.
- 96. Kaplan, M. H., U. Schindler, S. T. Smiley, and M. J. Grusby. 1996. Stat6 Is Required for Mediating Responses to IL-4 and for the Development of Th2 Cells. *Immunity* 4: 313-319.
- 97. Humbert, M., S. R. Durham, S. Ying, P. Kimmitt, J. Barkans, B. Assoufi, R. Pfister, G. Menz, D. S. Robinson, A. B. Kay, and C. J. Corrigan. 1996. IL-4 and IL-5 mRNA and protein in bronchial biopsies from patients with atopic and nonatopic asthma: evidence against "intrinsic" asthma being a distinct immunopathologic entity. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 154: 1497-1504.
- 98. Robinson, D., Q. Hamid, A. Bentley, S. Ying, A. B. Kay, and S. R. Durham. 1993. Activation of CD4+ T cells, increased TH2-type cytokine mRNA expression, and eosinophil recruitment in bronchoalveolar lavage after allergen inhalation challenge in patients with atopic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 92: 313-324.
- Robinson, D. S., Q. Hamid, S. Ying, A. Tsicopoulos, J. Barkans, A. M. Bentley, C. Corrigan, S. R. Durham, and A. B. Kay. 1992. Predominant TH2-like bronchoalveolar T-lymphocyte population in atopic asthma. *The New England journal of medicine* 326: 298-304.
- 100. Rubinsztajn, R., and R. Chazan. 2016. Monoclonal Antibodies for the Management of Severe Asthma. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology* 935: 35-42.
- 101. Zhu, J. 2015. T helper 2 (Th2) cell differentiation, type 2 innate lymphoid cell (ILC2) development and regulation of interleukin-4 (IL-4) and IL-13 production. *Cytokine* 75: 14-24.
- 102. Nakamura, Y., O. Ghaffar, R. Olivenstein, R. A. Taha, A. Soussi-Gounni, D. H. Zhang, A. Ray, and Q. Hamid. 1999. Gene expression of the GATA-3 transcription factor is increased in atopic asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 103: 215-222.
- 103. Zhang, D. H., L. Yang, L. Cohn, L. Parkyn, R. Homer, P. Ray, and A. Ray. 1999. Inhibition of allergic inflammation in a murine model of asthma by expression of a dominant-negative mutant of GATA-3. *Immunity* 11: 473-482.
- 104. Shimbara, A., P. Christodoulopoulos, A. Soussi-Gounni, R. Olivenstein, Y. Nakamura, R. C. Levitt, N. C. Nicolaides, K. J. Holroyd, A. Tsicopoulos, J. J. Lafitte, B. Wallaert, and Q. A. Hamid. 2000. IL-9 and its receptor in allergic and nonallergic lung disease: increased expression

in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 105: 108-115.

- 105. Van Snick, J., A. Goethals, J. C. Renauld, E. Van Roost, C. Uyttenhove, M. R. Rubira, R. L. Moritz, and R. J. Simpson. 1989. Cloning and characterization of a cDNA for a new mouse T cell growth factor (P40). *The Journal of experimental medicine* 169: 363-368.
- 106. Soroosh, P., and T. A. Doherty. 2009. Th9 and allergic disease. *Immunology* 127: 450-458.
- 107. Meylan, F., and R. M. Siegel. 2017. TNF superfamily cytokines in the promotion of Th9 differentiation and immunopathology. *Seminars in immunopathology* 39: 21-28.
- 108. Gomez-Rodriguez, J., F. Meylan, R. Handon, E. T. Hayes, S. M. Anderson, M. R. Kirby, R. M. Siegel, and P. L. Schwartzberg. 2016. Itk is required for Th9 differentiation via TCR-mediated induction of IL-2 and IRF4. *Nature communications* 7: 10857.
- 109. Petit-Frere, C., B. Dugas, P. Braquet, and J. M. Mencia-Huerta. 1993. Interleukin-9 potentiates the interleukin-4-induced IgE and IgG1 release from murine B lymphocytes. *Immunology* 79: 146-151.
- 110. Schutze, N., S. Trojandt, S. Kuhn, J. M. Tomm, M. von Bergen, J. C. Simon, and T. Polte. 2016. Allergen-Induced IL-6 Regulates IL-9/IL-17A Balance in CD4+ T Cells in Allergic Airway Inflammation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 197: 2653-2664.
- Sehra, S., W. Yao, E. T. Nguyen, N. L. Glosson-Byers, N. Akhtar, B. Zhou, and M. H. Kaplan. 2015. TH9 cells are required for tissue mast cell accumulation during allergic inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 136: 433-440.e431.
- 112. Knudsen, T. B., S. F. Thomsen, H. Nolte, and V. Backer. 2009. A population-based clinical study of allergic and non-allergic asthma. *The Journal of asthma : official journal of the Association for the Care of Asthma* 46: 91-94.
- 113. Bernink, J. H., K. Germar, and H. Spits. 2014. The role of ILC2 in pathology of type 2 inflammatory diseases. *Current opinion in immunology* 31: 115-120.
- 114. Smith, S. G., R. Chen, M. Kjarsgaard, C. Huang, J. P. Oliveria, P. M. O'Byrne, G. M. Gauvreau, L. P. Boulet, C. Lemiere, J. Martin, P. Nair, and R. Sehmi. 2016. Increased numbers of activated group 2 innate lymphoid cells in the airways of patients with severe asthma and persistent airway eosinophilia. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 137: 75-86.e78.
- 115. Lloyd, C. M., and S. Saglani. 2015. Epithelial cytokines and pulmonary allergic inflammation. *Current opinion in immunology* 34: 52-58.
- 116. Jackson, D. J., H. Makrinioti, B. M. Rana, B. W. Shamji, M. B. Trujillo-Torralbo, J. Footitt, D.-R. Jerico, A. G. Telcian, A. Nikonova, J. Zhu, J. Aniscenko, L. Gogsadze, E. Bakhsoliani, S. Traub, J. Dhariwal, J. Porter, D. Hunt, T. Hunt, T. Hunt, L. A. Stanciu, M. Khaitov, N. W. Bartlett, M. R. Edwards, O. M. Kon, P. Mallia, N. G. Papadopoulos, C. A. Akdis, J. Westwick, M. J. Edwards, D. J. Cousins, R. P. Walton, and S. L. Johnston. 2014. IL-33-dependent type 2 inflammation during rhinovirus-induced asthma exacerbations in vivo. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 190: 1373-1382.
- 117. Al-Sajee, D., J. P. Oliveria, R. Sehmi, and G. M. Gauvreau. 2018. Antialarmins for treatment of asthma: future perspectives. *Current opinion in pulmonary medicine* 24: 32-41.
- 118. Halim, T. Y., C. A. Steer, L. Matha, M. J. Gold, I. Martinez-Gonzalez, K. M. McNagny, A. N. McKenzie, and F. Takei. 2014. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are critical for the initiation of adaptive T helper 2 cell-mediated allergic lung inflammation. *Immunity* 40: 425-435.
- 119. Trinchieri, G., S. Pflanz, and R. A. Kastelein. 2003. The IL-12 Family of Heterodimeric Cytokines: New Players in the Regulation of T Cell Responses. *Immunity* 19: 641-644.
- 120. Trinchieri, G., and A. Sher. 2007. Cooperation of Toll-like receptor signals in innate immune defence. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 7: 179.
- 121. Afkarian, M., J. R. Sedy, J. Yang, N. G. Jacobson, N. Cereb, S. Y. Yang, T. L. Murphy, and K. M. Murphy. 2002. T-bet is a STAT1-induced regulator of IL-12R expression in naive CD4+ T cells. *Nat Immunol* 3: 549-557.
- 122. Lugo-Villarino, G., R. Maldonado-López, R. Possemato, C. Peñaranda, and L. H. Glimcher. 2003. T-bet is required for optimal production of IFN-γ and antigen-specific T cell activation by

dendritic cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 100: 7749-7754.

- 123. Jackson, D. J., J. E. Gern, and R. F. Lemanske, Jr. 2016. The contributions of allergic sensitization and respiratory pathogens to asthma inception. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 137: 659-665; quiz 666.
- 124. Muehling, L. M., M. G. Lawrence, and J. A. Woodfolk. 2017. Pathogenic CD4+ T cells in patients with asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 140: 1523-1540.
- 125. Mehta, A. K., W. Duan, A. M. Doerner, S. L. Traves, D. H. Broide, D. Proud, B. L. Zuraw, and M. Croft. 2016. Rhinovirus infection interferes with induction of tolerance to aeroantigens through OX40 ligand, thymic stromal lymphopoietin, and IL-33. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 137: 278-288.e276.
- 126. Saravia, J., D. You, B. Shrestha, S. Jaligama, D. Siefker, G. I. Lee, J. N. Harding, T. L. Jones, C. Rovnaghi, B. Bagga, J. P. DeVincenzo, and S. A. Cormier. 2015. Respiratory Syncytial Virus Disease Is Mediated by Age-Variable IL-33. *PLoS pathogens* 11: e1005217.
- 127. Jackson, D. J., M. B. Trujillo-Torralbo, J. del-Rosario, N. W. Bartlett, M. R. Edwards, P. Mallia, R. P. Walton, and S. L. Johnston. 2015. The influence of asthma control on the severity of virusinduced asthma exacerbations. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 136: 497-500.e493.
- 128. Message, S. D., V. Laza-Stanca, P. Mallia, H. L. Parker, J. Zhu, T. Kebadze, M. Contoli, G. Sanderson, O. M. Kon, A. Papi, P. K. Jeffery, L. A. Stanciu, and S. L. Johnston. 2008. Rhinovirus-induced lower respiratory illness is increased in asthma and related to virus load and Th1/2 cytokine and IL-10 production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105: 13562-13567.
- 129. Henault, J., J. M. Riggs, J. L. Karnell, V. M. Liarski, J. Li, L. Shirinian, L. Xu, K. A. Casey, M. A. Smith, D. B. Khatry, L. Izhak, L. Clarke, R. Herbst, R. Ettinger, M. Petri, M. R. Clark, T. Mustelin, R. Kolbeck, and M. A. Sanjuan. 2016. Self-reactive IgE exacerbates interferon responses associated with autoimmunity. *Nat Immunol* 17: 196-203.
- 130. Teach, S. J., M. A. Gill, A. Togias, C. A. Sorkness, S. J. Arbes, Jr., A. Calatroni, J. J. Wildfire, P. J. Gergen, R. T. Cohen, J. A. Pongracic, C. M. Kercsmar, G. K. Khurana Hershey, R. S. Gruchalla, A. H. Liu, E. M. Zoratti, M. Kattan, K. A. Grindle, J. E. Gern, W. W. Busse, and S. J. Szefler. 2015. Preseasonal treatment with either omalizumab or an inhaled corticosteroid boost to prevent fall asthma exacerbations. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 136: 1476-1485.
- 131. Manel, N., D. Unutmaz, and D. R. Littman. 2008. The differentiation of human TH-17 cells requires transforming growth factor- β and induction of the nuclear receptor ROR γ t. *Nature Immunology* 9: 641.
- 132. Ivanov, I. I., B. S. McKenzie, L. Zhou, C. E. Tadokoro, A. Lepelley, J. J. Lafaille, D. J. Cua, and D. R. Littman. 2006. The Orphan Nuclear Receptor RORγt Directs the Differentiation Program of Proinflammatory IL-17+ T Helper Cells. *Cell* 126: 1121-1133.
- 133. McGeachy, M. J., Y. Chen, C. M. Tato, A. Laurence, B. Joyce-Shaikh, W. M. Blumenschein, T. K. McClanahan, J. J. O'Shea, and D. J. Cua. 2009. The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* 10: 314-324.
- 134. Veldhoen, M., R. J. Hocking, C. J. Atkins, R. M. Locksley, and B. Stockinger. 2006. TGFβ in the Context of an Inflammatory Cytokine Milieu Supports De Novo Differentiation of IL-17-Producing T Cells. *Immunity* 24: 179-189.
- 135. Alcorn, J. F., C. R. Crowe, and J. K. Kolls. 2010. TH17 cells in asthma and COPD. *Annual review of physiology* 72: 495-516.
- 136. Miossec, P., and J. K. Kolls. 2012. Targeting IL-17 and TH17 cells in chronic inflammation. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 11: 763-776.
- 137. Ano, S., Y. Morishima, Y. Ishii, K. Yoh, Y. Yageta, S. Ohtsuka, M. Matsuyama, M. Kawaguchi, S. Takahashi, and N. Hizawa. 2013. Transcription factors GATA-3 and RORgammat are important for determining the phenotype of allergic airway inflammation in a murine model of asthma. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 190: 1056-1065.
- 138. Hashimoto, K., B. S. Graham, S. B. Ho, K. B. Adler, R. D. Collins, S. J. Olson, W. Zhou, T.

Suzutani, P. W. Jones, K. Goleniewska, J. F. O'Neal, and R. S. Peebles, Jr. 2004. Respiratory syncytial virus in allergic lung inflammation increases Muc5ac and gob-5. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 170: 306-312.

- 139. Chang, Y., L. Al-Alwan, P. A. Risse, L. Roussel, S. Rousseau, A. J. Halayko, J. G. Martin, Q. Hamid, and D. H. Eidelman. 2011. TH17 cytokines induce human airway smooth muscle cell migration. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 127: 1046-1053.e1041-1042.
- 140. Chang, Y., L. Al-Alwan, P. A. Risse, A. J. Halayko, J. G. Martin, C. J. Baglole, D. H. Eidelman, and Q. Hamid. 2012. Th17-associated cytokines promote human airway smooth muscle cell proliferation. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* 26: 5152-5160.
- 141. Besnard, A. G., R. Sabat, L. Dumoutier, J. C. Renauld, M. Willart, B. Lambrecht, M. M. Teixeira, S. Charron, L. Fick, F. Erard, K. Warszawska, K. Wolk, V. Quesniaux, B. Ryffel, and D. Togbe. 2011. Dual Role of IL-22 in allergic airway inflammation and its cross-talk with IL-17A. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 183: 1153-1163.
- 142. Bellini, A., M. A. Marini, L. Bianchetti, M. Barczyk, M. Schmidt, and S. Mattoli. 2012. Interleukin (IL)-4, IL-13, and IL-17A differentially affect the profibrotic and proinflammatory functions of fibrocytes from asthmatic patients. *Mucosal Immunol* 5: 140-149.
- 143. Kudo, M., A. C. Melton, C. Chen, M. B. Engler, K. E. Huang, X. Ren, Y. Wang, X. Bernstein, J. T. Li, K. Atabai, X. Huang, and D. Sheppard. 2012. IL-17A produced by alphabeta T cells drives airway hyper-responsiveness in mice and enhances mouse and human airway smooth muscle contraction. *Nat Med* 18: 547-554.
- 144. Aujla, S. J., Y. R. Chan, M. Zheng, M. Fei, D. J. Askew, D. A. Pociask, T. A. Reinhart, F. McAllister, J. Edeal, K. Gaus, S. Husain, J. L. Kreindler, P. J. Dubin, J. M. Pilewski, M. M. Myerburg, C. A. Mason, Y. Iwakura, and J. K. Kolls. 2008. IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against Gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. *Nat Med* 14: 275-281.
- 145. Cosmi, L., L. Maggi, V. Santarlasci, M. Capone, E. Cardilicchia, F. Frosali, V. Querci, R. Angeli, A. Matucci, M. Fambrini, F. Liotta, P. Parronchi, E. Maggi, S. Romagnani, and F. Annunziato. 2010. Identification of a novel subset of human circulating memory CD4+ T cells that produce both IL-17A and IL-4. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 125: 222-230.e224.
- 146. Takahashi, K., K. Hirose, S. Kawashima, Y. Niwa, H. Wakashin, A. Iwata, K. Tokoyoda, J. C. Renauld, I. Iwamoto, T. Nakayama, and H. Nakajima. 2011. IL-22 attenuates IL-25 production by lung epithelial cells and inhibits antigen-induced eosinophilic airway inflammation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 128: 1067-1076.e1061-1066.
- 147. Noval Rivas, M., and T. A. Chatila. 2016. Regulatory T cells in allergic diseases. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 138: 639-652.
- 148. Hori, S., T. Nomura, and S. Sakaguchi. 2003. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 299: 1057-1061.
- 149. Fontenot, J. D., M. A. Gavin, and A. Y. Rudensky. 2003. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* 4: 330-336.
- 150. Bilate, A. M., and J. J. Lafaille. 2012. Induced CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in immune tolerance. *Annu Rev Immunol* 30: 733-758.
- 151. Gri, G., S. Piconese, B. Frossi, V. Manfroi, S. Merluzzi, C. Tripodo, A. Viola, S. Odom, J. Rivera, M. P. Colombo, and C. E. Pucillo. 2008. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress mast cell degranulation and allergic responses through OX40-OX40L interaction. *Immunity* 29: 771-781.
- 152. Galli, S. J., and M. Tsai. 2012. IgE and mast cells in allergic disease. *Nat Med* 18: 693-704.
- 153. Lim, H. W., P. Hillsamer, A. H. Banham, and C. H. Kim. 2005. Cutting edge: direct suppression of B cells by CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 175: 4180-4183.
- 154. Girtsman, T., Z. Jaffar, M. Ferrini, P. Shaw, and K. Roberts. 2010. Natural Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells inhibit Th2 polarization but are biased toward suppression of Th17-driven lung

inflammation. Journal of leukocyte biology 88: 537-546.

- 155. Hadis, U., B. Wahl, O. Schulz, M. Hardtke-Wolenski, A. Schippers, N. Wagner, W. Muller, T. Sparwasser, R. Forster, and O. Pabst. 2011. Intestinal tolerance requires gut homing and expansion of FoxP3+ regulatory T cells in the lamina propria. *Immunity* 34: 237-246.
- 156. DuPage, M., and J. A. Bluestone. 2016. Harnessing the plasticity of CD4(+) T cells to treat immune-mediated disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* 16: 149-163.
- 157. Hirahara, K., and T. Nakayama. 2016. CD4+ T-cell subsets in inflammatory diseases: beyond the Th1/Th2 paradigm. *International immunology* 28: 163-171.
- 158. Sallusto, F. 2016. Heterogeneity of Human CD4(+) T Cells Against Microbes. *Annu Rev Immunol* 34: 317-334.
- 159. Koenen, H. J., R. L. Smeets, P. M. Vink, E. van Rijssen, A. M. Boots, and I. Joosten. 2008. Human CD25highFoxp3pos regulatory T cells differentiate into IL-17-producing cells. *Blood* 112: 2340-2352.
- 160. Yang, H. Y., J. Barbi, C. Y. Wu, Y. Zheng, P. D. Vignali, X. Wu, J. H. Tao, B. V. Park, S. Bandara, L. Novack, X. Ni, X. Yang, K. Y. Chang, R. C. Wu, J. Zhang, C. W. Yang, D. M. Pardoll, H. Li, and F. Pan. 2016. MicroRNA-17 Modulates Regulatory T Cell Function by Targeting Co-regulators of the Foxp3 Transcription Factor. *Immunity* 45: 83-93.
- 161. Irvin, C., I. Zafar, J. Good, D. Rollins, C. Christianson, M. M. Gorska, R. J. Martin, and R. Alam. 2014. Increased frequency of dual-positive TH2/TH17 cells in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid characterizes a population of patients with severe asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 134: 1175-1186.e1177.
- 162. Choy, D. F., K. M. Hart, L. A. Borthwick, A. Shikotra, D. R. Nagarkar, S. Siddiqui, G. Jia, C. M. Ohri, E. Doran, K. M. Vannella, C. A. Butler, B. Hargadon, J. C. Sciurba, R. L. Gieseck, R. W. Thompson, S. White, A. R. Abbas, J. Jackman, L. C. Wu, J. G. Egen, L. G. Heaney, T. R. Ramalingam, J. R. Arron, T. A. Wynn, and P. Bradding. 2015. TH2 and TH17 inflammatory pathways are reciprocally regulated in asthma. *Sci Transl Med* 7: 301ra129.
- 163. Hall, S. L., T. Baker, S. Lajoie, P. K. Richgels, Y. Yang, J. W. McAlees, A. van Lier, M. Wills-Karp, U. Sivaprasad, T. H. Acciani, T. D. LeCras, J. B. Myers, M. B. Kovacic, and I. P. Lewkowich. 2017. IL-17A enhances IL-13 activity by enhancing IL-13–induced signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 activation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 139: 462-471.e414.
- 164. Zein, J. G., and S. C. Erzurum. 2015. Asthma is Different in Women. *Current allergy and asthma reports* 15: 28-28.
- 165. Health, N. C. f. E. 2017. Asthma. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- 166. Kynyk, J. A., J. G. Mastronarde, and J. W. McCallister. 2011. Asthma, the sex difference. *Current opinion in pulmonary medicine* 17: 6-11.
- 167. Moorman, J. E., H. Zahran, B. I. Truman, and M. T. Molla. 2011. Current asthma prevalence United States, 2006-2008. *MMWR supplements* 60: 84-86.
- 168. Chen, Y., P. Stewart, H. Johansen, L. McRae, and G. Taylor. 2003. Sex difference in hospitalization due to asthma in relation to age. *Journal of clinical epidemiology* 56: 180-187.
- 169. Hyndman, S. J., D. R. Williams, S. L. Merrill, J. M. Lipscombe, and C. R. Palmer. 1994. Rates of admission to hospital for asthma. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)* 308: 1596-1600.
- 170. Troisi, R. J., F. E. Speizer, W. C. Willett, D. Trichopoulos, and B. Rosner. 1995. Menopause, postmenopausal estrogen preparations, and the risk of adult-onset asthma. A prospective cohort study. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 152: 1183-1188.
- 171. Fuseini, H., and D. C. Newcomb. 2017. Mechanisms Driving Gender Differences in Asthma. *Current allergy and asthma reports* 17: 19.
- 172. Yung, J. A., H. Fuseini, and D. C. Newcomb. 2018. Sex hormones, gender and asthma. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology*.
- 173. DeBoer, M. D., B. R. Phillips, D. T. Mauger, J. Zein, S. C. Erzurum, A. M. Fitzpatrick, B. M. Gaston, R. Myers, K. R. Ross, J. Chmiel, M. J. Lee, J. V. Fahy, M. Peters, N. P. Ly, S. E.

Wenzel, M. L. Fajt, F. Holguin, W. C. Moore, S. P. Peters, D. Meyers, E. R. Bleecker, M. Castro, A. M. Coverstone, L. B. Bacharier, N. N. Jarjour, R. L. Sorkness, S. Ramratnam, A.-M. Irani, E. Israel, B. Levy, W. Phipatanakul, J. M. Gaffin, and W. Gerald Teague. 2018. Effects of endogenous sex hormones on lung function and symptom control in adolescents with asthma. *BMC pulmonary medicine* 18: 58-58.

- 174. Mohan, S. S., M. W. Knuiman, M. L. Divitini, A. L. James, A. W. Musk, D. J. Handelsman, J. Beilin, M. Hunter, and B. B. Yeap. 2015. Higher serum testosterone and dihydrotestosterone, but not oestradiol, are independently associated with favourable indices of lung function in community-dwelling men. *Clinical endocrinology* 83: 268-276.
- 175. Genuneit, J. 2014. Sex-specific development of asthma differs between farm and nonfarm children: a cohort study. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 190: 588-590.
- 176. Steinke, J. W., and L. Borish. 2001. Th2 cytokines and asthma Interleukin-4: its role in the pathogenesis of asthma, and targeting it for asthma treatment with interleukin-4 receptor antagonists. *Respiratory research* 2: 66-70.
- 177. Pagtakhan, R. D., J. C. Bjelland, L. I. Landau, G. Loughlin, W. Kaltenborn, G. Seeley, and L. M. Taussig. 1984. Sex differences in growth patterns of the airways and lung parenchyma in children. *Journal of applied physiology: respiratory, environmental and exercise physiology* 56: 1204-1210.
- 178. Vink, N. M., D. S. Postma, J. P. Schouten, J. G. Rosmalen, and H. M. Boezen. 2010. Gender differences in asthma development and remission during transition through puberty: the TRacking Adolescents' Individual Lives Survey (TRAILS) study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 126: 498-504.e491-496.
- 179. Fu, L., R. J. Freishtat, H. Gordish-Dressman, S. J. Teach, L. Resca, E. P. Hoffman, and Z. Wang. 2014. Natural Progression of Childhood Asthma Symptoms and Strong Influence of Sex and Puberty. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 11: 939-944.
- 180. Castro-Rodriguez, J. A. 2016. A new childhood asthma phenotype: obese with early menarche. *Paediatric respiratory reviews* 18: 85-89.
- 181. Agarwal, A. K., and A. Shah. 1997. Menstrual-linked asthma. *The Journal of asthma : official journal of the Association for the Care of Asthma* 34: 539-545.
- 182. Brenner, B. E., T. M. Holmes, B. Mazal, and C. A. Camargo, Jr. 2005. Relation between phase of the menstrual cycle and asthma presentations in the emergency department. *Thorax* 60: 806-809.
- 183. Chandler, M. H., S. Schuldheisz, B. A. Phillips, and K. N. Muse. 1997. Premenstrual asthma: the effect of estrogen on symptoms, pulmonary function, and beta 2-receptors. *Pharmacotherapy* 17: 224-234.
- 184. Juniper, E. F., P. A. Kline, R. S. Roberts, F. E. Hargreave, and E. E. Daniel. 1987. Airway responsiveness to methacholine during the natural menstrual cycle and the effect of oral contraceptives. *The American review of respiratory disease* 135: 1039-1042.
- 185. Pauli, B. D., R. L. Reid, P. W. Munt, R. D. Wigle, and L. Forkert. 1989. Influence of the menstrual cycle on airway function in asthmatic and normal subjects. *The American review of respiratory disease* 140: 358-362.
- 186. Rao, C. K., C. G. Moore, E. Bleecker, W. W. Busse, W. Calhoun, M. Castro, K. F. Chung, S. C. Erzurum, E. Israel, D. Curran-Everett, and S. E. Wenzel. 2013. Characteristics of perimenstrual asthma and its relation to asthma severity and control: Data from the severe asthma research program. *Chest* 143: 984-992.
- 187. Shames, R. S., D. C. Heilbron, S. L. Janson, J. L. Kishiyama, D. S. Au, and D. C. Adelman. 1998. Clinical differences among women with and without self-reported perimenstrual asthma. *Annals of allergy, asthma & immunology : official publication of the American College of Allergy, Asthma, & Immunology* 81: 65-72.
- 188. Dweik, R. A., P. B. Boggs, S. C. Erzurum, C. G. Irvin, M. W. Leigh, J. O. Lundberg, A. C. Olin, A. L. Plummer, and D. R. Taylor. 2011. An official ATS clinical practice guideline: interpretation

of exhaled nitric oxide levels (FENO) for clinical applications. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 184: 602-615.

- 189. Oguzulgen, I. K., H. Turktas, and D. Erbas. 2002. Airway inflammation in premenstrual asthma. *The Journal of asthma : official journal of the Association for the Care of Asthma* 39: 517-522.
- 190. Jenkins, M. A., S. C. Dharmage, L. B. Flander, J. A. Douglass, A. M. Ugoni, J. B. Carlin, S. M. Sawyer, G. G. Giles, and J. L. Hopper. 2006. Parity and decreased use of oral contraceptives as predictors of asthma in young women. *Clinical and experimental allergy : journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 36: 609-613.
- 191. Macsali, F., F. G. Real, E. R. Omenaas, L. Bjorge, C. Janson, K. Franklin, and C. Svanes. 2009. Oral contraception, body mass index, and asthma: a cross-sectional Nordic-Baltic population survey. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 123: 391-397.
- 192. Erkocoglu, M., A. Kaya, D. Azkur, S. Ozyer, C. Ozcan, M. Besli, E. Civelek, and C. N. Kocabas. 2013. The effect of oral contraceptives on current wheezing in young women. *Allergologia et immunopathologia* 41: 169-175.
- 193. Dratva, J., C. Schindler, I. Curjuric, D. Stolz, F. Macsali, F. R. Gomez, and E. Zemp. 2010. Perimenstrual increase in bronchial hyperreactivity in premenopausal women: results from the population-based SAPALDIA 2 cohort. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 125: 823-829.
- 194. Salam, M. T., M. Wenten, and F. D. Gilliland. 2006. Endogenous and exogenous sex steroid hormones and asthma and wheeze in young women. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 117: 1001-1007.
- 195. Murphy, V. E., V. L. Clifton, and P. G. Gibson. 2006. Asthma exacerbations during pregnancy: incidence and association with adverse pregnancy outcomes. *Thorax* 61: 169-176.
- 196. Schatz, M., K. Harden, A. Forsythe, L. Chilingar, C. Hoffman, W. Sperling, and R. S. Zeiger. 1988. The course of asthma during pregnancy, post partum, and with successive pregnancies: a prospective analysis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 81: 509-517.
- 197. Stenius-Aarniala, B., P. Piirila, and K. Teramo. 1988. Asthma and pregnancy: a prospective study of 198 pregnancies. *Thorax* 43: 12-18.
- 198. Schatz, M. 1999. Interrelationships between asthma and pregnancy: a literature review. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 103: S330-336.
- 199. 2005. NAEPP expert panel report. Managing asthma during pregnancy: recommendations for pharmacologic treatment-2004 update. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 115: 34-46.
- 200. (GINA). 2014. Global Strategy for asthma managemet and prevention.
- 201. Lim, A., K. Stewart, K. Konig, and J. George. 2011. Systematic review of the safety of regular preventive asthma medications during pregnancy. *The Annals of pharmacotherapy* 45: 931-945.
- 202. Gomez Real, F., C. Svanes, E. H. Bjornsson, K. A. Franklin, D. Gislason, T. Gislason, A. Gulsvik, C. Janson, R. Jogi, T. Kiserud, D. Norback, L. Nystrom, K. Toren, T. Wentzel-Larsen, and E. Omenaas. 2006. Hormone replacement therapy, body mass index and asthma in perimenopausal women: a cross sectional survey. *Thorax* 61: 34-40.
- 203. Real, F. G., C. Svanes, E. R. Omenaas, J. M. Anto, E. Plana, D. Jarvis, C. Janson, F. Neukirch, E. Zemp, J. Dratva, M. Wjst, K. Svanes, B. Leynaert, and J. Sunyer. 2008. Lung function, respiratory symptoms, and the menopausal transition. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 121: 72-80.e73.
- 204. Balzano, G., S. Fuschillo, E. De Angelis, C. Gaudiosi, A. Mancini, and M. Caputi. 2007. Persistent airway inflammation and high exacerbation rate in asthma that starts at menopause. *Monaldi archives for chest disease = Archivio Monaldi per le malattie del torace* 67: 135-141.
- 205. Triebner, K., A. Johannessen, L. Puggini, B. Benediktsdottir, R. J. Bertelsen, E. Bifulco, S. C. Dharmage, J. Dratva, K. A. Franklin, T. Gislason, M. Holm, D. Jarvis, B. Leynaert, E. Lindberg, A. Malinovschi, F. Macsali, D. Norback, E. R. Omenaas, F. J. Rodriguez, E. Saure, V. Schlunssen, T. Sigsgaard, T. D. Skorge, G. Wieslander, E. Zemp, C. Svanes, S. Hustad, and F. Gomez Real. 2016. Menopause as a predictor of new-onset asthma: A longitudinal Northern European population study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 137: 50-57.e56.
- 206. Triebner, K., B. Matulonga, A. Johannessen, S. Suske, B. Benediktsdottir, P. Demoly, S. C. Dharmage, K. A. Franklin, J. Garcia-Aymerich, J. A. Gullon Blanco, J. Heinrich, M. Holm, D.

Jarvis, R. Jogi, E. Lindberg, J. M. Moratalla Rovira, N. Muniozguren Agirre, I. Pin, N. Probst-Hensch, L. Puggini, C. Raherison, J. L. Sanchez-Ramos, V. Schlunssen, J. Sunyer, C. Svanes, S. Hustad, B. Leynaert, and F. Gomez Real. 2017. Menopause Is Associated with Accelerated Lung Function Decline. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 195: 1058-1065.

- 207. Wierman, M. E. 2007. Sex steroid effects at target tissues: mechanisms of action. *Adv Physiol Educ* 31: 26-33.
- 208. Stocco, D. M. 2001. StAR protein and the regulation of steroid hormone biosynthesis. *Annual review of physiology* 63: 193-213.
- 209. Miller, W. L., and R. J. Auchus. 2011. The molecular biology, biochemistry, and physiology of human steroidogenesis and its disorders. *Endocr Rev* 32: 81-151.
- 210. Brinkmann, A. O. 2011. Molecular mechanisms of androgen action--a historical perspective. *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)* 776: 3-24.
- 211. Lindzey, J., M. V. Kumar, M. Grossman, C. Young, and D. J. Tindall. 1994. Molecular mechanisms of androgen action. *Vitam Horm* 49: 383-432.
- 212. Davey, R. A., and M. Grossmann. 2016. Androgen Receptor Structure, Function and Biology: From Bench to Bedside. *Clin Biochem Rev* 37: 3-15.
- 213. Burger, H. G. 2002. Androgen production in women. Fertility and sterility 77 Suppl 4: S3-5.
- 214. Faustini-Fustini, M., V. Rochira, and C. Carani. 1999. Oestrogen deficiency in men: where are we today? *European journal of endocrinology* 140: 111-129.
- 215. Wierman, M. E. 2007. Sex steroid effects at target tissues: mechanisms of action. *Advances in Physiology Education* 31: 26-33.
- 216. Simpson, E. R., M. Misso, K. N. Hewitt, R. A. Hill, W. C. Boon, M. E. Jones, A. Kovacic, J. Zhou, and C. D. Clyne. 2005. Estrogen--the good, the bad, and the unexpected. *Endocr Rev* 26: 322-330.
- 217. Andersen, M. L., and S. Tufik. 2006. Does male sexual behavior require progesterone? *Brain research reviews* 51: 136-143.
- 218. Chan, L., and B. W. O'Malley. 1976. Mechanism of Action of the Sex Steroid Hormones. *New England Journal of Medicine* 294: 1322-1328.
- 219. Cheung, E., and W. L. Kraus. 2010. Genomic Analyses of Hormone Signaling and Gene Regulation. *Annual review of physiology* 72: 191-218.
- 220. Klinge, C. M. 2012. miRNAs and estrogen action. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM* 23: 223-233.
- 221. Saatcioglu, F. 2011. Androgen Action. Humana Press.
- 222. Schwartz, N., A. Verma, C. B. Bivens, Z. Schwartz, and B. D. Boyan. 2016. Rapid steroid hormone actions via membrane receptors. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Cell Research* 1863: 2289-2298.
- 223. Michalek, R. D., V. A. Gerriets, A. G. Nichols, M. Inoue, D. Kazmin, C.-Y. Chang, M. A. Dwyer, E. R. Nelson, K. N. Pollizzi, O. Ilkayeva, V. Giguere, W. J. Zuercher, J. D. Powell, M. L. Shinohara, D. P. McDonnell, and J. C. Rathmell. 2011. Estrogen-related receptor-α is a metabolic regulator of effector T-cell activation and differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108: 18348-18353.
- 224. Grazzini, E., G. Guillon, B. Mouillac, and H. H. Zingg. 1998. Inhibition of oxytocin receptor function by direct binding of progesterone. *Nature* 392: 509.
- 225. Takeda, M., M. Tanabe, W. Ito, S. Ueki, Y. Konnno, M. Chihara, M. Itoga, Y. Kobayashi, Y. Moritoki, H. Kayaba, and J. Chihara. 2013. Gender difference in allergic airway remodelling and immunoglobulin production in mouse model of asthma. *Respirology* 18: 797-806.
- 226. Bartemes, K. R., K. Iijima, T. Kobayashi, G. M. Kephart, A. N. McKenzie, and H. Kita. 2012. IL-33-responsive lineage- CD25+ CD44(hi) lymphoid cells mediate innate type 2 immunity and allergic inflammation in the lungs. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 188: 1503-1513.
- 227. Carey, M. A., J. W. Card, J. A. Bradbury, M. P. Moorman, N. Haykal-Coates, S. H. Gavett, J. P.

Graves, V. R. Walker, G. P. Flake, J. W. Voltz, D. Zhu, E. R. Jacobs, A. Dakhama, G. L. Larsen, J. E. Loader, E. W. Gelfand, D. R. Germolec, K. S. Korach, and D. C. Zeldin. 2007. Spontaneous Airway Hyperresponsiveness in Estrogen Receptor-α–deficient Mice. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 175: 126-135.

- 228. Yu, C. K., Y. H. Liu, and C. L. Chen. 2002. Dehydroepiandrosterone attenuates allergic airway inflammation in Dermatophagoides farinae-sensitized mice. *Journal of microbiology, immunology, and infection = Wei mian yu gan ran za zhi* 35: 199-202.
- 229. Angkasekwinai, P., H. Park, Y. H. Wang, Y. H. Wang, S. H. Chang, D. B. Corry, Y. J. Liu, Z. Zhu, and C. Dong. 2007. Interleukin 25 promotes the initiation of proallergic type 2 responses. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 204: 1509-1517.
- 230. Ballantyne, S. J., J. L. Barlow, H. E. Jolin, P. Nath, A. S. Williams, K. F. Chung, G. Sturton, S. H. Wong, and A. N. McKenzie. 2007. Blocking IL-25 prevents airway hyperresponsiveness in allergic asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 120: 1324-1331.
- 231. Barlow, J. L., A. Bellosi, C. S. Hardman, L. F. Drynan, S. H. Wong, J. P. Cruickshank, and A. N. McKenzie. 2012. Innate IL-13-producing nuocytes arise during allergic lung inflammation and contribute to airways hyperreactivity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 129: 191-198.e191-194.
- 232. Warren, K. J., J. M. Sweeter, J. A. Pavlik, A. J. Nelson, J. M. Devasure, J. D. Dickinson, J. H. Sisson, T. A. Wyatt, and J. A. Poole. Sex differences in activation of lung-related type 2 innate lymphoid cells in experimental asthma. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology*.
- 233. Cephus, J.-Y., M. T. Stier, H. Fuseini, J. A. Yung, S. Toki, M. H. Bloodworth, W. Zhou, K. Goleniewska, J. Zhang, S. L. Garon, R. G. Hamilton, V. V. Poloshukin, K. L. Boyd, R. S. Peebles, Jr., and D. C. Newcomb. Testosterone Attenuates Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cell-Mediated Airway Inflammation. *Cell Reports* 21: 2487-2499.
- 234. Laffont, S., E. Blanquart, M. Savignac, C. Cénac, G. Laverny, D. Metzger, J.-P. Girard, G. T. Belz, L. Pelletier, C. Seillet, and J.-C. Guéry. 2017. Androgen signaling negatively controls group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine*.
- 235. Bartemes, K., C. C. Chen, K. Iijima, and L. Drake. 2018. IL-33-Responsive Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells Are Regulated by Female Sex Hormones in the Uterus. 200: 229-236.
- 236. Borish, L., and J. A. Culp. 2008. Asthma: a syndrome composed of heterogeneous diseases. Annals of allergy, asthma & immunology : official publication of the American College of Allergy, Asthma, & Immunology 101: 1-8; quiz 8-11, 50.
- 237. Busse, W. W., and R. F. Lemanske, Jr. 2001. Asthma. *The New England journal of medicine* 344: 350-362.
- 238. Munoz-Cruz, S., Y. Mendoza-Rodriguez, K. E. Nava-Castro, L. Yepez-Mulia, and J. Morales-Montor. 2015. Gender-related effects of sex steroids on histamine release and FcepsilonRI expression in rat peritoneal mast cells. *Journal of immunology research* 2015: 351829.
- 239. Melgert, B. N., T. B. Oriss, Z. Qi, B. Dixon-McCarthy, M. Geerlings, M. N. Hylkema, and A. Ray. 2010. Macrophages: regulators of sex differences in asthma? *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 42: 595-603.
- 240. Bengtsson, A. K., E. J. Ryan, D. Giordano, D. M. Magaletti, and E. A. Clark. 2004. 17betaestradiol (E2) modulates cytokine and chemokine expression in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Blood* 104: 1404-1410.
- 241. Paharkova-Vatchkova, V., R. Maldonado, and S. Kovats. 2004. Estrogen preferentially promotes the differentiation of CD11c+ CD11b(intermediate) dendritic cells from bone marrow precursors. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 172: 1426-1436.
- 242. Keselman, A., X. Fang, and P. B. White. 2017. Estrogen Signaling Contributes to Sex Differences in Macrophage Polarization during Asthma. 199: 1573-1583.
- 243. Calippe, B., V. Douin-Echinard, L. Delpy, M. Laffargue, K. Lelu, A. Krust, B. Pipy, F. Bayard, J. F. Arnal, J. C. Guery, and P. Gourdy. 2010. 17Beta-estradiol promotes TLR4-triggered proinflammatory mediator production through direct estrogen receptor alpha signaling in macrophages in vivo. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 185: 1169-1176.

- 244. Becerra-Diaz, M., and A. B. Strickland. 2018. Androgen and Androgen Receptor as Enhancers of M2 Macrophage Polarization in Allergic Lung Inflammation. 201: 2923-2933.
- 245. Chakir, J., J. Shannon, S. Molet, M. Fukakusa, J. Elias, M. Laviolette, L. P. Boulet, and Q. Hamid. 2003. Airway remodeling-associated mediators in moderate to severe asthma: effect of steroids on TGF-beta, IL-11, IL-17, and type I and type III collagen expression. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 111: 1293-1298.
- 246. Newcomb, D. C., M. G. Boswell, T. P. Sherrill, V. V. Polosukhin, K. L. Boyd, K. Goleniewska, S. L. Brody, J. K. Kolls, K. B. Adler, and R. S. Peebles, Jr. 2013. IL-17A induces signal transducers and activators of transcription-6-independent airway mucous cell metaplasia. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 48: 711-716.
- 247. Bloodworth, M. H., D. C. Newcomb, D. E. Dulek, M. T. Stier, J. Y. Cephus, J. Zhang, K. Goleniewska, J. K. Kolls, and R. S. Peebles, Jr. 2016. STAT6 Signaling Attenuates Interleukin-17-Producing gammadelta T Cells during Acute Klebsiella pneumoniae Infection. *Infection and immunity* 84: 1548-1555.
- 248. Ullah, M. A., J. A. Revez, Z. Loh, J. Simpson, V. Zhang, L. Bain, A. Varelias, S. Rose-John, A. Blumenthal, M. J. Smyth, G. R. Hill, M. B. Sukkar, M. A. R. Ferreira, and S. Phipps. 2015. Allergen-induced IL-6 trans-signaling activates γδ T cells to promote type 2 and type 17 airway inflammation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 136: 1065-1073.
- 249. Andersson, A., L. Grahnemo, C. Engdahl, A. Stubelius, M. K. Lagerquist, H. Carlsten, and U. Islander. 2015. IL-17-producing gammadeltaT cells are regulated by estrogen during development of experimental arthritis. *Clinical immunology (Orlando, Fla.)* 161: 324-332.
- 250. Massaro, D., and G. D. Massaro. 2006. Estrogen receptor regulation of pulmonary alveolar dimensions: alveolar sexual dimorphism in mice. *American Journal of Physiology Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 290: L866.
- 251. Helmi, A. M., I. F. El Ghazzawi, M. A. Mandour, and M. A. Shehata. 1975. The effect of oestrogen on the nasal respiratory mucosa. An experimental histopathological and histochemical study. *J Laryngol Otol* 89: 1229-1241.
- 252. Montano, L. M., E. Flores-Soto, J. Reyes-Garcia, V. Diaz-Hernandez, A. Carbajal-Garcia, E. Campuzano-Gonzalez, G. L. Ramirez-Salinas, M. A. Velasco-Velazquez, and B. Sommer. 2017. Testosterone induces hyporesponsiveness by interfering with IP3 receptors in guinea pig airway smooth muscle. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*.
- 253. Choi, H. J., Y. S. Chung, H. J. Kim, U. Y. Moon, Y. H. Choi, I. Van Seuningen, S. J. Baek, H. G. Yoon, and J. H. Yoon. 2009. Signal pathway of 17beta-estradiol-induced MUC5B expression in human airway epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 40: 168-178.
- 254. Gaffen, S. L., R. Jain, A. V. Garg, and D. J. Cua. 2014. The IL-23-IL-17 immune axis: from mechanisms to therapeutic testing. *Nat Rev Immunol* 14: 585-600.
- Newcomb, D. C., M. G. Boswell, M. M. Huckabee, K. Goleniewska, D. E. Dulek, S. Reiss, N. W. Lukacs, J. K. Kolls, and R. S. Peebles, Jr. 2012. IL-13 regulates Th17 secretion of IL-17A in an IL-10-dependent manner. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 188: 1027-1035.
- 256. Newcomb, D. C., M. G. Boswell, W. Zhou, M. M. Huckabee, K. Goleniewska, C. M. Sevin, G. K. Hershey, J. K. Kolls, and R. S. Peebles, Jr. 2011. Human TH17 cells express a functional IL-13 receptor and IL-13 attenuates IL-17A production. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 127: 1006-1013 e1001-1004.
- 257. Hall, S. L., T. Baker, S. Lajoie, P. K. Richgels, Y. Yang, J. W. McAlees, A. van Lier, M. Wills-Karp, U. Sivaprasad, T. H. Acciani, T. D. LeCras, J. B. Myers, M. B. Kovacic, and I. P. Lewkowich. 2017. IL-17A enhances IL-13 activity by enhancing IL-13-induced signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 activation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 139: 462-471.e414.
- 258. Leynaert, B., J. Sunyer, R. Garcia-Esteban, C. Svanes, D. Jarvis, I. Cerveri, J. Dratva, T. Gislason, J. Heinrich, C. Janson, N. Kuenzli, R. de Marco, E. Omenaas, C. Raherison, F. Gomez Real, M. Wjst, E. Zemp, M. Zureik, P. G. Burney, J. M. Anto, and F. Neukirch. 2012. Gender differences in prevalence, diagnosis and incidence of allergic and non-allergic asthma: a

population-based cohort. Thorax 67: 625-631.

- 259. Shah, R., and D. C. Newcomb. 2018. Sex Bias in Asthma Prevalence and Pathogenesis. *Frontiers in Immunology* 9.
- 260. Hastie, A. T., W. C. Moore, D. A. Meyers, P. L. Vestal, H. Li, S. P. Peters, and E. R. Bleecker. 2010. Analyses of asthma severity phenotypes and inflammatory proteins in subjects stratified by sputum granulocytes. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 125: 1028-1036.e1013.
- 261. Moore, W. C., E. R. Bleecker, D. Curran-Everett, S. C. Erzurum, B. T. Ameredes, L. Bacharier, W. J. Calhoun, M. Castro, K. F. Chung, M. P. Clark, R. A. Dweik, A. M. Fitzpatrick, B. Gaston, M. Hew, I. Hussain, N. N. Jarjour, E. Israel, B. D. Levy, J. R. Murphy, S. P. Peters, W. G. Teague, D. A. Meyers, W. W. Busse, and S. E. Wenzel. 2007. Characterization of the severe asthma phenotype by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute's Severe Asthma Research Program. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 119: 405-413.
- 262. Monticelli, L. A., G. F. Sonnenberg, and D. Artis. 2012. Innate lymphoid cells: critical regulators of allergic inflammation and tissue repair in the lung. *Current opinion in immunology* 24: 284-289.
- 263. Hogan, S. P., H. F. Rosenberg, R. Moqbel, S. Phipps, P. S. Foster, P. Lacy, A. B. Kay, and M. E. Rothenberg. 2008. Eosinophils: biological properties and role in health and disease. *Clinical and experimental allergy : journal of the British Society for Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 38: 709-750.
- 264. Korn, T., E. Bettelli, M. Oukka, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2009. IL-17 and Th17 Cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 27: 485-517.
- 265. Moore, M. L., M. H. Chi, C. Luongo, N. W. Lukacs, V. V. Polosukhin, M. M. Huckabee, D. C. Newcomb, U. J. Buchholz, J. E. Crowe, K. Goleniewska, J. V. Williams, P. L. Collins, and R. S. Peebles. 2009. A Chimeric A2 Strain of Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) with the Fusion Protein of RSV Strain Line 19 Exhibits Enhanced Viral Load, Mucus, and Airway Dysfunction. *Journal of Virology* 83: 4185-4194.
- 266. Nials, A. T., and S. Uddin. 2008. Mouse models of allergic asthma: acute and chronic allergen challenge. *Disease Models & Mechanisms* 1: 213-220.
- 267. Phillips, J. E., R. Peng, P. Harris, L. Burns, L. Renteria, L. K. A. Lundblad, J. S. Fine, C. M. T. Bauer, and C. S. Stevenson. House dust mite models: Will they translate clinically as a superior model of asthma? *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 132: 242-244.
- Reader, J. R., J. S. Tepper, E. S. Schelegle, M. C. Aldrich, L. F. Putney, J. W. Pfeiffer, and D. M. Hyde. 2003. Pathogenesis of Mucous Cell Metaplasia in a Murine Asthma Model. *The American journal of pathology* 162: 2069-2078.
- 269. Pennell, L. M., C. L. Galligan, and E. N. Fish. 2012. Sex affects immunity. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 38: J282-J291.
- 270. Johnson, J. R., R. E. Wiley, R. Fattouh, F. K. Swirski, B. U. Gajewska, A. J. Coyle, J. C. Gutierrez-Ramos, R. Ellis, M. D. Inman, and M. Jordana. 2004. Continuous exposure to house dust mite elicits chronic airway inflammation and structural remodeling. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 169: 378-385.
- 271. Wenzel, S. E., C. B. Robinson, J. M. Leonard, and R. A. Panettieri, Jr. 2010. Nebulized dehydroepiandrosterone-3-sulfate improves asthma control in the moderate-to-severe asthma results of a 6-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Allergy Asthma Proc* 31: 461-471.
- 272. Grosse, A., S. Bartsch, and A. Baniahmad. 2012. Androgen receptor-mediated gene repression. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 352: 46-56.
- 273. Farha, S., K. Asosingh, D. Laskowski, J. Hammel, R. A. Dweik, H. P. Wiedemann, and S. C. Erzurum. 2009. Effects of the menstrual cycle on lung function variables in women with asthma. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 180: 304-310.
- 274. Xu, L., X. Xiang, X. Ji, W. Wang, M. Luo, S. Luo, K. Li, S. Gong, S. Liu, L. Ma, P. Chen, and J. Li. 2014. Effects and mechanism of dehydroepiandrosterone on epithelial-mesenchymal

transition in bronchial epithelial cells. Experimental lung research 40: 211-221.

- 275. Kissick, H. T., M. G. Sanda, L. K. Dunn, K. L. Pellegrini, S. T. On, J. K. Noel, and M. S. Arredouani. 2014. Androgens alter T-cell immunity by inhibiting T-helper 1 differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111: 9887-9892.
- 276. Rana, K., R. A. Davey, and J. D. Zajac. 2014. Human androgen deficiency: insights gained from androgen receptor knockout mouse models. *Asian journal of andrology* 16: 169-177.
- 277. Zhu, J., J. Cote-Sierra, L. Guo, and W. E. Paul. 2003. Stat5 Activation Plays a Critical Role in Th2 Differentiation. *Immunity* 19: 739-748.
- 278. Tabarkiewicz, J., K. Pogoda, A. Karczmarczyk, P. Pozarowski, and K. Giannopoulos. 2015. The Role of IL-17 and Th17 Lymphocytes in Autoimmune Diseases. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* 63: 435-449.
- 279. Trigunaite, A., J. Dimo, and T. N. Jørgensen. 2015. Suppressive effects of androgens on the immune system. *Cellular Immunology* 294: 87-94.
- 280. Olsen, N. J., and W. J. Kovacs. 2001. Effects of androgens on T and B lymphocyte development. *Immunol Res* 23: 281-288.
- 281. Olsen, N. J., and W. J. Kovacs. 2011. Evidence that androgens modulate human thymic T cell output. *J Investig Med* 59: 32-35.
- 282. Olsen, N. J., G. Olson, S. M. Viselli, X. Gu, and W. J. Kovacs. 2001. Androgen receptors in thymic epithelium modulate thymus size and thymocyte development. *Endocrinology* 142: 1278-1283.
- 283. Liva, S. M., and R. R. Voskuhl. 2001. Testosterone acts directly on CD4+ T lymphocytes to increase IL-10 production. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 167: 2060-2067.
- 284. Fairweather, D., S. Frisancho-Kiss, and N. R. Rose. 2008. Sex differences in autoimmune disease from a pathological perspective. *The American journal of pathology* 173: 600-609.
- 285. Olsen, N. J., and W. J. Kovacs. 1996. Gonadal Steroids and Immunity*. *Endocrine Reviews* 17: 369-384.
- 286. Fox, H. S., B. L. Bond, and T. G. Parslow. 1991. Estrogen regulates the IFN-gamma promoter. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 146: 4362-4367.
- 287. Mohammad, I., I. Starskaia, T. Nagy, J. Guo, E. Yatkin, K. Vaananen, and W. T. Watford. 2018. Estrogen receptor alpha contributes to T cell-mediated autoimmune inflammation by promoting T cell activation and proliferation. 11.
- 288. Lelu, K., S. Laffont, L. Delpy, P. E. Paulet, T. Perinat, S. A. Tschanz, L. Pelletier, B. Engelhardt, and J. C. Guery. 2011. Estrogen receptor alpha signaling in T lymphocytes is required for estradiol-mediated inhibition of Th1 and Th17 cell differentiation and protection against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 187: 2386-2393.
- 289. Hu, R., T. A. Dunn, S. Wei, S. Isharwal, R. W. Veltri, E. Humphreys, M. Han, A. W. Partin, R. L. Vessella, W. B. Isaacs, G. S. Bova, and J. Luo. 2009. Ligand-independent androgen receptor variants derived from splicing of cryptic exons signify hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* 69: 16-22.
- 290. Baricza, E., V. Tamási, N. Marton, E. I. Buzás, and G. Nagy. 2016. The emerging role of aryl hydrocarbon receptor in the activation and differentiation of Th17 cells. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 73: 95-117.
- 291. Bhat-Nakshatri, P., G. Wang, N. R. Collins, M. J. Thomson, T. R. Geistlinger, J. S. Carroll, M. Brown, S. Hammond, E. F. Srour, Y. Liu, and H. Nakshatri. 2009. Estradiol-regulated microRNAs control estradiol response in breast cancer cells. *Nucleic Acids Research* 37: 4850-4861.
- 292. Mukasa, R., A. Balasubramani, Y. K. Lee, S. K. Whitley, B. T. Weaver, Y. Shibata, G. E. Crawford, R. D. Hatton, and C. T. Weaver. 2010. Epigenetic Instability of Cytokine and Transcription Factor Gene Loci Underlies Plasticity of the T Helper 17 Cell Lineage. *Immunity*

32: 616-627.

- 293. Wei, G., L. Wei, J. Zhu, C. Zang, J. Hu-Li, Z. Yao, K. Cui, Y. Kanno, T. Y. Roh, W. T. Watford, D. E. Schones, W. Peng, H. W. Sun, W. E. Paul, J. J. O'Shea, and K. Zhao. 2009. Global mapping of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 reveals specificity and plasticity in lineage fate determination of differentiating CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* 30: 155-167.
- 294. Sehrawat, S., and B. T. Rouse. 2017. Interplay of Regulatory T Cell and Th17 Cells during Infectious Diseases in Humans and Animals. *Frontiers in immunology* 8: 341-341.
- 295. Sen, S., F. Wang, J. Zhang, Z. He, J. Ma, Y. Gwack, J. Xu, and Z. Sun. 2018. SRC1 promotes Th17 differentiation by overriding Foxp3 suppression to stimulate RORγt activity in a PKC-θ– dependent manner. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115: E458-E467.
- 296. Landt, S. G., G. K. Marinov, A. Kundaje, P. Kheradpour, F. Pauli, S. Batzoglou, B. E. Bernstein, P. Bickel, J. B. Brown, P. Cayting, Y. Chen, G. DeSalvo, C. Epstein, K. I. Fisher-Aylor, G. Euskirchen, M. Gerstein, J. Gertz, A. J. Hartemink, M. M. Hoffman, V. R. Iyer, Y. L. Jung, S. Karmakar, M. Kellis, P. V. Kharchenko, Q. Li, T. Liu, X. S. Liu, L. Ma, A. Milosavljevic, R. M. Myers, P. J. Park, M. J. Pazin, M. D. Perry, D. Raha, T. E. Reddy, J. Rozowsky, N. Shoresh, A. Sidow, M. Slattery, J. A. Stamatoyannopoulos, M. Y. Tolstorukov, K. P. White, S. Xi, P. J. Farnham, J. D. Lieb, B. J. Wold, and M. Snyder. 2012. ChIP-seq guidelines and practices of the ENCODE and modENCODE consortia. *Genome research* 22: 1813-1831.
- 297. Buenrostro, J. D., B. Wu, H. Y. Chang, and W. J. Greenleaf. 2015. ATAC-seq: A Method for Assaying Chromatin Accessibility Genome-Wide. *Current protocols in molecular biology* 109: 21.29.21-21.29.29.
- 298. Lee, Y., A. Awasthi, N. Yosef, F. J. Quintana, S. Xiao, A. Peters, C. Wu, M. Kleinewietfeld, S. Kunder, D. A. Hafler, R. A. Sobel, A. Regev, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2012. Induction and molecular signature of pathogenic TH17 cells. *Nat Immunol* 13: 991-999.
- 299. Wu, C., N. Yosef, T. Thalhamer, C. Zhu, S. Xiao, Y. Kishi, A. Regev, and V. K. Kuchroo. 2013. Induction of pathogenic TH17 cells by inducible salt-sensing kinase SGK1. *Nature* 496: 513-517.
- 300. Tubo, N. J., and M. K. Jenkins. 2014. TCR signal quantity and quality in CD4(+) T cell differentiation. *Trends Immunol* 35: 591-596.
- 301. Turner, M. S., L. P. Kane, and P. A. Morel. 2009. Dominant role of antigen dose in CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cell induction and expansion. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 183: 4895-4903.
- 302. Rhoads, J. P., A. S. Major, and J. C. Rathmell. 2017. Fine tuning of immunometabolism for the treatment of rheumatic diseases. *Nature reviews. Rheumatology* 13: 313-320.
- 303. Johnson, M. O., P. J. Siska, D. C. Contreras, and J. C. Rathmell. 2016. Nutrients and the microenvironment to feed a T cell army. *Semin Immunol* 28: 505-513.
- 304. Carr, E. L., A. Kelman, G. S. Wu, R. Gopaul, E. Senkevitch, A. Aghvanyan, A. M. Turay, and K. A. Frauwirth. 2010. Glutamine uptake and metabolism are coordinately regulated by ERK/MAPK during T lymphocyte activation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 185: 1037-1044.
- 305. O'Sullivan, D., and E. L. Pearce. 2015. Targeting T cell metabolism for therapy. *Trends Immunol* 36: 71-80.
- 306. Michalek, R. D., V. A. Gerriets, S. R. Jacobs, A. N. Macintyre, N. J. MacIver, E. F. Mason, S. A. Sullivan, A. G. Nichols, and J. C. Rathmell. 2011. Cutting edge: distinct glycolytic and lipid oxidative metabolic programs are essential for effector and regulatory CD4+ T cell subsets. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 186: 3299-3303.
- 307. Araujo, L., P. Khim, H. Mkhikian, C.-L. Mortales, and M. Demetriou. 2017. Glycolysis and glutaminolysis cooperatively control T cell function by limiting metabolite supply to N-glycosylation. *eLife* 6: e21330.
- 308. Jiang, S., W. Yan, S. E. Wang, and D. Baltimore. 2018. Let-7 Suppresses B Cell Activation through Restricting the Availability of Necessary Nutrients. *Cell metabolism* 27: 393-403.e394.
- 309. Schmolka, N., K. Serre, A. R. Grosso, M. Rei, D. J. Pennington, A. Q. Gomes, and B. Silva-Santos. 2013. Epigenetic and transcriptional signatures of stable versus plastic differentiation of

proinflammatory [gamma][delta] T cell subsets. Nat Immunol 14: 1093-1100.

- 310. Tumes, D. J., M. Papadopoulos, Y. Endo, A. Onodera, K. Hirahara, and T. Nakayama. 2017. Epigenetic regulation of T-helper cell differentiation, memory, and plasticity in allergic asthma. *Immunol Rev* 278: 8-19.
- 311. Roh, T. Y., S. Cuddapah, K. Cui, and K. Zhao. 2006. The genomic landscape of histone modifications in human T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103: 15782-15787.
- 312. Nakayama, T., and M. Yamashita. 2009. Critical role of the Polycomb and Trithorax complexes in the maintenance of CD4 T cell memory. *Seminars in Immunology* 21: 78-83.
- 313. Allan, R. S., E. Zueva, F. Cammas, H. A. Schreiber, V. Masson, G. T. Belz, D. Roche, C. Maison, J. P. Quivy, G. Almouzni, and S. Amigorena. 2012. An epigenetic silencing pathway controlling T helper 2 cell lineage commitment. *Nature* 487: 249-253.
- 314. Watanabe, Y., A. Onodera, U. Kanai, T. Ichikawa, K. Obata-Ninomiya, T. Wada, M. Kiuchi, C. Iwamura, D. J. Tumes, K. Shinoda, R. Yagi, S. Motohashi, K. Hirahara, and T. Nakayama. 2014. Trithorax complex component Menin controls differentiation and maintenance of T helper 17 cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 111: 12829-12834.
- 315. Yamashita, M., K. Hirahara, R. Shinnakasu, H. Hosokawa, S. Norikane, M. Y. Kimura, A. Hasegawa, and T. Nakayama. 2006. Crucial role of MLL for the maintenance of memory T helper type 2 cell responses. *Immunity* 24: 611-622.
- 316. Thiel, A. T., Z. Feng, D. K. Pant, L. A. Chodosh, and X. Hua. 2013. The trithorax protein partner menin acts in tandem with EZH2 to suppress C/EBPα and differentiation in MLL-AF9 leukemia. *Haematologica* 98: 918-927.
- 317. Garcia-Bassets, I., Y. S. Kwon, F. Telese, G. G. Prefontaine, K. R. Hutt, C. S. Cheng, B. G. Ju, K. A. Ohgi, J. Wang, L. Escoubet-Lozach, D. W. Rose, C. K. Glass, X. D. Fu, and M. G. Rosenfeld. 2007. Histone methylation-dependent mechanisms impose ligand dependency for gene activation by nuclear receptors. *Cell* 128: 505-518.
- 318. Ansari, K. I., S. Kasiri, I. Hussain, and S. S. Mandal. 2009. Mixed lineage leukemia histone methylases play critical roles in estrogen-mediated regulation of HOXC13. *The FEBS journal* 276: 7400-7411.
- 319. Bini, E. I., D. Mata Espinosa, B. Marquina Castillo, J. Barrios Payán, D. Colucci, A. F. Cruz, Z. L. Zatarain, E. Alfonseca, M. R. Pardo, O. Bottasso, and R. Hernández Pando. 2014. The influence of sex steroid hormones in the immunopathology of experimental pulmonary tuberculosis. *PloS one* 9: e93831-e93831.
- 320. Nakaya, M., H. Tachibana, and K. Yamada. 2006. Effect of Estrogens on the Interferon-γ Producing Cell Population of Mouse Splenocytes. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 70: 47-53.
- 321. Sun, K., S. L. Salmon, S. A. Lotz, and D. W. Metzger. 2007. Interleukin-12 promotes gamma interferon-dependent neutrophil recruitment in the lung and improves protection against respiratory Streptococcus pneumoniae infection. *Infection and immunity* 75: 1196-1202.
- 322. Kabata, H., K. Moro, and S. Koyasu. 2018. The group 2 innate lymphoid cell (ILC2) regulatory network and its underlying mechanisms. 286: 37-52.
- 323. Hesketh, M., K. B. Sahin, Z. E. West, and R. Z. Murray. 2017. Macrophage Phenotypes Regulate Scar Formation and Chronic Wound Healing. *International journal of molecular sciences* 18: 1545.
- 324. Cutolo, M., A. Sulli, S. Capellino, B. Villaggio, P. Montagna, B. Seriolo, and R. H. Straub. 2004. Sex hormones influence on the immune system: basic and clinical aspects in autoimmunity. *Lupus* 13: 635-638.
- 325. Tikare, S. N., K. K. Das, and S. A. Dhundasi. 2008. Blood leukocyte profile in different phases of menstrual cycle. *Indian journal of physiology and pharmacology* 52: 201-204.
- 326. Schatz, M., M. P. Dombrowski, R. Wise, E. A. Thom, M. Landon, W. Mabie, R. B. Newman, J. C. Hauth, M. Lindheimer, S. N. Caritis, K. J. Leveno, P. Meis, M. Miodovnik, R. J. Wapner, R. H. Paul, M. W. Varner, J. O'Sullivan M, G. R. Thurnau, D. Conway, and D. McNellis. 2003.

Asthma morbidity during pregnancy can be predicted by severity classification. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 112: 283-288.

- 327. Di Renzo, G. C., A. Mattei, M. Gojnic, and S. Gerli. 2005. Progesterone and pregnancy. *Current opinion in obstetrics & gynecology* 17: 598-600.
- 328. Norris, W., T. Nevers, S. Sharma, and S. Kalkunte. 2011. Review: hCG, preeclampsia and regulatory T cells. *Placenta* 32 Suppl 2: S182-S185.
- 329. Wan, H., M. A. Versnel, W. Y. Cheung, P. J. Leenen, N. A. Khan, R. Benner, and R. C. Kiekens. 2007. Chorionic gonadotropin can enhance innate immunity by stimulating macrophage function. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 82: 926-933.
- 330. Makrigiannakis, A., T. Vrekoussis, E. Zoumakis, S. N. Kalantaridou, and U. Jeschke. 2017. The Role of HCG in Implantation: A Mini-Review of Molecular and Clinical Evidence. *International journal of molecular sciences* 18.
- 331. Dixon, A. E., R. E. Pratley, P. M. Forgione, D. A. Kaminsky, L. A. Whittaker-Leclair, L. A. Griffes, J. Garudathri, D. Raymond, M. E. Poynter, J. Y. Bunn, and C. G. Irvin. 2011. Effects of obesity and bariatric surgery on airway hyperresponsiveness, asthma control, and inflammation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 128: 508-515.e502.
- 332. Kim, H. Y., H. J. Lee, Y. J. Chang, M. Pichavant, S. A. Shore, K. A. Fitzgerald, Y. Iwakura, E. Israel, K. Bolger, J. Faul, R. H. DeKruyff, and D. T. Umetsu. 2014. Interleukin-17-producing innate lymphoid cells and the NLRP3 inflammasome facilitate obesity-associated airway hyperreactivity. *Nat Med* 20: 54-61.
- 333. Kim, H. Y., H. J. Lee, Y.-J. Chang, M. Pichavant, S. A. Shore, K. A. Fitzgerald, Y. Iwakura, E. Israel, K. Bolger, J. Faul, R. H. DeKruyff, and D. T. Umetsu. 2013. Interleukin-17–producing innate lymphoid cells and the NLRP3 inflammasome facilitate obesity-associated airway hyperreactivity. *Nature Medicine* 20: 54.
- 334. Lefaudeux, D., B. De Meulder, M. J. Loza, N. Peffer, A. Rowe, F. Baribaud, A. T. Bansal, R. Lutter, A. R. Sousa, J. Corfield, I. Pandis, P. S. Bakke, M. Caruso, P. Chanez, S. E. Dahlen, L. J. Fleming, S. J. Fowler, I. Horvath, N. Krug, P. Montuschi, M. Sanak, T. Sandstrom, D. E. Shaw, F. Singer, P. J. Sterk, G. Roberts, I. M. Adcock, R. Djukanovic, C. Auffray, and K. F. Chung. 2017. U-BIOPRED clinical adult asthma clusters linked to a subset of sputum omics. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 139: 1797-1807.
- 335. Brown, L. M., L. Gent, K. Davis, and D. J. Clegg. 2010. Metabolic impact of sex hormones on obesity. *Brain Research* 1350: 77-85.
- 336. Krotkiewski, M., P. Björntorp, L. Sjöström, and U. Smith. 1983. Impact of obesity on metabolism in men and women. Importance of regional adipose tissue distribution. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 72: 1150-1162.
- 337. Clegg, D. J., L. M. Brown, S. C. Woods, and S. C. Benoit. 2006. Gonadal Hormones Determine Sensitivity to Central Leptin and Insulin. *Diabetes* 55: 978-987.
- 338. Crandall, D. L., D. E. Busler, T. J. Novak, R. V. Weber, and J. G. Kral. 1998. Identification of Estrogen Receptor β RNA in Human Breast and Abdominal Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 248: 523-526.
- 339. Cologer-Clifford, A., E. A. Nau, S.-f. Lu, S. E. McKenna, and N. G. Simon. 1998. Androgen Receptor in Mouse Brain: Sex Differences and Similarities in Autoregulation*. *Endocrinology* 139: 1594-1601.
- 340. Lin, H.-Y., I.-C. Yu, J. D. Sparks, N.-C. Liu, R.-S. Wang, S. Yeh, and C. Chang. 2008. Hyperleptinemia without Obesity in Male Mice Lacking Androgen Receptor in Adipose Tissue. *Endocrinology* 149: 2361-2368.
- 341. Kordonowy, L. L., E. Burg, C. C. Lenox, L. M. Gauthier, J. M. Petty, M. Antkowiak, T. Palvinskaya, N. Ubags, M. Rincón, A. E. Dixon, J. H. J. Vernooy, M. B. Fessler, M. E. Poynter, and B. T. Suratt. 2012. Obesity is associated with neutrophil dysfunction and attenuation of murine acute lung injury. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology* 47: 120-127.

- 342. Haldar, P., and I. D. Pavord. 2007. Noneosinophilic asthma: A distinct clinical and pathologic phenotype. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 119: 1043-1052.
- 343. Newcomb, D. C., W. Zhou, M. L. Moore, K. Goleniewska, G. K. Hershey, J. K. Kolls, and R. S. Peebles, Jr. 2009. A functional IL-13 receptor is expressed on polarized murine CD4+ Th17 cells and IL-13 signaling attenuates Th17 cytokine production. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 182: 5317-5321.
- 344. Saffar, A. S., H. Ashdown, and A. S. Gounni. 2011. The molecular mechanisms of glucocorticoids-mediated neutrophil survival. *Current drug targets* 12: 556-562.
- 345. Schleimer, R. P., and B. S. Bochner. 1994. The effects of glucocorticoids on human eosinophils. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 94: 1202-1213.
- 346. Lu, K. D., S. Radom-Aizik, F. Haddad, F. Zaldivar, M. Kraft, and D. M. Cooper. 2017. Glucocorticoid receptor expression on circulating leukocytes differs between healthy male and female adults. *Journal of clinical and translational science* 1: 108-114.
- 347. van Vollenhoven, R., L. M Morabito, E. G Engleman, and J. L McGuire. 1998. *Dehydroepiandrosterone: 50 patients treated up to 12 months.*
- 348. Osman, M. 2003. Therapeutic implications of sex differences in asthma and atopy. *Archives of disease in childhood* 88: 587-590.
- 349. Cutolo, M., E. Balleari, M. Giusti, E. Intra, and S. Accardo. 1991. Androgen replacement therapy in male patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism* 34: 1-5.
- 350. Bizzarro, A., G. Valentini, G. Di Martino, A. DaPonte, A. De Bellis, and G. Iacono. 1987. Influence of testosterone therapy on clinical and immunological features of autoimmune diseases associated with Klinefelter's syndrome. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 64: 32-36.